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Approximate date of proposed public offering: From time to time after the effective date of this Registration Statement.

If the only securities being registered on this Form are being offered pursuant to dividend or interest reinvestment plans, check the following box  ☐.

If any of the securities being registered on this form will be offered on a delayed or continuous basis in reliance on Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933, other
than securities offered in connection with a dividend reinvestment plan, check the following box.  ☒

If this Form is a registration statement pursuant to General Instruction A.2 or a post-effective amendment thereto, check the following box  ☒.

If this Form is a registration statement pursuant to General Instruction B or a post-effective amendment thereto that will become effective upon filing with the
Commission pursuant to Rule 462(e) under the Securities Act, check the following box  ☐.

If this Form is a post-effective amendment to a registration statement filed pursuant to General Instruction B to register additional securities or additional classes of
securities pursuant to Rule 413(b) under the Securities Act, check the following box  ☐.

It is proposed that this filing will become effective (check appropriate box)
 

 ☐ when declared effective pursuant to Section 8(c)

If appropriate, check the following box:
 

 ☐ This post-effective amendment designates a new effective date for a previously filed registration statement.
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 ☐ This form is filed to register additional securities for an offering pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act and the Securities Act registration statement
number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering is                 .

 ☐ This Form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(c) under the Securities Act, and the Securities Act registration statement number of the
earlier effective registration statement for the same offering is                 .

 ☐ This Form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(d) under the Securities Act, and the Securities Act registration statement number of the
earlier effective registration statement for the same offering is                 .

Check each box that appropriately characterizes the Registrant:
 

 ☐ Registered Closed-End Fund (closed-end company that is registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940 (“Investment Company Act”)).

 ☒ Business Development Company (closed-end company that intends or has elected to be regulated as a business development company under the Investment
Company Act).

 ☐ Interval Fund (Registered Closed-End Fund or a Business Development Company that makes periodic repurchase offers under Rule 23c-3 under the
Investment Company Act).

 ☒ A.2 Qualified (qualified to register securities pursuant to General Instruction A.2 of this Form).
 ☐ Well-Known Seasoned Issuer (as defined by Rule 405 under the Securities Act).
 ☐ Emerging Growth Company (as defined by Rule 12b-2 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”).

 ☐ If an Emerging Growth Company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or
revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 7(a)(2)(B) of Securities Act.

 ☐ New Registrant (registered or regulated under the Investment Company Act for less than 12 calendar months preceding this filing).
  

CALCULATION OF REGISTRATION FEE UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933
 
 

Title of
Securities Being Registered  

Proposed
Maximum
Aggregate

Offering Price(1)  
Amount of

Registration Fee(1)

Common Stock, $0.01 par value per share(3)(4)     
Preferred Stock, $0.01 par value per share(3)     
Subscription Rights(3)     
Warrants(5)     
Debt Securities(6)     
Total(7)  $500,000,000  $54,550(2)
 

 

(1) Estimated pursuant to Rule 457(o) under the Securities Act of 1933 solely for the purpose of determining the registration fee. The proposed maximum offering price
per security will be determined, from time to time, by the Registrant in connection with the sale by the Registrant of the securities registered under this Registration
Statement.

(2) Pursuant to Rule 415(a)(6) under the Securities Act, the Registrant is carrying forward to this Registration Statement $500,000,000 in aggregate offering price of
unsold securities that the Registrant previously registered on its registration statement on Form N-2 (File No. 333-230336) initially filed on April 19, 2019 (the ‘‘Prior
Registration Statement’’). Pursuant to Rule 415(a)(6) under the Securities Act, the filing fee previously paid with respect to such unsold securities will continue to be
applied to such unsold securities. The amount of the registration fee in the ‘‘Calculation of Registration Fee Under the Securities Act of 1933’’ table reflects that no
additional securities are being registered hereunder. As a result, no additional filing fee is being paid herewith. Pursuant to Rule 415(a)(6) under the Securities Act,
the offering of unsold securities under the Prior Registration Statement will be deemed terminated as of the date of effectiveness of this Registration Statement.

(3) Subject to Note 7 below, there is being registered hereunder an indeterminate number of shares of common stock or preferred stock, or subscription rights to purchase
shares of common stock as may be sold, from time to time.

(4) Includes such indeterminate number of shares of common stock as may, from time to time, be issued upon conversion or exchange of other securities registered
hereunder, to the extent any such securities are, by their terms, convertible or exchangeable for common stock.

(5) Subject to Note 7 below, there is being registered hereunder an indeterminate number of warrants as may be sold, from time to time, representing rights to purchase
common stock, preferred stock or debt securities of the Registrant.

(6) Subject to Note 7 below, there is being registered hereunder an indeterminate number of debt securities as may be sold, from time to time. If any debt securities are
issued at an original issue discount, then the offering price shall be in such greater principal amount as shall result in an aggregate price to investors not to exceed
$500,000,000.

(7) In no event will the aggregate offering price of all securities issued from time to time pursuant to this registration statement exceed $500,000,000.
  

The Registrant hereby amends this Registration Statement on such date or dates as may be necessary to delay its effective date until the Registrant shall file
a further amendment which specifically states that this Registration Statement shall thereafter become effective in accordance with Section 8(a) of the Securities
Act of 1933 or until the Registration Statement shall become effective on such date as the Securities and Exchange Commission, acting pursuant to said
Section 8(a), may determine.
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The information in this prospectus is not complete and may be changed. We may not sell these securities until the registration statement filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission is effective. This prospectus is not an offer to sell these securities and is not soliciting an offer to buy
these securities in any jurisdiction where the offer or sale is not permitted.
 

SUBJECT TO COMPLETION, DATED DECEMBER 20, 2021

PRELIMINARY PROSPECTUS

Logan Ridge Finance Corporation
$500,000,000
Common Stock
Preferred Stock

Subscription Rights
Warrants

Debt Securities
  

We are an externally managed non-diversified closed-end management investment company that has elected to be regulated as a business development company (“BDC”) under the
Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (“1940 Act”). Our investment objective is to generate both current income and capital appreciation through debt and equity investments.

We are externally managed by our investment adviser, Mount Logan Management, LLC, an investment adviser that is registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”)
under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended. BC Partners Management LLC provides certain administrative services necessary for us to operate.

Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol “LRFC”. On December 10, 2021, the last reported sales price on the NASDAQ Global Select
Market for our common stock was $23.52 per share. Our 6.0% notes due 2022 are traded on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol “CPTAL”. On December 10, 2021, the last
reported sales price on the NASDAQ Global Select Market for our 6.0% notes due 2022 was $25.26. Our 5.75% convertible notes due 2022 are traded on the NASDAQ Capital Market under the
symbol “CPTAG”. On December 10, 2021, the last reported sales price on the NASDAQ Global Select Market for our 5.75% convertible notes due 2022 was $25.56.
  

An investment in our common stock is subject to risks and involves a heightened risk of total loss of investment. In addition, the companies in which we
invest are subject to special risks. For example, we invest in securities that are rated below investment grade by rating agencies or that would be rated below
investment grade if they were rated. Below investment grade securities, which are often referred to as “high yield” or “junk,” have predominantly speculative
characteristics with respect to the issuer’s capacity to pay interest and repay principal. See “Risk Factors” beginning on page 21 of this prospectus, and in, or
incorporated by reference into, the applicable prospectus supplement and in any free writing prospectuses we may authorize for use in connection with a specific
offering, and under similar headings in the other documents that are incorporated by reference into this prospectus, to read about factors you should consider,
including the risk of leverage (see “Risk Factors—Risks Relating to Our Business and Structure”), before investing in our securities.

We may offer, from time to time, in one or more offerings or series, our common stock, preferred stock, debt securities, subscription rights to purchase shares of our securities
or a combination of our securities, and warrants representing rights to purchase shares of our securities or a combination of the foregoing, which we refer to, collectively, as the
“securities.” The preferred stock, debt securities, subscription rights and warrants offered hereby may be convertible or exchangeable into shares of our common stock. The securities
may be offered at prices and on terms to be described in one or more supplements to this prospectus. In the event we offer common stock, the offering price per share of our common
stock less any underwriting commissions or discounts will generally not be less than the net asset value per share of our common stock at the time we make the offering. However, we
may issue shares of our common stock pursuant to this prospectus at a price per share that is less than our net asset value per share (a) in connection with a rights offering to our
existing stockholders, (b) with the prior approval of a majority (as defined in the 1940 Act) of (1) the outstanding shares of our common stock and (2) the outstanding shares of the our
common stock held by persons that are not affiliated persons of the Company or (c) under such circumstances as the SEC may permit.

This prospectus describes some of the general terms that may apply to an offering of our securities. We will provide the specific terms of these offerings and securities in one or more
supplements to this prospectus. We may also authorize one or more free writing prospectuses to be provided to you in connection with these offerings. The prospectus supplement and any related
free writing prospectus may also add, update, or change information contained in this prospectus. You should carefully read this prospectus, the applicable prospectus supplement, and any related
free writing prospectus, and the documents incorporated by reference, before buying any of the securities being offered. We file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other
information about us with the SEC. This information is available free of charge by contacting us by mail at 650 Madison Avenue, 23rd Floor, New York, New York 10022, by telephone at (212)
891-2880 or on our website at http://www.loganridgefinance.com. The SEC also maintains a website at http://www.sec.gov that contains such information. Information contained on our website
or on the SEC’s website about us is not incorporated into this prospectus or any supplement hereto and you should not consider information contained on our website or on the SEC’s website to
be part of this prospectus or any supplement hereto.

Neither the SEC nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these securities or determined if this prospectus is truthful or complete. Any
representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

This prospectus may not be used to consummate sales of our securities unless accompanied by a prospectus supplement.

The date of this prospectus is                    , 2021.
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You should rely only on the information contained in this prospectus, any prospectus supplement or in any free writing prospectus prepared by or on
behalf of us or to which we have referred you. We have not authorized any dealer, salesman or other person to give any information or to make any
representation other than those contained in this prospectus, any prospectus supplement or in any free writing prospectus prepared by or on behalf of us or
to which we have referred you. You must not rely upon any information or representation not contained in this prospectus, any such prospectus
supplements or any free writing prospectuses as if we had authorized it. This prospectus, any such prospectus supplements or any free writing prospectuses
do not constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of any offer to buy any security other than the registered securities to which they relate, nor do they
constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer to buy any securities in any jurisdiction to any person to whom it is unlawful to make such an offer or
solicitation in such jurisdiction. The information contained in, or incorporated by reference in, this prospectus, any such prospectus supplements or any free
writing prospectuses is accurate as of the dates on their covers. Our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects may have changed
since then.
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INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE

This prospectus is part of a registration statement that we have filed with the SEC. The information incorporated by reference is considered to
comprise a part of this prospectus from the date we file any such document. Any reports filed by us with the SEC subsequent to the date of this prospectus
and before the date that any offering of any securities by means of this prospectus and any accompanying prospectus supplement is terminated will
automatically update and, where applicable, supersede any information contained in this prospectus or incorporated by reference in this prospectus.

We incorporate by reference into this prospectus our filings listed below, all filings filed with the SEC pursuant to the Exchange Act after the date of
the initial registration statement and prior to effectiveness of the registration statement, and any future filings that we may file with the SEC under Sections
13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, subsequent to the date of this prospectus until all of the securities offered by this prospectus and any
accompanying prospectus supplement have been sold or we otherwise terminate the offering of those securities; provided, however, that information
“furnished” under Item 2.02 or Item 7.01 of Form 8-K or other information “furnished” to the SEC which is not deemed filed is not incorporated by
reference in this prospectus and any accompanying prospectus supplement. Information that we file with the SEC subsequent to the date of this prospectus
will automatically update and may supersede information in this prospectus, any accompanying prospectus supplement and other information previously
filed with the SEC.

The prospectus incorporates by reference the documents set forth below that have been previously filed with the SEC:
 

 •  our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020 filed with the SEC on March 8, 2021;
 

 
•  our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2021 filed with the SEC on May 3, 2021, and for the quarterly

period ended June 30, 2021 filed with the SEC on August 16, 2021 and for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2021 filed with the SEC
on November 10, 2021;

 

 •  the Financial Highlights included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017, filed with the SEC on
February 27, 2018;

 

 •  our Current Reports on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 8, 2021, April 21, 2021, May  3, 2021, May 28, 2021, July  1, 2021 and
August 20, 2021 (other than any information furnished rather than filed);

 

 •  our definitive Proxy Statements on Schedule 14A filed with the SEC on May 4, 2021 and July 23, 2021 (to the extent explicitly incorporated
by reference into our Annual Report Form 10-K); and

 

 
•  the description of our common stock referenced in our Registration Statement on Form 8-A (No. 001-36090), as filed with the SEC on

September 24, 2013, including any amendment or report filed for the purpose of updating such description prior to the termination of the
offering of the common stock registered hereby.

To obtain copies of these filings, see “Available Information.” We will also provide without charge to each person, including any beneficial owner, to
whom this prospectus is delivered, upon written or oral request, a copy of any and all of the documents that have been or may be incorporated by reference
in this prospectus. You should direct requests for documents by writing to:

Logan Ridge Finance Corporation
650 Madison Avenue, 23rd Floor

New York, New York 10022
Phone number: (212) 891-2880
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http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1571329/000110465921033302/tm211181-1_10k.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1571329/000110465921060251/tm2111800d1_10q.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1571329/000110465921105601/tm2124110d1_10q.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1571329/000095017021004069/logan_ridge-10q-2021930.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1571329/000114420418011212/v486429_10k.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1571329/000110465921033314/tm218791d1_8k.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1571329/000110465921052836/tm2113446d1_8k.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1571329/000110465921060254/tm2114831d1_8k.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1571329/000110465921073676/tm2117886d1_8k.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1571329/000119312521206384/d145666d8k.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1571329/000119312521252738/d178420d8k.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1571329/000110465921060993/tm2113142-2_def14aseq1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1571329/000119312521222772/d165624ddef14a.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1571329/000119312513376461/d602442d8a12b.htm
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ABOUT THIS PROSPECTUS

This prospectus describes some of the general terms that may apply to an offering of our securities. We will provide the specific terms of these
offerings and securities in one or more supplements to this prospectus. We may also authorize one or more free writing prospectuses to be provided to you
in connection with these offerings. The prospectus supplement and any related free writing prospectus may also add, update, or change information
contained in this prospectus. You should carefully read this prospectus, the applicable prospectus supplement, and any related free writing prospectus, and
the documents incorporated by reference, before buying any of the securities being offered. We file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements
and other information about us with the SEC. This information is available free of charge by contacting us by mail at 650 Madison Avenue, 23rd Floor,
New York, New York 10022, by telephone at (212) 891-2880 or on our website at http://www.loganridgefinance.com. The SEC also maintains a website at
http://www.sec.gov that contains such information. Information contained on our website or on the SEC’s website about us is not incorporated into this
prospectus or any supplement hereto and you should not consider information contained on our website or on the SEC’s website to be part of this
prospectus or any supplement hereto.

We may also authorize one or more free writing prospectuses to be provided to you that may contain material information relating to these offerings.
In a prospectus supplement or free writing prospectus, we may also add, update, or change any of the information contained in this prospectus or in the
documents we incorporate by reference into this prospectus. This prospectus, together with the applicable prospectus supplement, any related free writing
prospectus, and the documents incorporated by reference into this prospectus and the applicable prospectus supplement, will include all material
information relating to the applicable offering. Before buying any of the securities being offered, you should carefully read both this prospectus and the
applicable prospectus supplement and any related free writing prospectus, together with any exhibits and the additional information described in the
sections titled “Available Information,” “Incorporation By Reference,” “Prospectus Summary” and “Risk Factors.”

This prospectus includes summaries of certain provisions contained in some of the documents described in this prospectus, but reference is made to
the actual documents for complete information. All of the summaries are qualified in their entirety by the actual documents. Copies of some of the
documents referred to herein have been filed, will be filed, or will be incorporated by reference as exhibits to the registration statement of which this
prospectus is a part, and you may obtain copies of those documents as described in the section titled “Available Information.”
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PROSPECTUS SUMMARY

The following summary highlights some of the information contained elsewhere in this prospectus. It may not contain all the information that is
important to you. For a more complete understanding of offerings pursuant to this prospectus, we encourage you to read this entire prospectus and the
documents to which we have referred in this prospectus, together with any accompanying prospectus supplements or free writing prospectuses,
including the risks set forth under the caption “Risk Factors” in this prospectus, the applicable prospectus supplement and any related free writing
prospectus, and under similar headings in any other documents that are incorporated by reference into this prospectus, and the information set forth
under the caption “Available Information” in this prospectus.

We were previously known as Capitala Finance Corp. On April 21, 2021, we announced that our Board of Directors (the “Board”) had selected
Mount Logan Management LLC (“Mount Logan”), a subsidiary of Mount Logan Capital Inc. (“MLC”) and an affiliate of BC Partners Advisors L.P.
for U.S. regulatory purposes, to serve as our new investment adviser, and announced that Capitala Investment Advisors, LLC, our prior investment
adviser (“Capitala”), entered into a definitive agreement with Mount Logan and MLC, whereby Mount Logan would acquire, subject to the
satisfaction of certain closing conditions, certain assets related to Capitala’s business of providing investment management services to us (collectively,
the “Transaction”). As described in our definitive proxy statement filed with the SEC on May 4, 2021 (the “Definitive Proxy Statement”),
consummation of the Transaction would result in the termination of our then current investment advisory agreement, dated September 24, 2013,
between us and Capitala. The closing of the Transaction (the “Closing”) was conditioned upon, among other things, our stockholders approving a new
advisory agreement between Mount Logan and us (the “New Advisory Agreement” or the “Investment Advisory Agreement”). The New Advisory
Agreement was approved by our stockholders on May 27, 2021, and the Transaction closed on July 1, 2021. On July 1, 2021, in connection with the
Closing, we entered into the New Advisory Agreement and changed our name to “Logan Ridge Finance Corporation” and our ticker symbol from
“CPTA” to “LRFC.”

Except where the context suggests otherwise:
 

 •  “we,” “us,” “our,” “Logan Ridge” and the “Company” refer to Logan Ridge Finance Corporation and its subsidiaries,
 

 •  “Mount Logan,” the “Investment Adviser,” or “investment adviser” refer to Mount Logan Management LLC, and
 

 •  the “Administrator” or the “administrator” refers to BC Partners Management LLC.

In this prospectus, we use the term “lower and traditional middle-market” to refer to companies generating between $10 million and
$200 million in annual revenue and] having at least $5 million to $50 million in annual earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization
(“EBITDA”).

Logan Ridge Finance Corporation

We are an externally managed non-diversified closed-end management investment company incorporated in Maryland that has elected to be
regulated as a BDC under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the “1940 Act”). We commenced operations on May 24, 2013 as
Capitala Finance Corp. and completed our initial public offering on September 30, 2013. We are currently managed by Mount Logan, an investment
adviser that is registered as an investment adviser under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended (the “Advisers Act”), and BC Partners
Management LLC provides the administrative services necessary for us to operate. For U.S. federal income tax purposes, we have elected to be
treated, and intend to comply with the requirements to continue to qualify annually, as a regulated investment company (“RIC”) under subchapter M
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”).
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Our investment objective is to generate both current income and capital appreciation through debt and equity investments. We invest in first lien
loans, second lien loans and subordinated loans, and, to a lesser extent, equity securities issued by lower middle-market companies and traditional
middle-market companies.

Our Principal Investment Strategy

Our investment objective is to generate both current income and capital appreciation through debt and equity investments. We expect the
companies in which we invest will generally have between $5 million and $50 million in trailing twelve month EBITDA. We believe our focus on
direct lending to private companies enables us to perform more extensive due diligence, receive higher interest rates and stronger covenants. As part
of that strategy, we may invest in first-lien loans, which have a first priority security interest in all or some of the borrower’s assets. In addition, our
first lien loans may include positions in “stretch” senior secured loans, also referred to as “unitranche” loans, which combine characteristics of
traditional first-lien senior secured loans and second lien loans, providing us with greater influence and security in the primary collateral of a borrower
and potentially mitigating loss of principal should a borrower default. We also may invest in second lien loans, which have a second priority security
interest in all or substantially all of the borrower’s assets. In addition to first and second lien loans, we invest in subordinated loans, which may
include mezzanine and other types of junior debt investments. Like second lien loans, our subordinated loans typically have a second lien on all or
substantially all of the borrower’s assets; however, the principal difference between subordinated loans and second lien loans is that in a subordinated
loan, we may be subject to the interruption of cash interest payments, at the discretion of the first lien lender, upon certain events of default. In
addition to debt securities, we may acquire equity or detachable equity-related interests (including warrants) from a borrower. Typically, the debt in
which we invest is not initially rated by any rating agency; however, we believe that if such investments were rated, they would be rated below
investment grade. Below investment grade securities, which are often referred to as ‘‘high yield’’ or “junk,” have predominantly speculative
characteristics with respect to the issuer’s capacity to pay interest and repay principal. We intend to target investments that mature in four to six years
from our investment.

We typically will not limit the size of our loan commitments to a specific percentage of a borrower’s assets that serve as collateral for our loan,
although we attempt to protect against risk of loss on our debt investments by structuring, underwriting and pricing loans based on anticipated cash
flows of our borrowers. Further, we believe that we benefit from our investment adviser’s long-standing relationships with many private equity fund
sponsors, whose participation in portfolio companies, we believe, makes repayment from refinancing, asset sales and/or sales of the borrowers
themselves more likely than a strategy whereby we consider investments only in founder-owned or non-sponsored borrowers.

Mount Logan Management LLC

Mount Logan was formed in 2020 and is registered as an investment adviser under the Advisers Act. Mount Logan is controlled by MLC, a
publicly listed Canada-based alternative asset management company. Mount Logan is an affiliate of BC Partners for U.S. regulatory purposes and BC
Partners provides Mount Logan with personnel pursuant to a resource sharing agreement, which allows Mount Logan to utilize the resources of BC
Partners’ broader credit team.

MLC is managed by the founders of BC Partners Credit bringing to bear the investment expertise and deep resources of the broader BC Partners
platform, all of which the Company — as an entity within the BC Partners ecosystem —  benefits from. Mount Logan provides investment
management services to privately offered investment funds and acts as the collateral manager to issuers of collateralized loan obligations (“CLOs”)
backed by debt obligations and similar assets.
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Mount Logan’s investment committee, or the Mount Logan Investment Committee, includes Ted Goldthorpe, Matthias Ederer, Henry Wang and
Raymond Svider, each experienced members of Mount Logan’s investment personnel.

With approximately $40 billion in assets under management and offices in London, Paris, Hamburg, and New York, the BC Partners
organization is comprised of a private equity platform, a credit platform, and a real estate platform. All three platforms operate as integrated
businesses within the overall BC Partners organization. Founded in 1986, BC Partners grew and evolved with the development of the European
private equity market, consistently maintaining its position as one of the leading buyout firms in the region. It subsequently expanded investment
operations to North America to support larger transactions operating more globally and established a successful investment platform for buyouts of
businesses based in the United States and around the world. BC Partners expanded its strategic offering by establishing a credit platform in 2017 and a
real estate platform in 2018. BC Partners has a 35-year investing track record across a variety of geographies and sectors. Throughout its investment
history, BC Partners has built strong and longstanding relationships with global institutional investors.

Our Portfolio

As of June 30, 2021, the investments in our portfolio were comprised of approximately $155 million in debt investments and $73 million in
equity investments and warrants across 32 portfolio companies. The debt investments in our portfolio had a weighted average annualized yield of
approximately 9.9% as of June 30, 2021, which includes a cash component and, in some cases, a payment-in-kind (“PIK”) interest component. PIK
interest represents contractually deferred interest added to the investment balance that is generally due at the end of the investment term and recorded
as income on an accrual basis to the extent such amounts are expected to be collected.

Our debt investments have structural protections, including default penalties, information rights, affirmative, negative and financial covenants,
such as lien protection and prohibitions against change of control and, as needed, intercreditor agreements to protect second lien positions.

Debt Investments

The Investment Adviser’s investment team tailors the terms of each debt investment to the facts and circumstances of the transaction, the needs
of the prospective portfolio company and, as applicable, its financial sponsor, negotiating a structure that seeks to protect our rights and manage our
risk while creating incentives for the portfolio company to achieve its business plan. We expect our primary source of return to be the cash interest we
will collect on our debt investments. We also typically seek board observation rights with each portfolio company and we offer (and have historically
provided) managerial and strategic assistance to these companies. We seek to further protect invested principal by negotiating appropriate affirmative,
negative and financial covenants in our debt documents that are conservative enough to represent a prudent cushion at closing or to budgeted
projections, but that are flexible enough to afford our portfolio companies and their financial sponsors sufficient latitude to allow them to grow their
businesses. Typical covenants include default triggers and remedies (including penalties), lien protection, leverage and fixed charge coverage ratios,
change of control provisions and put rights. Most of our debt investments feature call protection to enhance our total return on debt investments that
are repaid prior to maturity.

Most of our debt investments are structured as first lien loans, and as of June 30, 2021, 75% of the fair value of our debt investments consisted
of such investments. First lien loans may contain some minimum amount of principal amortization, excess cash flow sweep feature, prepayment
penalties, or any combination of the foregoing. First lien loans are secured by a first priority lien in existing and future assets of the borrower and may
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take the form of term loans, delayed draw facilities, or revolving credit facilities. In some cases, first lien loans may be subordinated, solely with
respect to the payment of cash interest, to an asset based revolving credit facility. Unitranche debt, a form of first lien loan, typically involves issuing
one debt security that blends the risk and return profiles of both senior secured and subordinated debt in one debt security, bifurcating the loan into a
first-out tranche and last-out tranche. As of June 30, 2021, 16.3% of the fair value of our first lien loans consisted of last-out loans. We believe that
unitranche debt can be attractive for many lower middle-market and traditional middle-market businesses, given the reduced structural complexity,
single lender interface and elimination of intercreditor or potential agency conflicts among lenders.

We may also invest in debt instruments structured as second lien loans. Second lien loans are loans which have a second priority security
interest in all or substantially all of the borrower’s assets, and in some cases, may be subject to the interruption of cash interest payments upon certain
events of default, at the discretion of the first lien lender. On a fair market value basis, 25% of our debt investments consisted of second lien loans as
of June 30, 2021.

Some of our debt investments have PIK interest, which is a form of interest that is not paid currently in cash, but is accrued and added to the
loan balance until paid at the end of the term. While we generally seek to minimize the percentage of our fixed return that is in the form of PIK
interest, we sometimes receive PIK interest due to prevailing market conditions that do not support the overall blended interest yield on our debt
investments being paid in all-cash interest. As of June 30, 2021, the weighted average annualized yield on our debt portfolio was 9.9%. In addition to
yield in the form of current cash and PIK interest, some of our debt investments include an equity component, such as a warrant to purchase a
common equity interest in the borrower for a nominal price.

The weighted annualized yield is calculated based on the effective interest rate as of period end, divided by the fair value of our debt
investments. The weighted average annualized yield of our debt investments is not the same as a return on investment for our stockholders but, rather,
relates to a portion of our investment portfolio and is calculated before the payment of all of our fees and expenses. There can be no assurance that the
weighted average yield will remain at its current level.

Equity Investments

As of June 30, 2021, 32% of our total portfolio consisted of equity investments. When we make a debt investment, we may be granted equity
participation in the form of detachable warrants to purchase common equity in the company in the same class of security that the owners or equity
sponsors receive upon funding. In addition, we may make non-control equity co-investments in conjunction with a loan transaction with a borrower.
The Investment Adviser’s investment team generally seeks to structure our equity investments, such as direct equity co-investments, to provide us
with minority rights provisions and, to the extent available, event-driven put rights. They also seek to obtain limited registration rights in connection
with these investments, which may include “piggyback” registration rights. In addition to warrants and equity co-investments, our debt investments in
the future may contain a synthetic equity position.

Process

We believe that the current credit environment provides significant opportunities to achieve attractive risk- adjusted returns on the types of cash
flow-based loans to lower and traditional middle-market companies that we intend to make. We review potential investment opportunities and conduct
due diligence that typically includes a review of historical and prospective financial information, participation in a presentation held by the
prospective portfolio company’s management and/or the transaction sponsor, a review of the prospective portfolio company’s product or service, an
analysis and understanding of the drivers of the particular industry in which the
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prospective portfolio company operates, and an assessment of the debt service capabilities of the prospective portfolio company under a variety of
assumed forecast scenarios.

Due to our ability to source transactions through multiple channels, we expect to continue to maintain a pipeline of opportunities to allow
comparative risk return analysis and selectivity. By focusing on the drivers of revenue and cash flow, we develop our own underwriting cases, and
multiple stress and event specific case scenarios for each company analyzed.

We focus on lending and investing opportunities in:
 

 •  companies with EBITDA of $5 to $50 million;
 

 •  companies with a history in generating consistent cash flows and stable financial performance
 

 •  companies identifiable and defensible market positions in industries with favorable dynamics; and
 

 •  companies with management teams with demonstrated track records and aligned incentives.

We source investment opportunities from:
 

 •  private equity sponsors;
 

 •  regional investment banks for non-sponsored companies;
 

 •  financial advisers and other market intermediaries; and
 

 •  other middle market lenders with whom we can participate in loans.

In our experience, good credit judgment is based on a thorough understanding of both the qualitative and quantitative factors that determine a
company’s performance. Our analysis begins with an understanding of the fundamentals of the industry in which a company operates, including the
current economic environment and the outlook for the industry. We also focus on the company’s relative position within the industry and our historical
ability to weather economic cycles. Other key qualitative factors include the experience and depth of the management team and the financial sponsor,
if any.

Only after we have a comprehensive understanding of the qualitative factors do we focus on quantitative metrics. We believe that with the
context provided by the qualitative analysis, we can gain a better understanding of a company’s financial performance. We analyze a potential
portfolio company’s sales growth and margins in the context of our competition as well as our ability to manage our working capital requirements and
our ability to generate consistent cash flow. Based upon this historical analysis, we develop a set of projections which represents a reasonable
underwriting case of most likely outcomes for the company over the period of our investment. We also look at potential downside cases to determine a
company’s ability to service its debt in a stressed credit environment.

Elements of the qualitative analysis we use in evaluating investment opportunities include some combination of the following:
 

 •  industry fundamentals;
 

 •  competitive position and market share;
 

 •  impact of historical down-cycles on the industry and us;
 

 •  quality of financial and technology infrastructure;
 

 •  sourcing risks and opportunities;
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 •  labor and union strategy;
 

 •  technology risk;
 

 •  diversity of customer base and product lines;
 

 •  quality of financial sponsor (if applicable); and
 

 •  acquisition and integration history.

Elements of the quantitative analysis we use in evaluating investment opportunities include some combination of the following:
 

 •  income statement analysis of growth and margin trends;
 

 •  cash flow analysis of capital expenditures and free cash flow;
 

 •  financial ratio and market share standing among comparable companies;
 

 •  financial projections: underwriting versus stress case;
 

 •  event specific credit modeling;
 

 •  credit profile trend;
 

 •  future capital expenditure needs and asset sale plans;
 

 •  downside protection to limit losses in an event of default;
 

 •  risk adjusted returns and relative value analysis; and
 

 •  enterprise and asset valuations.

The origination, structuring and credit approval processes are fully integrated. Our credit team is directly involved in all due diligence and
analysis prior to the formal credit approval process by the Mount Logan Investment Committee.

Monitoring

Our Board, including a majority of its independent directors, oversees and monitors our investment performance and, beginning with the second
anniversary of the effective date of our Advisory Agreement, will annually review the compensation we pay to the Investment Adviser.

Our Investment Adviser has significant experience monitoring credit portfolios. Along with origination and credit analysis, portfolio
management is one of the key elements of our business. Most of our investments will not be liquid and, therefore, we must prepare to act quickly if
potential issues arise so that we can work closely with the Investment Adviser and the private equity sponsor, if applicable, of the portfolio company
to take any necessary remedial action. In addition, most of the Investment Adviser’s senior management team, has substantial workout and
restructuring experience.

In order to assist us in detecting issues with our Debt Securities Portfolio companies as early as possible, we perform a financial analysis at least
quarterly on each portfolio company. This analysis typically includes:
 

 •  A summary of the portfolio company’s current total credit exposure as well as our portion of this exposure.
 

 
•  A summary and update of the portfolio company’s financial condition and performance, including but not limited to, performance versus

plan, deterioration/improvement in market position, or industry fundamentals, management changes or additions, and ongoing business
strategy.
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 •  Reaffirmation of, or proposal to change, the risk rating of the underlying investment.
 

 •  A summary of the portfolio company’s financial covenant results vis a vis financial covenant levels established in the credit agreement.

Watch list credits are followed closely and discussed more frequently than quarterly, as appropriate.

Summary Risk Factors

Investing in our securities may be speculative and involves certain risks relating to our structure and our investment objective that you should
consider before deciding whether to invest. See “Risks” on page 21 of this prospectus, “Risk Factors” in Part I, Item 1A of our Annual Report
on Form 10-K filed on March 8, 2021, and “Risk Factors” in Part II, Item 1A of our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 16, 2021
for a more detailed discussion of these and other material risks you should carefully consider before deciding to invest in our securities.

Principal Risk Factors

Risks Relating to the COVID-19 pandemic
 

 •  Global economic, political and market conditions caused by the current public health crisis have (and in the future, could further)
adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition and those of our portfolio companies.

Risks Relating to our Business and Structure
 

 •  We may not replicate the historical results achieved.
 

 •  Global capital markets could enter a period of severe disruption and instability. These conditions have historically affected and could
again materially and adversely affect debt and equity capital markets in the United States and around the world and our business.

 

 •  Global economic, political and market conditions, including uncertainty about the financial stability of the United States, could have a
significant adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

 

 •  Adverse developments in the credit markets may impair our ability to enter into new debt financing arrangements.
 

 
•  The Investment Adviser, the investment committee of the Investment Adviser, Mount Logan and their affiliates, officers, directors and

employees may face certain conflicts of interest. Conflicts of interest may be created by the valuation process for certain portfolio
holdings. Conflicts may arise related to other arrangements with Mount Logan and other affiliates.

 

 •  Our management and incentive fee structure may create incentives for the Investment Adviser that are not fully aligned with our
stockholders’ interests and may induce the Investment Adviser to make speculative investments.

 

 
•  Our Investment Advisory Agreement was negotiated with the Investment Adviser and the Administration Agreement was negotiated

with the Administrator, which are both our related parties. The Investment Adviser has limited liability and is entitled to indemnification
under the Investment Advisory Agreement.

 

 •  We operate in an increasingly competitive market for investment opportunities, which could make it difficult for us to identify and make
investments that are consistent with our investment objectives. Our ability to enter into transactions with our affiliates is restricted.
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•  We may have difficulty paying our required distributions if we recognize income before, or without, receiving cash representing such
income. We will be subject to corporate level income tax if we are unable to qualify as a RIC. Our business may be adversely affected if
we fail to maintain our qualification as a RIC. Stockholders may be required to pay tax in excess of the cash they receive. We may be
subject to withholding of U.S. Federal income tax on distributions for non-U.S. stockholders. We may retain income and capital gains in
excess of what is permissible for excise tax purposes and such amounts will be subject to 4% U.S. federal excise tax, reducing the
amount available for distribution to stockholders

 

 •  We may need to raise additional capital. Regulations governing our operation as a BDC affect our ability to, and the way in which we
may, raise additional capital. Certain investors are limited in their ability to make significant investments in us.

 

 •  Our business could be adversely affected in the event we default under our existing credit facilities or any future credit or other
borrowing facility.

 

 
•  Our strategy involves a high degree of leverage. We intend to continue to finance our investments with borrowed money, which will

magnify the potential for gain or loss on amounts invested and increases the risk of investing in us. The risks of investment in a highly
leveraged fund include volatility and possible distribution restrictions.

 

 
•  We are subject to risks associated with the current interest rate environment, and to the extent we use debt to finance our investments,

changes in interest rates may affect our cost of capital and net investment income. Further, the discontinuation of LIBOR may adversely
affect the value of LIBOR-indexed securities, loans, and other financial obligations or extensions of credit in our portfolio.

 

 •  We are and may be subject to restrictions under our credit facilities and any future credit or other borrowing facility that could adversely
impact our business.

 

 •  We may be the target of litigation.
 

 •  There is a risk that investors in our common stock may not receive dividends or that our dividends may not grow over time and that
investors in our debt securities may not receive all of the interest income to which they are entitled.

 

 •  If we do not invest a sufficient portion of our assets in qualifying assets, we could fail to qualify as a BDC or be precluded from
investing according to our current business strategy.

 

 •  The majority of our portfolio investments are recorded at fair value as determined in good faith by our Board and, as a result, there may
be uncertainty as to the value of our portfolio investments.

 

 •  We may experience fluctuations in our quarterly operating results.
 

 •  New or modified laws or regulations governing our operations may adversely affect our business.
 

 •  The United Kingdom’s withdrawal from the European Union has led to significant risks and uncertainty for global markets and may
create significant risks and uncertainty for our investments.

 

 •  We are highly dependent on information systems, and systems failures or cyber-attacks could significantly disrupt its business, which
may, in turn, negatively affect the value of shares of our common stock and our ability to pay distributions.

 

 •  Cybersecurity risks and cyber incidents may adversely affect our business by causing a disruption to our operations, a compromise or
corruption of its confidential information and/or damage to its business relationships.
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 •  We and the Investment Adviser are subject to regulations and SEC oversight. If we or the Investment Adviser fail to comply with
applicable requirements, it may adversely impact our results relative to companies that are not subject to such regulations.

 

 •  We are subject to risks related to corporate social responsibility

Risks Relating to our Investments
 

 •  The due diligence process that the Investment Adviser undertakes in connection with our investments may not reveal all the facts that
may be relevant in connection with an investment.

 

 
•  The lack of liquidity in our investments may adversely affect our business. We may invest in high yield debt, or junk-rated debt, which

has greater credit and liquidity risk than more highly rated debt obligations. Our subordinated investments may be subject to greater risk
than investments that are not similarly subordinated.

 

 •  Price declines and illiquidity in the corporate debt markets may adversely affect the fair value of our portfolio investments, reducing net
asset value through increased net unrealized depreciation.

 

 •  Our failure to make follow-on investments in our portfolio companies could impair the value of our portfolio.
 

 •  The disposition of our investments may result in contingent liabilities.
 

 •  We will be subject to the risk that the debt investments we make in our portfolio companies may be repaid prior to maturity.
 

 •  We may be subject to risks under hedging transactions and may become subject to risk if we invest in non-U.S. securities.
 

 •  We may not realize anticipated gains on the equity interests in which we invest.
 

 •  Our investments with OID and PIK interest income features may expose us to risks associated with such income being required to be
included in accounting income and taxable income prior to receipt of cash.

 

 •  You may receive shares of our common stock as dividends, which could result in adverse tax consequences to you.
 

 

•  Our investments in the consumer products and services sector are subject to various risks including cyclical risks associated with the
overall economy. Our investments in the financial services sector are subject to various risks including volatility and extensive
government regulation. Our investments in technology companies are subject to many risks, including volatility, intense competition,
shortened product life cycles, litigation risk and periodic downturn.

Operating and Regulatory Structure

Logan Ridge is a Maryland corporation that is an externally managed, non-diversified closed-end management investment company that has
elected to be regulated as a BDC under the 1940 Act. As a BDC, we are required to meet regulatory tests, including the requirement to invest at least
70% of our gross assets in “qualifying assets.” Qualifying assets generally include securities of private or thinly traded public U.S. companies and
cash, cash equivalents, U.S. government securities and high-quality debt investments that mature in one year or less. See “Regulation as a Business
Development Company.” In addition, we have elected to be treated for U.S. federal income tax purposes, and intend to qualify annually thereafter, as a
RIC under Subchapter M of the Code. See “Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations.”
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Our investment activities are managed by Mount Logan and supervised by our Board of Directors. Mount Logan is an investment adviser that is
registered under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended, or the Advisers Act. Under our investment advisory agreement, which we refer to
as the Investment Advisory Agreement, we have agreed to pay Mount Logan an annual base management fee based on our gross assets as well as an
incentive fee based on our performance. See “Investment Advisory Agreement.” We have also entered into an administration agreement, which we
refer to as the Administration Agreement, under which we have agreed to reimburse our administrator for our allocable portion of overhead and other
expenses incurred by our administrator in performing its obligations under the Administration Agreement, including furnishing us with office
facilities, equipment and clerical, bookkeeping and record keeping services at such facilities, as well as providing us with other administrative
services. See “Administration Agreement.”

Our Corporate Information

Our executive offices are located at 650 Madison Avenue, 23rd Floor, New York New York 10022, and our telephone number is (212) 891-2880
and our website may be found at http://www.loganridgefinance.com. Information contained on our website or on the SEC’s website about us is not
incorporated into this prospectus and you should not consider information contained on our website or on the SEC’s website to be part of this
prospectus.
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THE OFFERING

We may offer, from time to time, in one or more offerings or series, our common stock, preferred stock, debt securities, subscription rights to
purchase our securities or a combination of our securities, and warrants representing rights to purchase shares of our securities or a combination of the
foregoing, which we refer to, collectively, as the “securities.” We will offer our securities at prices and on terms to be set forth in one or more
supplements to this prospectus. In the event we offer common stock, the offering price per share of our common stock less any underwriting
commissions or discounts will generally not be less than the net asset value per share of our common stock at the time we make the offering.
However, we may issue shares of our common stock pursuant to this prospectus at a price per share that is less than our net asset value per share (a) in
connection with a rights offering to our existing stockholders, (b) with the prior approval of a majority (as defined in the 1940 Act) of (1) the
outstanding shares of our common stock and (2) the outstanding shares of the our common stock held by persons that are not affiliated persons of the
Company or (c) under such circumstances as the SEC may permit.

Our securities may be offered directly to one or more purchasers, including existing stockholders in a rights offering, through agents designated
from time to time by us, or to or through underwriters or dealers. The prospectus supplement relating to an offering will identify any agents or
underwriters involved in the sale of our securities, and will disclose any applicable purchase price, fee, commission or discount arrangement between
us and our agents or underwriters or among our underwriters or the basis upon which such amount may be calculated. See “Plan of Distribution”. We
may not sell any of our securities through agents, underwriters or dealers without delivery of this prospectus and a prospectus supplement describing
the method and terms of the offering of securities.

Set forth below is additional information regarding offerings of securities pursuant to this prospectus:
 
Use of Proceeds Unless otherwise specified in a prospectus supplement, we plan to use the net proceeds from

the sale of our securities pursuant to this prospectus for new investments in portfolio
companies in accordance with our investment objective and strategies described in this
prospectus and for general working capital purposes. We will also pay operating expenses,
including advisory and administrative fees and expenses, and may pay other expenses such
as due diligence expenses of potential new investments, from the net proceeds from the sale
of our securities pursuant to this prospectus. Proceeds not immediately used for new
investments will be invested in cash, cash equivalents, U.S. government securities and other
high-quality investments that mature in one year or less from the date of the investment.
These securities may have lower yields than the types of investments we would typically
make in accordance with our investment objective and, accordingly, may result in lower
distributions, if any during such period. Each prospectus supplement to this prospectus or
free writing prospectus relating to an offering will more fully identify the use of the proceeds
from such offering. See “Use of Proceeds”.

 
NASDAQ Global Select Market Symbol of Common
Stock

“LRFC”

 
NASDAQ Global Select Market Symbol of 2022 Notes “CPTAL”
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NASDAQ Capital Market Symbol of 2022 Convertible
Notes

“CPTAG”

 
Investment Advisory Fees We will pay Mount Logan a fee for its services under the Investment Advisory Agreement

consisting of two components — a base management fee and an incentive fee. The base
management fee is calculated at an annual rate of 1.75% of our gross assets, which is our
total assets as reflected on our balance sheet and includes any borrowings for investment
purposes. Although we do not anticipate making significant investments in derivative
financial instruments, the fair value of any such investments, which will not necessarily
equal their notional value, will be included in our calculation of gross assets.

 

 

The incentive fee consists of two parts. The first part is calculated and payable quarterly in
arrears and equals 20.0% of our “pre-incentive fee net investment income” for the
immediately preceding quarter, subject to a 2.0% preferred return, or “hurdle,” and a “catch
up” feature. The second part is determined and payable in arrears as of the end of each
calendar year (or upon termination of the Investment Advisory Agreement) in an amount
equal to 20.0% of our realized capital gains, if any, on a cumulative basis from July 1, 2021
through the end of each calendar year, computed net of all realized capital losses and
unrealized capital depreciation on a cumulative basis, less the aggregate amount of any
previously paid capital gain incentive fees.

 
 We will defer cash payment of the portion of the aggregate incentive fees earned by our

investment adviser that exceed 20% of the sum of the following:
 

 •  our pre-incentive fee net investment income;
 

 •  our net unrealized appreciation or depreciation; and
 

 •  our net realized capital gains or losses,
 

 

during the most recent 12 full calendar month period ending on or prior to the date such
payment is to be made. Any deferred incentive fees will be carried over for payment in
subsequent calculation periods to the extent such payment is payable under the Investment
Advisory Agreement. The determination of whether such payment is payable in subsequent
calculation periods will be based on the same methodology as described above.

 

 

On July 1, 2021, Mount Logan entered into a fee waiver agreement (the “Fee Waiver
Agreement”) with Logan Ridge to waive, to the extent necessary, any capital gains fee under
the Investment Advisory Agreement that exceeds what would have been paid to Logan Ridge
in the aggregate over such two-year period under the prior investment advisory agreement
between Logan Ridge and Mount Logan.

 
14



Table of Contents

Administration Agreement We will reimburse our administrator for our allocable portion of overhead and other expenses
it incurs in performing its obligations under the Administration Agreement, including
furnishing us with office facilities, equipment and clerical, bookkeeping and record keeping
services at such facilities, as well as providing us with other administrative services. In
addition, we will reimburse our administrator for the fees and expenses associated with
performing compliance functions, and our allocable portion of the compensation of our chief
financial officer, chief compliance officer and their respective administrative support staff.
See “Administration Agreement.” For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020, we
reimbursed our prior administrator an aggregate of $1.4 million.

 
Distributions To the extent that we have income available, we intend to make monthly distributions to our

stockholders. Our monthly stockholder distributions, if any, will be determined by our Board
of Directors on a quarterly basis. Our Board of Directors has not authorized and we have not
declared a distribution to stockholders since the first quarter of 2020. Any distribution to our
stockholders will be declared out of assets legally available for distribution. Distributions in
excess of current and accumulated earnings and profits will be treated as a non-taxable return
of capital, which is a return of a portion of a shareholder’s original investment in our
common stock, to the extent of an investor’s basis in our stock and, assuming that an investor
holds our stock as a capital asset, thereafter as a capital gain. Generally, a non-taxable return
of capital will reduce an investor’s basis in our stock for federal tax purposes, which will
result in higher tax liability when the stock is sold.

 
Taxation We have elected to be treated for U.S. federal income tax purposes, and intend to qualify

annually, as a RIC under Subchapter M of the Code. As a RIC, we generally will not have to
pay corporate-level U.S. federal income taxes on any ordinary income or capital gains that
we distribute to our stockholders as dividends. To maintain our RIC tax treatment, we must
meet specified source-of-income and asset diversification requirements and distribute
annually at least 90% of our ordinary income and realized net short-term capital gains in
excess of realized net long-term capital losses, if any. See “Price Range of Common Stock
and Distributions” and “Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations.”

 
Dividend Reinvestment Plan We have adopted an “opt out” dividend reinvestment plan. If your shares of common stock

are registered in your own name, your distributions will automatically be reinvested under
our dividend reinvestment plan in additional whole and fractional shares of common stock,
unless you “opt out” of our dividend reinvestment plan so as to receive cash dividends by
delivering a written notice to our dividend paying agent. If your shares are held in the name
of a broker or other nominee, you should contact the broker or nominee for details regarding
opting out of our dividend reinvestment plan.
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Stockholders who receive distributions in the form of stock will be subject to the same
federal, state and local tax consequences as stockholders who elect to receive their
distributions in cash. See “Dividend Reinvestment Plan.”

 
Trading at a Discount Shares of closed-end investment companies frequently trade at a discount to their net asset

value. The possibility that our common stock may trade at a discount to its net asset value per
share is separate and distinct from the risk that its net asset value per share may decline. We
cannot predict whether our common stock will trade above, at or below net asset value.

 
Original Issue Discount Debt securities offered may be issued with original issue discount (“OID”) for United States

federal income tax purposes. In such case, in addition to the stated interest on debt securities,
a holder subject to United States federal income taxation will be required to include the OID
in gross income (as ordinary income) as it accrues (on a constant yield to maturity basis) in
advance of the receipt of the cash payment thereof and regardless of such holder’s regular
method of accounting for United States federal income tax purposes. See “Certain U.S.
Federal Income Tax Considerations.”

 
Leverage We expect to continue to use leverage to make investments. As a result, we may continue to

be exposed to the risks of leverage, which include that leverage may be considered a
speculative investment technique. The use of leverage magnifies the potential for gain and
loss on amounts we invest and therefore, indirectly, increases the risks associated with
investing in shares of our common stock. See “Risk Factors.”

 
Certain Anti-Takeover Provisions Our charter and bylaws, as well as certain statutory and regulatory requirements, contain

certain provisions that may have the effect of discouraging a third-party from making an
acquisition proposal for us. These anti-takeover provisions may inhibit a change in control in
circumstances that could give the holders of our common stock the opportunity to realize a
premium over the market price for our common stock. See “Description of Our Capital
Stock.”

 
Available Information We have filed with the SEC a registration statement on Form N-2 together with all

amendments and related exhibits under the Securities Act. The registration statement
contains additional information about us and the securities being offered by this prospectus.

We are required to file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other
information with the SEC under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act”). This information will be available free of charge by contacting us at Logan
Ridge Finance Corporation, 650 Madison Avenue, 23rd Floor, New York, New York 10022,
by telephone at (212) 891-10022, on our website at http://www.loganridgefinance.com, or on
the SEC’s
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website at www.sec.gov. Information contained on our website or on the SEC’s website about
us is not incorporated into this prospectus and you should not consider information contained
on our website or on the SEC’s website to be part of this prospectus.

 
Incorporation by reference This prospectus is part of a registration statement that we have filed with the SEC. In

accordance with the Small Business Credit Availability Act, we are allowed to “incorporate
by reference” the information that we file with the SEC, which means that we can disclose
important information to you by referring you to those documents. The information
incorporated by reference is considered to comprise a part of this prospectus from the date
we file that document. The investment strategies and risk factors incorporated by reference
are considered principal to the Fund. Any reports filed by us with the SEC subsequent to the
date of this prospectus and before the date that any offering of any securities by means of this
prospectus and any accompanying prospectus supplement is terminated will automatically
update and, where applicable, supersede any information contained in this prospectus or
incorporated by reference in this prospectus. See “Incorporation by Reference.”
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FEES AND EXPENSES

The following table is intended to assist you in understanding the costs and expenses that you will bear directly or indirectly. We caution you that
some of the percentages indicated in the table below are estimates and may vary. Except where the context suggests otherwise, whenever this prospectus
contains a reference to fees or expenses paid by “you”, “Logan Ridge”, or “us” or that “we” or “Logan Ridge” will pay fees or expenses, Logan Ridge will
pay such fees and expenses out of our net assets and, consequently, you will indirectly bear such fees or expenses as an investor in Logan Ridge. However,
you will not be required to deliver any money or otherwise bear personal liability or responsibility for such fees or expenses.
 

Stockholder transaction expenses:   
Sales load (as a percentage of offering price)    N/A(1) 
Offering expenses borne by us (as a percentage of offering price)    N/A(2) 
Dividend reinvestment plan fees (per sales transaction fee)   $15.00(3) 

    
 

Total stockholder transaction expenses (as a percentage of offering price)    —  % 

Annual expenses (as a percentage of net assets attributable to common stock):   
Base management fee    4.48%(4) 
Incentive fees payable from Net Investment Income    —  %(5) 
Incentive fee payable from Capital Gains    —  %(5) 
Interest payments on borrowed funds    6.54%(6) 
Other expenses    4.45(7) 

    
 

Total annual expenses    15.48%(8) 
 
(1) In the event that the shares to which this prospectus relates are sold to or through underwriters, a corresponding prospectus supplement will disclose

the applicable sales load.
(2) The prospectus supplement corresponding to each offering will disclose the applicable estimated amount of offering expenses of the offering and the

offering expenses borne by us as a percentage of the offering price.
(3) If a participant elects by written notice to the plan administrator to have the plan administrator sell part or all of the shares held by the plan

administrator in the participant’s account and remit the proceeds to the participant, the plan administrator is authorized to deduct a transaction fee of
$15.00 plus a $.10 per share brokerage commission from the proceeds. The expenses of the dividend reinvestment plan are included in “other
expenses.” The plan administrator’s fees will be paid by us. There will be no brokerage charges or other charges to stockholders who participate in
the plan. For additional information, see “Dividend Reinvestment Plan.”

(4) Reflects our gross base management fee as a percentage of net assets. Our base management fee under the Investment Advisory Agreement is
calculated at an annual rate of 1.75% of our gross assets, which is our total assets as reflected on our balance sheet and includes any borrowings for
investment purposes. The gross base management fee reflected in the table above is based on the period ended September 30, 2021, annualized. See
“Investment Advisory Agreement.”

(5) Assumes that annual incentive fees earned by Mount Logan remain consistent with the incentive fees earned by Capitala during the period ended
September 30, 2021 and includes accrued capital gains incentive fee, as applicable. As we cannot predict whether we will meet the thresholds for
incentive fees under the Investment Advisory Agreement, the incentive fees paid in subsequent periods, if any, may be substantially different than the
fees incurred during the period ended September 30, 2021.

(6) In addition to the 2022 Notes and 2022 Convertible Notes, we may borrow funds from time to time to make investments to the extent we determine
that additional capital would allow us to take advantage of additional investment opportunities or if the economic situation is otherwise conducive to
doing so. The costs associated with any borrowings are indirectly borne by our stockholders. As of September 30, 2021, we had approximately $0
drawn on our KeyBank Credit Facility, $72.8 million of 2022 Notes outstanding, and $52.1 million of Convertible Notes outstanding. For purposes
of this calculation, we have assumed that the September 30, 2021 amounts outstanding on the KeyBank Credit Faciltiy, 2022 Notes and 2022
Convertible
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Notes remain outstanding, and have computed interest expense using an assumed interest rate of 4.25% for the KeyBank credit facility, 6.0% for the
2022 Notes, and 5.75% for the 2022 Convertible Notes which were the rates payable as of September 30, 2021. We have computed interest expense
using an assumed interest rate of 5.9%. See “Senior Securities” in this prospectus.

(7) “Other expenses” include our overhead expenses, including payments by us under the Administration Agreement based on the allocable portion of
overhead and other expenses incurred by the Administrator in performing its obligations to us under the Administration Agreement, and expenses
relating to the Dividend Reinvestment Plan, for the period ended September 30, 2021.

(8) The holders of shares of our common stock indirectly bear the cost associated with our annual expenses.

Example

The following example demonstrates the projected dollar amount of total cumulative expenses that would be incurred over various periods with
respect to a hypothetical investment in our common stock. In calculating the following expense amounts, we have assumed that our borrowings and annual
operating expenses would remain at the levels set forth in the table above. In the event that shares to which this prospectus relates are sold to or through
underwriters, a corresponding prospectus supplement will restate this example to reflect the applicable sales load and offering expenses. See Note 6 above
for additional information regarding certain assumptions regarding our level of leverage.
 
   1 Year   3 Years   5 Years   10 Years 
You would pay the following expenses on a $1,000 investment, assuming a 5.0% annual return   $ 155   $ 417   $ 628   $ 989 

The example should not be considered a representation of future expenses, and actual expenses may be greater or less than those shown.

While the example assumes, as required by the applicable rules of the SEC, a 5.0% annual return, our performance will vary and may result in a
return greater or less than 5.0%. The incentive fee under the Investment Advisory Agreement, which, assuming a 5.0% annual return, would either not be
payable or would have an insignificant impact on the expense amounts shown above, is not included in the above example. The above illustration assumes
that we will not realize any capital gains (computed net of all realized capital losses and unrealized capital depreciation) in any of the indicated time
periods. If we achieve sufficient returns on our investments, including through the realization of capital gains, to trigger an incentive fee of a material
amount, our expenses and returns to our investors would be higher. For example, if we assumed that we received our 5.0% annual return completely in the
form of net realized capital gains on our investments, computed net of all cumulative unrealized depreciation on our investments, the projected dollar
amount of total cumulative expenses set forth in the above illustration would be as follows:
 
   1 Year   3 Years   5 Years   10 Years 
You would pay the following expenses on a $1,000 investment, assuming a 5.0% annual return   $ 165   $ 440   $ 655   $ 1,011 

The example assumes no sales load. However, in the event that the securities to which this prospectus relates are sold with a sales load, a
corresponding prospectus supplement will provide a revised expense example that will include the effect of the sales load. In addition, while the examples
assume reinvestment of all dividends and distributions at net asset value, participants in our dividend reinvestment plan will receive a number of shares of
our common stock, generally determined by dividing the total dollar amount of the dividend payable to a participant by the market price per share of our
common stock at the close of trading on the dividend payment date, which may be at, above or below net asset value. See “Dividend Reinvestment Plan”
for additional information regarding the dividend reinvestment plan.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

The information in “Item 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data” of our most recent annual report on Form 10-K and our 2017 annual report on
Form 10-K, “Part I — Consolidated Statements of Assets and Liabilities” of our most recent quarterly report on Form 10-Q and “Part I — Consolidated
Statements of Operations” of our most recent quarterly report on Form 10-Q is incorporated by reference herein.
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RISK FACTORS

Before you invest in our securities, you should be aware of various risks, including the principal risk factors described under the caption “Risk
Factors” in Part I, Item 1A of our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K and under the caption “Risk Factors” in Part II, Item 1A of our most recent
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, in any applicable prospectus supplement and any related free writing prospectus, and in our other filings with the SEC,
pursuant to Sections 13(a), 13(c) or 14 of the Exchange Act. You should carefully consider these principal risk factors, together with all of the other
information included in this prospectus, and any prospectus supplement and any related free writing prospectus accompanying this prospectus, before you
decide whether to make an investment in our securities. The risks incorporated by reference are not the only risks we face, but they are the principal risks
associated with an investment in us, which include the special risks of investing in a business development company, including the risks associated with
investing in a portfolio of small and developing or financially troubled businesses. If any of the following events occur, our business, financial condition
and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected. In such case, our net asset value and the trading price of our common stock could
decline, and you may lose all or part of your investment. The risk factors described in our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K and Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q, together with those set forth in any prospectus supplement and any related free writing prospectus accompanying this prospectus, are the
principal risk factors associated with an investment in our securities, as well as those factors generally associated with an investment company with
investment objectives, investment policies, capital structure or trading markets similar to ours.

Debt securities may be issued with original issue discount (“OID”) for United States federal income tax purposes.

If the stated principal amount of issued debt securities exceeds their issue price by more than a de minimis amount, such debt securities will be issued
with OID for United States federal income tax purposes. In such event, in addition to the stated interest on the debt securities, a holder subject to United
States federal income taxation will be required to include the OID in gross income (as ordinary income) as it accrues (on a constant yield to maturity basis)
in advance of the receipt of the cash payment thereof and regardless of such holder’s regular method of accounting for United States federal income tax
purposes. See “Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations.”

If the debt securities are issued with OID and a bankruptcy petition were filed by or against us, holders of the debt securities may receive a lesser
amount for their claims than they would have been entitled to receive under the indenture governing the debt securities.

If the debt securities are issued with OID and a bankruptcy petition were filed by or against us under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code after the issuance of
the debt securities, the claim by any holder of the debt securities for the principal amount of such debt securities may be limited to an amount equal to the
sum of:
 

 •  the original issue price for the debt securities; and
 

 •  that portion of the OID that does not constitute “unmatured interest” for purposes of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code.

Any OID that was not amortized as of the date of the bankruptcy filing would constitute unmatured interest. Accordingly, holders of debt securities under
these circumstances may receive a lesser amount than they would be entitled to under the terms of the indenture governing the debt securities, even if
sufficient funds are available.
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS AND PROJECTIONS

This prospectus contains and any applicable prospectus supplement or free writing prospectus, including the documents we incorporate by reference,
may contain forward-looking statements that involve substantial risks and uncertainties. These forward-looking statements are not historical facts, but
rather are based on current expectations, estimates and projections about Logan Ridge, our current and prospective portfolio investments, our industry, our
beliefs, and our assumptions. Words such as “anticipates,” “expects,” “intends,” “plans,” “will,” “may,” “continue,” “believes,” “seeks,” “estimates,”
“would,” “could,” “should,” “targets,” “projects,” and variations of these words and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking
statements. The forward-looking statements contained in this prospectus and any applicable prospectus supplement or free writing prospectus, including the
documents we incorporate by reference, involve risks and uncertainties, including statements as to:
 

 •  our future operating results;
 

 •  our business prospects and the prospects of our portfolio companies;
 

 •  the impact of investments that we expect to make;
 

 •  our contractual arrangements and relationships with third parties;
 

 •  the dependence of our future success on the general economy and its impact on the industries in which we invest;
 

 •  the ability of our portfolio companies to achieve their objectives;
 

 •  our expected financings and investments;
 

 •  the adequacy of our cash resources and working capital; and
 

 •  the timing of cash flows, if any, from the operations of our portfolio companies.

These statements are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to risks, uncertainties, and other factors, some of which are beyond our
control and difficult to predict and could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or forecasted in the forward-looking statements,
including without limitation:
 

 •  an economic downturn could impair our portfolio companies’ ability to continue to operate or repay their borrowings, which could lead to the
loss of some or all of our investments in such portfolio companies;

 

 •  a contraction of available credit and/or an inability to access the equity markets could impair our lending and investment activities;
 

 •  interest rate volatility could adversely affect our results, particularly if we use leverage as part of our investment strategy; and
 

 •  the risks, uncertainties and other factors we identify in “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this prospectus and any applicable prospectus
supplement or free writing prospectus, including the documents we incorporate by reference.

Although we believe that the assumptions on which these forward-looking statements are based are reasonable, any of those assumptions could prove
to be inaccurate, and as a result, the forward-looking statements based on those assumptions also could be inaccurate. Important assumptions include our
ability to originate new loans and investments, certain margins and levels of profitability and the availability of additional capital. In light of these and other
uncertainties, the inclusion of a projection or forward-looking statement in this prospectus and any applicable prospectus supplement or free writing
prospectus, including the documents we incorporate by reference, should not be regarded as a representation by us that our plans and objectives will be
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achieved. These risks and uncertainties include those described or identified in “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this prospectus. You should not place
undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which are based on information available to us as of the applicable date of this prospectus, any
applicable prospectus supplement or free writing prospectus, including any documents incorporated by reference, and while we believe such information
forms a reasonable basis for such statements, such information may be limited or incomplete, and our statements should not be read to indicate that we
have conducted an exhaustive inquiry into, or review of, all potentially available relevant information. These statements are inherently uncertain and
investors are cautioned not to unduly rely on these statements.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

We plan to use the net proceeds from the sale of our securities pursuant to this prospectus for new investments in portfolio companies in accordance
with our investment objective and strategies described in this prospectus and for general working capital purposes. We will also pay operating expenses,
including advisory and administrative fees and expenses, and may pay other expenses such as due diligence expenses of potential new investments, from
the net proceeds from the sale of our securities pursuant to this prospectus. We are continuously identifying, reviewing and, to the extent consistent with its
investment objective, funding new investments. As a result, we typically raise capital as we deem appropriate to fund such new investments. The applicable
prospectus supplement or a free writing prospectus that we have authorized for use relating to an offering will more fully identify the use of the proceeds
from such offering.

We anticipate that substantially all of the net proceeds from any offering of our securities will be used as described above within twelve months, but
in no event longer than two years, depending on the availability of attractive opportunities and market conditions. However, there can be no assurance that
we will be able to achieve this goal.

Pending such investments, we will invest the net proceeds primarily in cash, cash equivalents, U.S. government securities and other high-quality
temporary investments that mature in one year or less from the date of investment. These securities may have lower yields than the types of investments we
would typically make in accordance with our investment objective and, accordingly, may result in lower distributions, if any, during such period.
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PRICE RANGE OF COMMON STOCK AND DISTRIBUTIONS

The information in “Price Range of Common Stock and Distributions” in Part II, Item 5 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 8, 2021
is incorporated herein by reference.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The information in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in Part II, Item 7 of our Annual
Report on Form 10-K filed on March 8, 2021 and in Part 1, Item 2 of our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 16, 2021 is incorporated herein
by reference.
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SENIOR SECURITIES

The information in “Senior Securities” in Part II, Item 7 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 8, 2021 is incorporated herein by
reference.
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BUSINESS

We are an externally managed, non-diversified closed-end investment company that has elected to be regulated as a BDC under the 1940 Act. Mount
Logan is an affiliate of BC Partners Advisors L.P. (“BC Partners”) for U.S. regulatory purposes. Subject to the overall supervision of the Board, the
Investment Adviser is responsible for managing our business and activities, including sourcing investment opportunities, conducting research, performing
diligence on potential investments, structuring our investments, and monitoring our portfolio companies on an ongoing basis through a team of investment
professionals.

The Investment Adviser seeks to invest on our behalf in performing, well-established middle market businesses that operate across a wide range of
industries (i.e., no concentration in any one industry). The Investment Adviser employs fundamental credit analysis, targeting investments in businesses
with relatively low levels of cyclicality and operating risk. The holding size of each position will generally be dependent upon a number of factors
including total facility size, pricing and structure, and the number of other lenders in the facility. The Investment Adviser has experience managing levered
vehicles, both public and private, and seeks to enhance our returns through the use of leverage with a prudent approach that prioritizes capital preservation.
The Investment Adviser believes this strategy and approach offers attractive risk/return with lower volatility given the potential for fewer defaults and
greater resilience through market cycles.

We originate, structure, and invest in secured term loans, bonds or notes and mezzanine debt primarily in privately-held middle market companies
but may also invest in other investments such as loans to publicly-traded companies, high-yield bonds, and distressed debt securities (collectively the “Debt
Securities Portfolio”). In addition, from time to time we may invest in the equity securities of lower middle-market and traditional middle-market
companies and may also receive warrants or options to purchase common stock in connection with our debt investments.

In our Debt Securities Portfolio, our investment objective is to generate current income and, to a lesser extent, capital appreciation from the
investments in senior secured term loans, mezzanine debt and selected equity investments in privately-held middle market companies. We define the
middle market as comprising companies with earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”) of $5 million to $50 million. We
primarily invest in first and second lien term loans which, because of their priority in a company’s capital structure, we expect will have lower default rates
and higher rates of recovery of principal if there is a default and which we expect will create a stable stream of interest income. The investments in our
Debt Securities Portfolio are all or predominantly below investment grade, and have speculative characteristics with respect to the issuer’s capacity to pay
interest and repay principal.

Subject to market conditions, we intend to grow our portfolio of assets by raising additional capital, including through the prudent use of leverage
available to us. As a BDC, we are limited in the amount of leverage we can incur under the 1940 Act. Effective March 29, 2019, we are allowed to borrow
amounts such that our asset coverage, as defined in the 1940 Act, equals at least 150% after such borrowing. Because we also recognize the need to have
funds available for operating our business and to make investments, we seek to have adequate liquidity at all times to cover normal cyclical swings in
funding availability and to allow us to meet abnormal and unexpected funding requirements. As a result, we may hold varying amounts of cash and other
short-term investments from time-to-time for liquidity purposes.

We have elected to be treated for U.S. federal income tax purposes as a regulated investment company (“RIC”) under the Internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended (the “Code”) and intend to operate in a manner to maintain our RIC status. See “ — Taxation as a Regulated Investment Company”
below.

Investment Portfolio

We will target debt investments that yield meaningful current income and, in many cases, provide the opportunity for capital appreciation through
equity securities. In each case, the following criteria and guidelines
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are applied to the review of a potential investment; however, not all criteria are met in every single investment in our portfolio, nor do we guarantee that all
criteria will be met in the investments we will make in the future.
 

 

•  Established Companies With Positive Cash Flow.    We seek to invest in established companies with a history of generating revenues and
positive cash flows. We intend to focus on companies with a history of profitability and minimum trailing twelve-month EBITDA of between
$5 million and $50 million. We do not intend to invest in start-up companies, distressed or “turn-around” situations or companies with
business plans that we do not understand.

 

 

•  Experienced Management Teams with Meaningful Investment.    We seek to invest in companies in which senior or key managers have
significant company or industry-level experience and have significant equity ownership. It has been our experience that these management
teams are more committed to the company’s success and more likely to manage the company in a manner that protects our debt and equity
investments.

 

 

•  Significant Invested Capital.    We believe that the existence of an appropriate amount of equity beneath our debt capital provides valuable
support for our investment. In addition, the degree to which the particular investment is a meaningful one for the portfolio company’s
financial sponsor, and the financial sponsor’s ability and willingness to invest additional equity capital as and to the extent necessary, are also
important considerations.

 

 
•  Appropriate Capital Structures.    We seek to invest in companies that are appropriately capitalized. First, we examine the amount of equity

that is being invested by the company’s private equity sponsor to determine whether there is a sufficient capital cushion beneath our invested
capital. We also analyze the amount of leverage and the characteristics of senior debt with lien priority over our investment.

 

 

•  Strong Competitive Position.    We intend to invest in companies that have developed strong, defensible product or service offerings within
their respective market segments. These companies should be well positioned to capitalize on organic and strategic growth opportunities, and
should compete in industries with strong fundamentals and meaningful barriers to entry. We further analyze prospective portfolio investments
in order to identify competitive advantages within their respective industries, which may result in superior operating margins or industry-
leading growth.

 

 

•  Customer and Supplier Diversification.    We expect to invest in companies with sufficiently diverse customer and supplier bases. We believe
these companies will be better able to endure industry consolidation, economic contraction and increased competition than those that are not
sufficiently diversified. However, we also recognize that from time to time, an attractive investment opportunity with some concentration
among its customer base or supply chain will present itself. We believe that concentration issues can be evaluated and, in some instances
(whether due to supplier or customer product or platform diversification, the existence and quality of long-term agreements with such
customers or suppliers or other select factors), mitigated, thus presenting a superior risk-adjusted pricing scenario.

Debt Investments

Our investment team tailors the terms of each debt investment to the facts and circumstances of the transaction, the needs of the prospective portfolio
company and, as applicable, its financial sponsor, negotiating a structure that seeks to protect our rights and manage our risk while creating incentives for
the portfolio company to achieve its business plan. We expect our primary source of return to be the cash interest we will collect on our debt investments.
We also typically seek board observation rights with each portfolio company and we offer (and have historically provided) managerial and strategic
assistance to these companies. We seek to further protect invested principal by negotiating appropriate affirmative, negative and financial covenants in our
debt documents that are conservative enough to represent a prudent cushion at closing or to budgeted projections, but that are flexible enough to afford our
portfolio companies and their financial sponsors sufficient latitude to allow them to grow their businesses. Typical covenants include default triggers and
remedies (including penalties), lien
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protection, leverage and fixed charge coverage ratios, change of control provisions and put rights. Most of our debt investments feature call protection to
enhance our total return on debt investments that are repaid prior to maturity.

Most of our debt investments are structured as first lien loans, and as of June 30, 2021, 75% of the fair value of our debt investments consisted of
such investments. First lien loans may contain some minimum amount of principal amortization, excess cash flow sweep feature, prepayment penalties, or
any combination of the foregoing. First lien loans are secured by a first priority lien in existing and future assets of the borrower and may take the form of
term loans, delayed draw facilities, or revolving credit facilities. In some cases, first lien loans may be subordinated, solely with respect to the payment of
cash interest, to an asset based revolving credit facility. Unitranche debt, a form of first lien loan, typically involves issuing one debt security that blends the
risk and return profiles of both senior secured and subordinated debt in one debt security, bifurcating the loan into a first-out tranche and last-out tranche.
As of June 30, 2021, 16.3% of the fair value of our first lien loans consisted of last-out loans. We believe that unitranche debt can be attractive for many
lower middle-market and traditional middle-market businesses, given the reduced structural complexity, single lender interface and elimination of
intercreditor or potential agency conflicts among lenders.

We may also invest in debt instruments structured as second lien loans. Second lien loans are loans which have a second priority security interest in
all or substantially all of the borrower’s assets, and in some cases, may be subject to the interruption of cash interest payments upon certain events of
default, at the discretion of the first lien lender. On a fair market value basis, 25% of our debt investments consisted of second lien loans as of June 30,
2021.

Some of our debt investments have PIK interest, which is a form of interest that is not paid currently in cash, but is accrued and added to the loan
balance until paid at the end of the term. While we generally seek to minimize the percentage of our fixed return that is in the form of PIK interest, we
sometimes receive PIK interest due to prevailing market conditions that do not support the overall blended interest yield on our debt investments being paid
in all-cash interest. As of June 30, 2021, the weighted average annualized yield on our debt portfolio was 9.9%. In addition to yield in the form of current
cash and PIK interest, some of our debt investments include an equity component, such as a warrant to purchase a common equity interest in the borrower
for a nominal price.

The weighted annualized yield is calculated based on the effective interest rate as of period end, divided by the fair value of our debt investments.
The weighted average annualized yield of our debt investments is not the same as a return on investment for our stockholders but, rather, relates to a
portion of our investment portfolio and is calculated before the payment of all of our fees and expenses. There can be no assurance that the weighted
average yield will remain at its current level.

Equity Investments

As of June 30, 2021, 32% of our total portfolio consisted of equity investments. When we make a debt investment, we may be granted equity
participation in the form of detachable warrants to purchase common equity in the company in the same class of security that the owners or equity sponsors
receive upon funding. In addition, we may make non-control equity co-investments in conjunction with a loan transaction with a borrower. The Investment
Adviser’s investment team generally seeks to structure our equity investments, such as direct equity co-investments, to provide us with minority rights
provisions and, to the extent available, event-driven put rights. They also seek to obtain limited registration rights in connection with these investments,
which may include “piggyback” registration rights. In addition to warrants and equity co-investments, our debt investments in the future may contain a
synthetic equity position.

Process

We are managed by Mount Logan, whose investment team members have significant and diverse experience. We review potential investment
opportunities and conduct due diligence that typically includes a
 

30



Table of Contents

review of historical and prospective financial information, participation in a presentation held by the prospective portfolio company’s management and/or
the transaction sponsor, a review of the prospective portfolio company’s product or service, an analysis and understanding of the drivers of the particular
industry in which the prospective portfolio company operates, and an assessment of the debt service capabilities of the prospective portfolio company under
a variety of assumed forecast scenarios.

Due to our ability to source transactions through multiple channels, we expect to continue to maintain a pipeline of opportunities to allow
comparative risk return analysis and selectivity. By focusing on the drivers of revenue and cash flow, we develop our own underwriting cases, and multiple
stress and event specific case scenarios for each company analyzed.

We focus on lending and investing opportunities in:
 

 •  companies with EBITDA of $5 to $50 million;
 

 •  companies with a history in generating consistent cash flows and stable financial performance
 

 •  companies identifiable and defensible market positions in industries with favorable dynamics; and
 

 •  companies with management teams with demonstrated track records and aligned incentives.

We source investment opportunities from:
 

 •  private equity sponsors;
 

 •  regional investment banks for non-sponsored companies;
 

 •  financial advisers and other market intermediaries; and
 

 •  other middle market lenders with whom we can participate in loans.

In our experience, good credit judgment is based on a thorough understanding of both the qualitative and quantitative factors that determine a
company’s performance. Our analysis begins with an understanding of the fundamentals of the industry in which a company operates, including the current
economic environment and the outlook for the industry. We also focus on the company’s relative position within the industry and our historical ability to
weather economic cycles. Other key qualitative factors include the experience and depth of the management team and the financial sponsor, if any.

Only after we have a comprehensive understanding of the qualitative factors do we focus on quantitative metrics. We believe that with the context
provided by the qualitative analysis, we can gain a better understanding of a company’s financial performance. We analyze a potential portfolio company’s
sales growth and margins in the context of our competition as well as our ability to manage our working capital requirements and our ability to generate
consistent cash flow. Based upon this historical analysis, we develop a set of projections which represents a reasonable underwriting case of most likely
outcomes for the company over the period of our investment. We also look at potential downside cases to determine a company’s ability to service its debt
in a stressed credit environment.

Elements of the qualitative analysis we use in evaluating investment opportunities include some combination of the following:
 

 •  industry fundamentals;
 

 •  competitive position and market share;
 

 •  impact of historical down-cycles on the industry and us;
 

 •  quality of financial and technology infrastructure;
 

 •  sourcing risks and opportunities;
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 •  labor and union strategy;
 

 •  technology risk;
 

 •  diversity of customer base and product lines;
 

 •  quality of financial sponsor (if applicable); and
 

 •  acquisition and integration history.

Elements of the quantitative analysis we use in evaluating investment opportunities include some combination of the following:
 

 •  income statement analysis of growth and margin trends;
 

 •  cash flow analysis of capital expenditures and free cash flow;
 

 •  financial ratio and market share standing among comparable companies;
 

 •  financial projections: underwriting versus stress case;
 

 •  event specific credit modeling;
 

 •  credit profile trend;
 

 •  future capital expenditure needs and asset sale plans;
 

 •  downside protection to limit losses in an event of default;
 

 •  risk adjusted returns and relative value analysis; and
 

 •  enterprise and asset valuations.

The origination, structuring and credit approval processes are fully integrated. Our credit team is directly involved in all due diligence and analysis
prior to the formal credit approval process by our investment committee.

Monitoring

Our Board, including a majority of its independent directors, oversees and monitors our investment performance and, beginning with the second
anniversary of the effective date of our Investment Advisory Agreement, will annually review the compensation we pay to the Investment Adviser.

Our Investment Adviser has significant experience monitoring credit portfolios. Along with origination and credit analysis, portfolio management is
one of the key elements of our business. Most of our investments will not be liquid and, therefore, we must prepare to act quickly if potential issues arise so
that we can work closely with the Investment Adviser and the private equity sponsor, if applicable, of the portfolio company to take any necessary remedial
action. In addition, most of the Investment Adviser’s senior management team, has substantial workout and restructuring experience.

In order to assist us in detecting issues with our Debt Securities Portfolio companies as early as possible, we perform a financial analysis at least
quarterly on each portfolio company. This analysis typically includes:
 

 •  A summary of the portfolio company’s current total credit exposure as well as our portion of this exposure.
 

 
•  A summary and update of the portfolio company’s financial condition and performance, including but not limited to, performance versus

plan, deterioration/improvement in market position, or industry fundamentals, management changes or additions, and ongoing business
strategy.

 

 •  Reaffirmation of, or proposal to change, the risk rating of the underlying investment.
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 •  A summary of the portfolio company’s financial covenant results vis a vis financial covenant levels established in the credit agreement.

Watch list credits are followed closely and discussed more frequently than quarterly, as appropriate.

About the Investment Adviser

Mount Logan was formed in 2020 and is registered as an investment adviser under the Advisers Act. Mount Logan is controlled by MLC, a publicly
listed Canada-based alternative asset management company. Mount Logan is an affiliate of BC Partners for U.S. regulatory purposes and BC Partners
provides Mount Logan with personnel pursuant to a resource sharing agreement, which allows Mount Logan to utilize the resources of BC Partners’
broader credit team.

MLC is managed by the founders of BC Partners Credit bringing to bear the investment expertise and deep resources of the broader BC Partners
platform, all of which the Company — as an entity within the BC Partners ecosystem — benefits from. Mount Logan provides investment management
services to privately offered investment funds and acts as the collateral manager to issuers of collateralized loan obligations (“CLOs”) backed by debt
obligations and similar assets.

The Mount Logan Investment Committee includes Ted Goldthorpe, Matthias Ederer, Henry Wang and Raymond Svider, each experienced members
of Mount Logan’s investment personnel.

With approximately $40 billion in assets under management and offices in London, Paris, Hamburg, and New York, the BC Partners organization is
comprised of a private equity platform, a credit platform, and a real estate platform. All three platforms operate as integrated businesses within the overall
BC Partners organization. Founded in 1986, BC Partners grew and evolved with the development of the European private equity market, consistently
maintaining its position as one of the leading buyout firms in the region. It subsequently expanded investment operations to North America to support
larger transactions operating more globally and established a successful investment platform for buyouts of businesses based in the United States and
around the world. BC Partners expanded its strategic offering by establishing a credit platform in 2017 and a real estate platform in 2018. BC Partners has a
35-year investing track record across a variety of geographies and sectors. Throughout its investment history, BC Partners has built strong and longstanding
relationships with global institutional investors.

Investment Advisory Agreement

The information in “Proposal No. 1: To Approve the New Advisory Agreement” in our Proxy Statement filed on May 4, 2021 on Form DEF
14A is incorporated herein by reference.

Administration Agreement

BC Partners Management LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, serves as our administrator. The principal executive offices of our
administrator are located at 650 Madison Avenue, 23rd Floor, New York, New York 10022. Pursuant to the Administration Agreement, our administrator
furnishes us with office facilities, equipment and clerical, bookkeeping and record keeping services at such facilities. Under the Administration Agreement,
our administrator also performs, or oversees the performance of, our required administrative services, which include, among other things, being responsible
for the financial records that we are required to maintain and preparing reports to our stockholders. In addition, our administrator assists us in determining
and publishing our net asset value, oversees the preparation and filing of our tax returns and the printing and dissemination of reports to our stockholders,
and generally oversees the payment of our expenses and the performance of administrative and professional services rendered to us by others. Payments
under the Administration Agreement are equal to an amount based upon our allocable portion of our administrator’s
 

33



Table of Contents

overhead in performing its obligations under the Administration Agreement, including rent, the fees and expenses associated with performing compliance
functions and our allocable portion of the compensation of our chief financial officer, chief compliance officer and our allocable portion of the
compensation of their respective administrative support staff. Under the Administration Agreement, our administrator will also provide on our behalf
managerial assistance to those portfolio companies that request such assistance. Unless terminated earlier in accordance with its terms, the Administration
Agreement will remain in effect if approved annually by our Board. On July 1, 2021, we entered into the Administration Agreement. The Administration
Agreement may be terminated by either party without penalty upon 60 days’ written notice to the other party. To the extent that our administrator
outsources any of its functions, we will pay the fees associated with such functions on a direct basis without any incremental profit to our administrator.
Stockholder approval is not required to amend the Administration Agreement.

The Administration Agreement provides that, absent willful misfeasance, bad faith or negligence in the performance of its duties or by reason of the
reckless disregard of its duties and obligations, our administrator and its officers, managers, partners, agents, employees, controlling persons, members and
any other person or entity affiliated with it are entitled to indemnification from Logan Ridge for any damages, liabilities, costs and expenses (including
reasonable attorneys’ fees and amounts reasonably paid in settlement) arising from the rendering of our administrator’s services under the Administration
Agreement or otherwise as administrator for Logan Ridge.
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PORTFOLIO COMPANIES

The following table sets forth certain information as of September 30, 2021 for each of our portfolio companies. The general terms of our debt and
equity investments are described in “Business — Investments.” Other than these investments, our only formal relationships with our portfolio companies
will be the managerial assistance we may provide upon request and the board observer or participation rights we may receive in connection with our
investment. Other than as indicated in the table below, we do not “control” and are not an “affiliate” of any of these portfolio companies, each as defined in
the 1940 Act. In general, under the 1940 Act, we would “control” a portfolio company if we owned more than 25% of its voting securities and would be an
“affiliate” of a portfolio company if we owned more than 5% of its voting securities.
 
Name and Address of Portfolio Company  Nature of Business  

Type of Investment and General
Terms (1)(2)(3)(4)  

% of
Class Held  

Cost
(in thousands)  

Fair Value
(in thousands) 

Accordion Partners LLC
31 West 52nd Street, 16th Floor
New York, NY 10019  

Industrials

 

First Lien Debt (6.5% Cash, (3 month
LIBOR+5.5%), 1.0% Floor), Due 9/24/27)

  $ 13,791  $ 13,790 

  

First Lien Debt (6.5% Cash, (3 month
LIBOR+5.5%), 1.0% Floor),
Due 9/24/27) (13)    (30)   (30) 

  

First Lien Debt (6.5% Cash, (3 month
LIBOR+5.5%), 1.0% Floor),
Due 9/24/27) (14)    (75)   (75) 

Alternative Biomedical Solutions, LLC 
50 South Sixth Street, Suite 1290
Minneapolis, MN 55402  

Healthcare

 

First Lien Debt (8.0% Cash, Due 12/18/22)

   7,119   6,753 
  Series A Preferred Units (13,811 units)   31.8%   1,275   786 
  Series B Preferred Units (48,025 units)   59.1%   3,943   —   
  Series C Preferred Units (78,900 units)   25.8%   —     —   
  Membership Units (20,092 units)   2.8%   800   —   
  Membership Unit Warrants (49,295 units)   59.5%   —     —   

American Clinical Solutions, LLC 
2424 N. Federal Highway
Boca Raton, Florida 33431  

Healthcare

 

First Lien Debt (7.0% Cash, Due 12/31/22)

   3,500   3,467 

  
First Lien Debt (7.0% Cash,
Due 12/31/21) (5)    250   248 

  Class A Membership Units (6,030,384 units)   50.0%   3,198   4,906 

AP Core Holdings II, LLC 
770 Broadway
New York, NY 10003  

Information Technology

 

First Lien Debt (6.25% Cash, (1 month
LIBOR+5.5%), 0.75% Floor), Due 7/21/27)

   2,463   2,515 

  
First Lien Debt (6.25% Cash, (1 month
LIBOR+5.5%), 0.75% Floor), Due 7/21/27)    2,463   2,463 

BigMouth, Inc 
655 Winding Brook Drive 
Glastonbury, CT 06033  

Consumer Products

 

First Lien Debt (9.0% Cash (1 month LIBOR +
8.5%, 0.5% Floor), Due 11/14/21) (6)

   1,268   948 

BLST Operating Company, LLC 
6509 Flying Cloud Drive
Eden Prairie, Minnesota 55344  

Online Merchandise
Retailer

 

Second Lien Debt (10.0% (1 month LIBOR +
8.5%, 1.5% Floor),
Due 8/28/25) (7)    1,780   1,773 

  Class A Common Units (217,013 units)   0.8%   286   2,711 

Burgaflex Holdings, LLC (18) 
10160 Gainey Dr.
Holly, Michigan 48442  

Automobile Part
Manufacturer

 

Common Stock Class A (1,253,198 shares)

 

 8.3% 

 

 362 

 

 1,479 

  Common Stock Class B (1,085,073 shares)   11.5%   1,504   1,220 

Burke America Parts Group, LLC 
5852 W. 51st Street
Chicago, Illinois 60638  

Home Repair Parts
Manufacturer

 

Membership Units (14 units)

 

 2.0% 

 

 5 

 

 3,300 
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Name and Address of Portfolio Company  Nature of Business  
Type of Investment and General

Terms (1)(2)(3)(4)  
% of

Class Held  
Cost

(in thousands)  
Fair Value

(in thousands) 
Chicken Soup for the Soul, LLC 

132 East Putnam Avenue
Cos Cob, Connecticut 06807  

Multi-platform Media and
Consumer Products

 

First Lien Debt (10.0% Cash (1 month LIBOR +
8.5%, 1.5% Floor),
Due 2/22/22) (5)   $ 10,045  $ 10,045 

Chief Fire Intermediate, Inc. 
10 West Broad Street
Mount Vernon, NY 10552  

Security System Services

 

First Lien Debt (8.6% Cash (1 month LIBOR +
7.0%, 1.6% Floor),
Due 11/8/24) (6)    8,100   —   

  Class A Preferred Units (34,740 units)   6.2%   913   —   
  Class B Common Units (3,510 units)   0.8%   —     —   

Eastport Holdings, LLC (18) 
4841 Summer Avenue
Memphis, TN 38122  

Business Services

 

Subordinated Debt (13.5% Cash (3 month LIBOR
+ 13.0%, 0.5% Floor), Due 4/30/22) (5)

   16,414   16,500 
  Membership Units (22.9% ownership)   22.9%   3,263   19,392 

Freedom Electronics, LLC 
2205 May Ct. NW
Kennesaw, Georgia 30144  

Electronic Machine Repair

 

First Lien Debt (7.0% Cash (1 month LIBOR +
5.0%, 2.0% Floor), Due 12/20/23)

   2,595   2,595 

  
First Lien Debt (8.7% Cash,
Due 12/20/23) (9) (10)    5,661   5,641 

  Membership Units (181,818 units)   0.5%   182   228 

GA Communications, Inc. (18) 
2196 West Part Court 
Stone Mountain, Georgia 30087  

Advertising & Marketing
Services

 

Series A-1 Preferred Stock (1,998 shares)

 

 8.3% 

 

 3,477 

 

 4,220 

  Series B-1 Common Stock (200,000 shares)   8.3%   2   140 

HUMC Opco, LLC
29 E. 29th Street
Bayonne, New Jersey 07002  

Healthcare

 

First Lien Debt (9.0% Cash,
Due 11/19/21) (5)

   4,689   4,689 

J5 Infrastructure Partners, LLC
23 Mauchly, Suite 110
Irvine, California 92618  

Wireless Deployment
Services

 

First Lien Debt (8.3% Cash (1 month LIBOR +
6.5%, 1.8% Floor), Due 12/20/24) (11)

   —     —   

  
First Lien Debt (8.3% Cash (1 month LIBOR +
6.5%, 1.8% Floor), Due 12/20/24)    5,809   5,809 

Jurassic Quest Holdings, LLC
200 River Point #312
Conroe, Texas 77304  

Entertainment

 

First Lien Debt (9.5% Cash (1 month LIBOR +
7.5%, 2.0% Floor), Due 5/1/24)

   8,480   8,480 
  Preferred Units (467,784 units)   1.5%   480   1,360 

LJS Partners, LLC (18)
1441 Gardiner Lane  

QSR Franchisor
 

Preferred Units (202,336 units)
 

 9.2% 
 

 437 
 

 812 

Louisville, Kentucky 40213   Common Stock (1,587,848 shares)   9.2%   1,224   5,648 

Lucky Bucks, LLC 
5820 Live Oak Parkway, Suite 300
Norcross, GA 30071  

Consumer Discretionary

 

First Lien Debt (6.25% Cash (1 month LIBOR +
5.5%, 0.75% Floor), Due 7/21/27)

   5,882   5,880 

Confluence Technologies, Inc. 
233 Wilshire Blvd, Suite 800
Santa Monica, CA 90401  

Information Technology

 

Second Lien Debt (7.0% Cash (1 month LIBOR
+ 6.5%, 0.5% Floor), Due 7/21/27)

   1,980   1,980 

Marble Point Credit Management LLC
600 Steamboat Road, Suite 202
Greenwich, Connecticut 60830  

Financials

 

First Lien Debt (7.0% Cash (3 month LIBOR +
6.0%, 1.0% Floor), Due 8/11/28)

   5,717   5,714 

  
Revolving Line of Credit (7.0% Cash (3 month
LIBOR + 6.0%, 1.0% Floor), Due 8/11/28) (8)    (25)   (25) 

MicroHoldco, LLC 
1102 Windam Road
South Windam, Connecticut 06266  

General Industrial

 

Preferred Units (740,237 units) (12)

 

 46.6% 

 

 749 

 

 740 

MMI Holdings, LLC (18) 
325 McGill Avenue, Suite 195
Concord, North Carolina 28027  

Medical Device
Distributor

 

First Lien Debt (12.0% Cash,
Due 1/31/22) (5)

  

 2,600 

 

 2,600 

 
36



Table of Contents

Name and Address of Portfolio Company  Nature of Business  
Type of Investment and General

Terms (1)(2)(3)(4)  
% of

Class Held  
Cost

(in thousands)  
Fair Value

(in thousands) 
  Second Lien Debt (6.0% Cash, Due 9/30/21) (5)   $ 388  $ 400 

  
Preferred Units (1,000 units, 6.0% PIK Dividend)
(16)   100.0%   1,758   1,850 

  Common Membership Units (45 units)   5.0%   —     80 

Navis Holdings, Inc. (18) 
113 Woodside Drive
Lexington, North Carolina 27292  

Textile Equipment
Manufacturer

 

First Lien Debt (9.0% Cash, 2.0% PIK, Due
6/30/23) (5)

  
 10,695 

 
 10,562 

  
Class A Preferred Stock (1,000 shares, 10.0%
Cash Dividend)   100.0%   1,000   1,000 

  Common Stock (60,000 shares)   16.2%   —     448 

Nth Degree Investment Group, LLC (18) 
2675 Breckinridge Boulevard
Duluth, Georgia 30096  

Business Services

 

Membership Units (6,088,000 Units)

 

 5.6% 

 

 6,088 

 

 —   

RAM Payment, LLC (18) 
412 North Cedar Bluff Road, Ste 400
Knoxville, TN 37923  

Financial Services

 

First Lien Debt (6.5% Cash (1 month LIBOR +
5.0%), 1.5% Floor), Due 1/4/24)

  
 1,513 

 
 1,513 

  First Lien Debt (9.8% Cash, Due 1/4/24) (9)    4,101   4,101 

  
Preferred Units (86,000 units, 8.0% PIK
Dividend) (16)   6.5%   1,048   3,561 

Sequoia Healthcare Management, LLC 
29 E. 29th Street
Bayonne, New Jersey 07002  

Healthcare Management

 

First Lien Debt (12.8% Cash,
Due 11/19/21) (5) (6)

  
 11,935 

 
 8,297 

Sierra Hamilton Holdings Corporation (18) 
777 Post Oak Blvd  

Oil & Gas Engineering and
Consulting Services  

Second Lien Debt (15.0%,
Due 9/12/23) (17)    3   3 

Houston, Texas 77056   Common Stock (15,068,000 shares)   13.7%   6,958   941 

Taylor Precision Products, Inc. 
2311 W. 22nd Street
Oak Brook, Illinois 60523  

Household Product
Manufacturer

 

Series C Preferred Stock (379 shares)

 

 8.3% 

 

 758 

 

 287 

U.S. BioTek Laboratories, LLC
16020 Linden Ave. N.
Shoreline, Washington 98133  

Testing Laboratories

 

First Lien Debt (7.0% Cash (3 month LIBOR +
5.0%, 2.0% Floor), Due 12/14/23)

   978   978 

  
First Lien Debt (9.3% Cash,
Due 12/14/23) (9) (10)    3,044   3,044 

  Class A Preferred Units (500 Units)   2.5%   540   658 
  Class C Units (578 Units)   2.3%   1   342 
  Class D Preferred Units (78 Units)   2.5%   78   97 

U.S. Well Services, LLC 
770 South Post Oak Lane, Suite 405
Houston, Texas 77056  

Oil & Gas Services

 

Class A Common Stock
(1,202,499 shares) (15)

 
 1.3% 

 
 1,244 

 
 872 

V12 Holdings, Inc. (18) 
141 West Front Street, Suite 410
Red Bank, New Jersey 07701  

Data Processing & Digital
Marketing

 

Subordinated Debt (12)

  

 490 

 

 509 

Wealth Enhancement Group, LLC
505 N. Highway 169, Suite 900
Plymouth, Minnesota 55441  

Financials

 

First Lien Debt (6.75% Cash (3 month LIBOR +
5.75%, 1.0% Floor), Due 10/2/25) (20)

   (17)   (39) 

  
Revolving Line of Credit (6.75% Cash (3 month
LIBOR + 5.75%, 1.0% Floor), Due 10/2/25) (21)    326   326 

Vology, Inc. (19) 
4035 Tampa Road
Oldsmar, Florida 34677  

Information Technology

 

First Lien Debt (10.5% Cash (1 month LIBOR +
8.5%, 2.0% Floor), Due 12/31/21)

   3,586   3,565 
  Class A Preferred Units (9,041,810 Units)   58.3%   5,215   3,288 
  Membership Units (5,363,982 Units)   58.3%   —     —   
      

 
   

 

    $ 194,306  $ 195,385 
      

 

   

 

 
37



Table of Contents

(1) All investments valued using unobservable inputs (Level 3), unless otherwise noted.
(2) All investments valued by the Logan Ridge Finance Corporation’s (the “Company”) board of directors.
(3) All debt investments are income producing, unless otherwise noted. Equity and warrant investments are non-income producing, unless otherwise noted.
(4) The Company generally acquires its investments in private transactions exempt from registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”). These investments

are generally subject to certain limitations on resale and may be deemed to be “restricted securities” under the Security Act
(5) The maturity date of the original investment has been extended.
(6) Non-accrual investment.
(7) 1.0% of interest rate payable in cash. 9.0% of interest rate payable in cash or paid-in-kind at borrower’s election. The borrower is currently paying all interest in cash.
(8) The investment has a $2.5 million unfunded commitment.
(9) The cash rate equals the approximate current yield on our last-out portion of the unitranche facility.
(10) The investment has a $1.0 million unfunded commitment.
(11) The investment has a $3.5 million unfunded commitment.
(12) The investment has been exited or sold. The residual value reflects estimated earnout, escrow, or other proceeds expected post-closing.
(13) The investment has a $4.0 million unfunded commitment.
(14) The investment has a $5.0 million unfunded commitment.
(15) Investment is valued using observable inputs (Level 1). The stock of the company is traded on the NASDAQ Capital Market under the ticker “USWS.”
(16) The equity investment is income producing, based on rate disclosed.
(17) 15.0% of interest rate payable in cash or paid-in-kind at borrower’s election.
(18) “Affiliate Company” as defined under the 1940 Act.
(19) “Control Company” as defined under the 1940 Act.
(20) The investment has a $7.0 million unfunded commitment.
(21) The investment has a $0.1 million unfunded commitment.
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MANAGEMENT

The information in “Proposal I: Election of Director” in our Proxy Statement on Form DEF 14A filed on July 23, 2021 is incorporated herein by
reference.

The management of our investment portfolio is the responsibility of Mount Logan and the Logan Ridge investment team (the “LRFC Investment
Team”). All investment decisions require the majority approval of the Mount Logan Investment Committee. The LRFC Investment Team sources, identifies
and diligences investment opportunities and presents the opportunity to the Mount Logan Investment Committee for approval. The Mount Logan
Investment Committee is currently comprised of three members of BC Partners Credit (“BCP Credit”) (Ted Goldthorpe, Matthias Ederer and Henry Wang),
and one member of BC Partners Private Equity (Raymond Svider). The Mount Logan Investment Committee meets regularly to review the opportunities
presented by the LRFC Investment Team. Follow-on investments in existing portfolio companies may require the Mount Logan’s Investment Committee
approval beyond that obtained when the initial investment in the company was made. In addition, temporary investments, such as those in cash equivalents,
U.S. government securities and other high quality debt investments that mature in one year or less, may require approval by the Mount Logan Investment
Committee. The Board, including a majority of the Independent Directors, oversees and monitors the investment performance and, beginning with the
second anniversary of the effective date of the Investment Advisory Agreement, will annually review the compensation Logan Ridge pays to Mount Logan.

None of Mount Logan’s investment professionals receive any direct compensation from Logan Ridge in connection with the management of Logan
Ridge’s portfolio.

The following individuals (the “LRFC Portfolio Managers”) have senior responsibility for the management of our investment portfolio: Ted
Goldthorpe, Matthias Ederer, Henry Wang, Raymond Svider and Patrick Schafer. Mr. Schafer is Logan Ridge’s Chief Investment Officer and has primary
responsibility for the day-to-day implementation and management of Logan Ridge’s investment portfolio.

Biographical information regarding members of the LRFC Portfolio Managers who are not directors or executive officers of Logan Ridge is as
follows:

Matthias Ederer

Mr. Ederer is a founding partner of BC Partners Credit, having previously been a partner and founding team member of Wingspan Investment
Management, which he joined in 2013. Prior to Wingspan, he spent seven years in Goldman Sachs’ Special Situations Group and Bank Loan Distressed
Investing Group in New York and London.

Henry Wang

Mr. Wang is a founding partner of BC Partners Credit, having formerly been a Partner at Stonerise Capital Partners where he spent over five years.
Previously, he worked for over seven years at Goldman Sachs in its Special Situations Group and Investment Banking Division. Mr. Wang also worked for
Vulcan Capital (Paul Allen’s investment firm, co-founder of Microsoft) and Thomas Weisel Partners.

Raymond Svider

Mr. Svider is a Partner and Chairman of BC Partners. He joined BC Partners in Paris in 1992 before moving to the London office in 2000 to lead its
investments in the technology and telecoms industries. Mr. Svider then relocated to New York in 2008. Previously, Mr. Svider worked in investment
banking at Wasserstein Perella in New York and Paris, and at the Boston Consulting Group in Chicago
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Equity Securities

The dollar range of equity securities in Logan Ridge beneficially owned at December 31, 2020 by each member of the Mount Logan Investment
Committee is as follows:
 

Name   

Dollar Range of
Equity Securities in

Logan Ridge(1)

Matthias Ederer   None
Ted Goldthorpe   None
Patrick Schafer   None
Raymond Svider   None
Henry Wang   None

 
(1) Dollar ranges are as follows: None; $1 — $10,000; $10,001 — $50,000; $50,001 — $100,000; $100,001 — $500,000; $500,001 — $1,000,000 or

Over $1,000,000.

Other Accounts Managed

The information below lists the number of other accounts for which each portfolio manager was primarily responsible for the day-to-day
management as of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020.
 

Name of Mount Logan
Portfolio Manager  Type of Accounts  

Total No.
of Other
Accounts
Managed  

Total Other
Assets

(in millions)(1)  

No. of Other
Accounts

where
Advisory

Fee
is Based on

Performance  

Total
Assets in

Other
Accounts

where
Advisory

Fee is
Based on

Performance
(in millions)(2) 

Matthias Ederer  Registered Investment Companies   3  $ 969   3  $ 969 
 Other Pooled Investment Vehicles   5  $ 1,444   5  $ 1,444 
 Other Accounts   5  $ 1,007   4  $ 911 

Ted Goldthorpe  Registered Investment Companies   3  $ 969   3  $ 969 
 Other Pooled Investment Vehicles   5  $ 1,444   5  $ 1,444 
 Other Accounts   5  $ 1,007   4  $ 911 

Patrick Schafer  Registered Investment Companies   1  $ 600   1  $ 600 
 Other Pooled Investment Vehicles   —     —     —     —   
 Other Accounts   —     —     —     —   

Raymond Svider  Registered Investment Companies   3  $ 969   3  $ 969 
 Other Pooled Investment Vehicles   5  $ 1,444   5  $ 1,444 
 Other Accounts   5  $ 1,007   4  $ 911 

Henry Wang  Registered Investment Companies   3  $ 969   3  $ 969 
 Other Pooled Investment Vehicles   5  $ 1,444   5  $ 1,444 
 Other Accounts   5  $ 1,007   4  $ 911 

 
(1) Total Other Assets as defined by BCP, which includes undrawn commitments.
(2) Represents the assets under management of the accounts managed that have the potential to generate fees in addition to management fees based on

total assets.

Compensation

BC Partner’s financial arrangements with the LRFC Portfolio Managers its competitive compensation and its career path emphasis at all levels reflect
the value senior management places on key resources. Compensation
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may include a variety of components and may vary from year to year based on a number of factors. The principal components of compensation include
base compensation and performance-based, discretionary compensation.

Base Compensation: Generally, the LRFC Portfolio Managers receive base compensation based on their position with the firm that is consistent with
the market rate of annual salaries paid to similarly situated investment professionals.

Discretionary Compensation: The LRFC Portfolio Managers also receive discretionary compensation generally consisting of two components: an
annual bonus and carried interest.
 

 
•  Annual Bonus: Generally, a LRFC Portfolio Manager receives an annual bonus based on the performance of BC Partners, the performance of

the LRFC Portfolio Managers’ group within BC Partners and the individual’s performance, achievement of certain internal objectives and
contribution to the overall performance of these portfolios and BC Partners as a whole.

 

 •  Carried Interest: Generally, a LRFC Portfolio Manager receives carried interests with respect to the BC Partners-advised funds, subject to
standard terms and conditions, including vesting.

Recent Developments

On November 9, 2021, Jason T. Roos was replaced as Secretary and Treasurer of the Company by Brandon Satoren, who was also appointed as Chief
Accounting Officer. Mr. Roos will continue to serve as Chief Financial Officer of the Company.

Mr. Satoren, 33, joined BC Partners, in May 2021 as a member of the Credit Control team. In this role, he is responsible for directing accounting
policy, execution and oversight of financial and non-financial reporting process, as well as other various finance, operations, governance and compliance
responsibilities for BC Partners’ credit strategies. Mr. Satoren previously was a Vice President and Controller at PennantPark, a Vice President at AQR
Capital Management, LLC and a Manager at PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. He earned a Bachelor of Science in Accounting from the University of Central
Florida in 2010. Mr. Satoren is a Certified Public Accountant licensed to practice in Colorado and is a member of the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.
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CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND TRANSACTIONS

Transactions with Related Persons

Investment Advisory Agreement and Administrative Agreement

The Company is externally managed by the Investment Adviser, an affiliate of BC Partners, pursuant to the Investment Advisory Agreement.
Mr. Goldthorpe, an interested members of the Board, has a direct or indirect pecuniary interest in the Investment Adviser. The Investment Adviser is
a registered investment adviser under the Advisers Act. The Adviser is an affiliate of BC Partners Advisors L.P. for U.S. regulatory purposes. MLC is
the ultimate control person of the Investment Adviser.

Under the Investment Advisory Agreement, fees payable to the Investment Adviser equal (i) the Base Management Fee and (ii) the Incentive Fee.
Unless earlier terminated as described below, the Investment Advisory Agreement will remain in effect from year-to-year if approved annually by a
majority of the Board or by the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares, and, in each case, a majority of the independent directors.

Pursuant to the Administration Agreement, the Administrator provides administrative services to the Company necessary for the operations of the
Company, which include providing to the Company office facilities, equipment and clerical, bookkeeping and record keeping services at such facilities and
such other services as the Administrator, subject to review by the Board, shall from time to time deem to be necessary or useful to perform its obligations
under the applicable Administration Agreement. The Administrator also provides to the Company portfolio collection functions for and is responsible for
the financial and other records that the Company is required to maintain and prepares, prints and disseminates reports to the Company’s stockholders and
reports and all other materials filed with the SEC.

For providing these services, facilities and personnel, the Company reimburses the Administrator the allocable portion of overhead and other
expenses incurred by the Administrator in performing its obligations under the Administration Agreement, including the Company’s allocable portion of
the costs of compensation and related expenses of its chief financial officer and chief compliance officer and their respective staffs.

Review, Approval or Ratification of Transactions with Related Persons

The independent directors of the Company are required to review, approve or ratify any transactions with related persons (as such term is defined in
Item 404 of Regulation S-K).

Director Independence

In accordance with rules of Nasdaq and Section 2(a)(19) of the 1940 Act, the Board annually determines the independence of each director. No
director is considered independent unless the Board has determined that he or she has no material relationship with the Company. The Company monitors
the status of its directors and officers through the activities of the Company’s Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee and through a
questionnaire to be completed by each director no less frequently than annually, with updates periodically if information provided in the most recent
questionnaire has materially changed.

In order to evaluate the materiality of any such relationship, the Board uses the definition of director independence set forth in the Nasdaq listing
rules. Section 5605 provides that a director of a business development company shall be considered to be independent if he or she is not an “interested
person” of the Company, as defined in Section 2(a)(19) of the 1940 Act. Section 2(a)(19) of the 1940 Act defines an “interested person” to include, among
other things, any person who has, or within the last two years had, a material business or professional relationship with the Company.

The Board has determined that each of the current directors is, and each director that served during fiscal year 2020, was independent and has no
relationship with the Company, except as a director and stockholder of the Company, with the exception of Mr. Goldthorpe.
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CONTROL PERSONS AND PRINCIPAL STOCKHOLDERS

The following table sets forth, as of December 10, 2021, as to each class of equity securities of the Company, beneficially owned by all directors and
each of the named executive officers, along with each person known to us to beneficially own 5% or more of the outstanding shares of our common stock,
and the directors and executive officers of the Company as a group.

Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC and includes voting or investment power with respect to the securities.
Ownership information for those persons who beneficially own 5% or more of our shares of common stock, if any, is based upon Schedule 13G and
Schedule 13D filings by such persons with the SEC and other information obtained from such persons, if available.

Unless otherwise indicated, Logan Ridge believes that each beneficial owner set forth in the table has sole voting and investment power and has the
same address as Logan Ridge. Our address is 650 Madison Avenue, 23rd Floor, New York, New York 10022.
 

Name of Beneficial Owner   

Number of
Shares

Beneficially
Owned(1)    

Percentage
of Class(2)  

Interested Directors     
Ted Goldthorpe    —          * 

Independent Directors     
Alexander Duka    —          * 
George Grunebaum    —          * 
Robert Warshauer    —          * 

Executive Officers     
Jason Roos    —          * 
Patrick Schafer    1,000        * 
David Held    —          * 
Brandon Satoren    35        * 
Executive Officers and Directors as a Group    1,035        * 

 
* Represents less than one percent.
(1) Beneficial ownership has been determined in accordance with Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act. Assumes no other purchases or sales of our

common stock since the most recently available SEC filings. This assumption has been made under the rules and regulations of the SEC and does not
reflect any knowledge that we have with regard to the present intent of the beneficial owners of our common stock listed in this table.

(2) Based on a total of 2,711,068 shares of our common stock issued and outstanding on December 10, 2021.

Set forth below is the dollar range of equity securities beneficially owned by each of our directors as of December 10, 2021. We are not part of a
“family of investment companies,” as that term is defined in the 1940 Act.
 

Name of Director   

Dollar Range of Equity
Securities in Logan

Ridge(1)(2)  
Interested Directors   
Ted Goldthorpe    None  

Independent Directors   
Alexander Duka    None  
George Grunebaum    None  
Robert Warshauer    None  
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(1) Dollar ranges are as follows: None, $1 — $10,000, $10,001 — $50,000, $50,001 — $100,000, or Over $100,000.
(2) The dollar range of equity securities beneficially owned in us is based on the closing price for our common stock of $23.52 on December 10, 2021 on

the NASDAQ Global Select Market. Beneficial ownership has been determined in accordance with Rule 16a-1(a)(2) of the Exchange Act.
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REGULATION AS A BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT COMPANY

General

A BDC is regulated under the 1940 Act. A BDC must be organized in the U.S. for the purpose of investing in or lending to primarily private
companies and making significant managerial assistance available to them. A BDC may use capital provided by public stockholders and from other sources
to make long-term, private investments in businesses. A BDC provides stockholders the ability to retain the liquidity of a publicly traded stock while
sharing in the possible benefits, if any, of investing in primarily privately owned companies.

We may not change the nature of our business so as to cease to be, or withdraw our election as, a BDC unless authorized by vote of a majority of the
outstanding voting securities, as required by the 1940 Act. A majority of the outstanding voting securities of a company is defined under the 1940 Act as
the lesser of: (a) 67% or more of such company’s voting securities present at a meeting if more than 50% of the outstanding voting securities of such
company are present or represented by proxy, or (b) more than 50% of the outstanding voting securities of such company. We do not anticipate any
substantial change in the nature of our business.

As with other companies regulated by the 1940 Act, a BDC must adhere to certain substantive regulatory requirements. A majority of our directors
must be persons who are not interested persons, as that term is defined in the 1940 Act. Additionally, we are required to provide and maintain a bond issued
by a reputable fidelity insurance company to protect the BDC. Furthermore, as a BDC, we are prohibited from protecting any director or officer against any
liability to us or our stockholders arising from willful misfeasance, bad faith, gross negligence or reckless disregard of the duties involved in the conduct of
such person’s office.

As a BDC, we are generally required to meet an asset coverage ratio, defined under the 1940 Act as the ratio of our gross assets (less all liabilities
and indebtedness not represented by senior securities) to our outstanding senior securities, of at least 200% (or, after November 1, 2019, 150%, if certain
conditions are met) after each issuance of senior securities. On March 23, 2018, the Small Business Credit Availability Act (the “SBCA”) was signed into
law, which included various changes to regulations under the federal securities laws that impact BDCs. The SBCA included changes to the 1940 Act to
allow BDCs to decrease their asset coverage requirement from 200% to 150% (i.e. the amount of debt may not exceed 66.7% of the value of our total
assets), if certain requirements are met. On November 1, 2018, the Board, including a “required majority” (as such term is defined in Section 57(o) of the
1940 Act) approved the application of the modified asset coverage. As a result, our asset coverage requirements for senior securities was changed from
200% to 150%, effective November 1, 2019. We are required to make certain disclosures on our website and in SEC filings regarding, among other things,
the receipt of approval to reduce our asset coverage requirement, our leverage capacity and usage, and risks related to leverage.

We may also be prohibited under the 1940 Act from knowingly participating in certain transactions with our affiliates without the prior approval of
our directors who are not interested persons and, in some cases, prior approval by the SEC. As a BDC, we are also generally limited in our ability to invest
in any portfolio company in which our Investment Adviser or any of its affiliates currently have an investment or to make any co-investments with our
Investment Adviser or its affiliates without an exemptive order from the SEC, subject to certain exceptions. On October 23, 2018, the SEC issued an order
granting an application for exemptive relief to an affiliate of our Investment Adviser that allows BDCs managed by the Investment Adviser, including
Logan Ridge, to co-invest, subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, in certain private placement transactions, with other funds managed by the
Investment Adviser or its affiliates and any future funds that are advised by the Investment Adviser or its affiliated investment advisers. Under the terms of
the exemptive order, in order for Logan Ridge to participate in a co-investment transaction, a “required majority” (as defined in Section 57(o) of the 1940
Act) of Logan Ridge’s independent directors must conclude that (i) the terms of the proposed transaction, including the consideration to be paid, are
reasonable and fair to Logan Ridge and its stockholders and do not involve overreaching with respect of Logan Ridge or its stockholders on the part of any
person
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concerned, and (ii) the proposed transaction is consistent with the interests of the Logan Ridge’s stockholders and is consistent with the Logan Ridge’s
investment objectives and strategies and certain criteria established by the Board. We believe this relief may not only enhance our ability to further our
investment objectives and strategies, but may also increase favorable investment opportunities for us, in part by allowing us to participate in larger
investments, together with our co-investment affiliates, than would be available to us in the absence of such relief.

We are generally not permitted to issue and sell our common stock at a price below net asset value per share. See “Risk Factors — Risks Relating to
Our Business and Structure — Regulations governing our operation as a BDC affect our ability to raise additional capital and the way in which we do so.
As a BDC, the necessity of raising additional capital may expose us to risks, including the typical risks associated with leverage.” We may, however, sell
our common stock, or warrants, options or rights to acquire our common stock, at a price below the then-current net asset value of our common stock if our
Board of Directors determines that such sale is in our best interests and the best interests of our stockholders, and our stockholders approve our policy and
practice of making such sales. In any such case, under such circumstances, the price at which our common stock is to be issued and sold may not be less
than a price which, in the determination of our Board of Directors, closely approximates the market value of such common stock. In addition, we may
generally issue new shares of our common stock at a price below net asset value in rights offerings to existing stockholders, in payment of dividends and in
certain other limited circumstances.

We will be periodically examined by the SEC for compliance with the 1940 Act.

As a BDC, we are subject to certain risks and uncertainties. See “Risk Factors — Risks Relating to Our Business and Structure.”

Qualifying Assets

Under the 1940 Act, a BDC may not acquire any asset other than assets of the type listed in Section 55(a) of the 1940 Act, which are referred to as
qualifying assets, unless, immediately of the such acquisition is made, qualifying assets represent at least 70% of the BDC’s gross assets. The principal
categories of qualifying assets relevant to our business are the following:
 

 •  Securities purchased in transactions not involving any public offering, the issuer of which is an eligible portfolio company;
 

 •  Securities received in exchange for or distributed with respect to securities described in the bullet above or pursuant to the exercise of options,
warrants or rights relating to such securities; and

 

 •  Cash, cash items, government securities or high quality debt securities (within the meaning of the 1940 Act), maturing in one year or less
from the time of investment.

An eligible portfolio company is generally a domestic company that is not an investment company (other than a SBIC wholly owned by a BDC) and
that meets one the follow requirements:
 

 •  does not have a class of securities with respect to which a broker may extend margin credit at the time the acquisition is made;
 

 •  is controlled by the BDC and has an affiliate of the BDC on its board of directors;
 

 •  does not have any class of securities listed on a national securities exchange;
 

 •  is a public company that lists its securities on a national securities exchange with a market capitalization of less than $250 million; or
 

 •  meets such other criteria as may be established by the SEC.
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Control, as defined by the 1940 Act, is presumed to exist where a BDC beneficially owns more than 25% of the outstanding voting securities of the
portfolio company.

In addition, a BDC must have been organized and have its principal place of business in the United States and must be operated for the purpose of
making investments in eligible portfolio companies, or in other securities that are consistent with its purpose as a BDC.

Significant Managerial Assistance to Portfolio Companies

BDCs generally must offer to make available to the issuer of its securities significant managerial assistance, except in circumstances where either
(i) the BDC controls such issuer of securities or (ii) the BDC purchases such securities in conjunction with one or more other persons acting together and
one of the other persons in the group makes available such managerial assistance. Making available significant managerial assistance means, among other
things, any arrangement whereby the BDC through its directors, officers or employees offers to provide, and, if accepted, does so provide, significant
guidance and counsel concerning the management, operations or business objectives and policies of a portfolio company.

Temporary Investments

Pending investment in other types of “qualifying assets,” as described above, our investments may consist of cash, cash equivalents, U.S.
government securities or high-quality debt securities maturing in one year or less from the time of investment, which we refer to, collectively, as temporary
investments, so that 70% of our assets are qualifying assets. Typically, we will invest in U.S. Treasury bills or in repurchase agreements, provided that such
agreements are fully collateralized by cash or securities issued by the U.S. government or its agencies. A repurchase agreement involves the purchase by an
investor, such as us, of a specified security and the simultaneous agreement by the seller to repurchase it at an agreed-upon future date and at a price which
is greater than the purchase price by an amount that reflects an agreed-upon interest rate. There is no percentage restriction on the proportion of our assets
that may be invested in such repurchase agreements. However, if more than 25% of our gross assets constitute repurchase agreements from a single
counterparty, we would not meet the diversification tests in order to qualify as a RIC under the Code. Thus, we do not intend to enter into repurchase
agreements with a single counterparty in excess of this limit. Our investment adviser will monitor the creditworthiness of the counterparties with which we
enter into repurchase agreement transactions.

Senior Securities

We are permitted, under specified conditions, to issue multiple classes of indebtedness and one class of stock senior to our common stock if our asset
coverage, as defined in the 1940 Act, is at least equal to 200% (or 150%, if certain requirements are met, after November 1, 2019) immediately after each
such issuance. While any senior securities remain outstanding, we must make provisions to prohibit any distribution to our stockholders or the repurchase
of such securities or shares unless we meet the applicable asset coverage ratios at the time of the distribution or repurchase. We may also borrow amounts
up to 5% of the value of our gross assets for temporary or emergency purposes without regard to asset coverage. For a discussion of the risks associated
with leverage, see “Risk Factors — Risks Relating to Our Business and Structure.”

Code of Ethics

We and our investment adviser have adopted a code of ethics pursuant to Rule 17j-1 under the 1940 Act and Rule 204A-1 under the Advisers Act
that establishes procedures for personal investments and restricts certain transactions by our personnel. Our code of ethics generally does not permit
investments by our employees in securities that may be purchased or held by us. The code of ethics is attached as an exhibit to the registration statement of
which this prospectus is a part, and is available on the EDGAR Database on the SEC’s website at http://www.sec.gov. Our code of ethics is also available
on our website at http://loganridgefinance.com/.
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Compliance Policies and Procedures

We and our investment adviser have adopted and implemented written policies and procedures reasonably designed to detect and prevent violation of
the federal securities laws and are required to review these compliance policies and procedures annually for their adequacy and the effectiveness of their
implementation and designate a chief compliance officer to be responsible for administering the policies and procedures. David Held currently serves as
our chief compliance officer. For Mr. Held’s biographical information, please see “Management — Biographical Information.”

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 imposes a wide variety of regulatory requirements on publicly-held companies and their insiders. Many of these
requirements affect us. For example:
 

 •  pursuant to Rule 13a-14 of the Exchange Act, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer must certify the accuracy of the financial
statements contained in our periodic reports;

 

 •  pursuant to Item 307 of Regulation S-K, our periodic reports must disclose our conclusions about the effectiveness of our disclosure controls
and procedures;

 

 •  pursuant to Rule 13a-15 of the Exchange Act, our management is required to prepare an annual report regarding its assessment of our internal
control over financial reporting; and

 

 
•  pursuant to Item 308 of Regulation S-K and Rule 13a-15 of the 1934 Act, our periodic reports must disclose whether there were significant

changes in our internal controls over financial reporting or in other factors that could significantly affect these controls subsequent to the date
of their evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires us to review our current policies and procedures to determine whether we comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and
the regulations promulgated thereunder. We will continue to monitor our compliance with all regulations that are adopted under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
and will take actions necessary to ensure that we are in compliance therewith.

Proxy Voting Policies and Procedures

Although the securities we hold are not typically voting securities, some of our investments could entitle us to voting rights. If this were to occur the
Investment Adviser would vote its portfolio securities in the best interest of our stockholders and the Investment Adviser would review on a case-by-case
basis each proposal submitted to a stockholder vote to determine its impact on the portfolio securities held by us. Although the Investment Adviser would
generally vote against proposals that it believes may have a negative impact on our portfolio securities, the Adviser may vote for such a proposal if it were
to believe there exists a compelling long-term reason to do so.

Our voting decisions would be made by the Investment Adviser, subject to authority assigned under our Investment Advisory Agreement. To ensure
that the Investment Adviser’s vote would not be the product of a conflict of interest, we would require that (1) anyone involved in the decision making
process disclose to our Board any potential conflict that he or she is aware of and any contact that he or she has had with any interested party regarding a
vote; and (2) employees involved in the decision making process or vote administration are prohibited from revealing how we intend to vote on a proposal
to reduce any attempted influence from interested parties.

Privacy Principles

We are committed to maintaining the privacy of our stockholders and safeguarding their non-public personal information. The following information
is provided to help you understand what personal information we collect, how we protect that information and why, in certain cases, we may share
information with select other parties.
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Generally, we do not receive any non-public personal information relating to our stockholders, although some non-public personal information of our
stockholders may become available to us. We do not disclose any non-public personal information about our stockholders or former stockholders to
anyone, except as is necessary to service stockholder accounts, such as to a transfer agent, or as otherwise permitted by law.

NASDAQ Global Select Market Requirements

We have adopted certain policies and procedures intended to comply with the NASDAQ Global Select Market’s corporate governance rules. We will
continue to monitor our compliance with all future listing standards that are approved by the SEC and will take actions necessary to ensure that we are in
compliance therewith.
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DETERMINATION OF NET ASSET VALUE

The net asset value per share of our outstanding shares of common stock is determined quarterly by dividing the value of total assets minus liabilities
by the total number of shares of common stock outstanding at the date as of which the determination is made. Accordingly, under current accounting
standards, the notes to our financial statements incorporated by reference in this prospectus refer to the uncertainty with respect to the possible effect of
such valuations, and any change in such valuations, on our financial statements.

In calculating the value of our total assets, investments for which market quotations are readily available are valued using market quotations, which
are generally obtained from an independent pricing service or one or more broker-dealers or market makers. Debt and equity securities for which market
quotations are not readily available or are determined to be unreliable are valued at fair value as determined in good faith by our board of directors.
Because we expect that there will not be a readily available market value for many of the investments in our portfolio, we expect to value many of our
portfolio investments at fair value as determined in good faith by our board of directors in accordance with a documented valuation policy that has been
reviewed and approved by our board of directors and in accordance with GAAP. Due to the inherent uncertainty of determining the fair value of
investments that do not have a readily available market value, the fair value of our investments may differ significantly from the values that would have
been used had a readily available market value existed for such investments, and the differences could be material.

With respect to investments for which market quotations are not readily available, our board of directors undertakes a multi-step valuation process
each quarter, as described below:
 

 •  the Company’s quarterly valuation process begins with each portfolio company or investment being initially valued by the investment
professionals responsible for managing portfolio investments;

 

 •  preliminary valuation conclusions are then documented and are reviewed with the Mount Logan Investment Committee;
 

 •  valuation recommendations are then discussed with the pricing committee of the Advisor;
 

 
•  to the extent determined by the audit committee of the Company’s board of directors, independent valuation firms are used to conduct

independent appraisals of all “Level 3” investments and review the Advisor’s preliminary valuations in light of their own independent
assessment unless the amounts are immaterial or have closed near quarter-end;

 

 
•  the audit committee of the Company’s board of directors reviews the preliminary valuations approved by the pricing committee of the

investment adviser and such valuations provided by the independent valuation firms and, if necessary, responds and supplements the
valuation recommendation of the independent valuation firms to reflect any comments; and

 

 •  the Company’s board of directors discusses valuations and determines the fair value of each investment in the Company’s portfolio in good
faith based on the input of the investment adviser, the respective independent valuation firms and the audit committee.

The types of factors that the Company may take into account in fair value pricing its investments include, as relevant, the nature and realizable value
of any collateral, the portfolio company’s ability to make payments and its earnings and discounted cash flows, the markets in which the portfolio company
does business, comparison to publicly traded securities and other relevant factors. The Company generally utilizes an income approach to value its debt
investments and a combination of income and market approaches to value its equity investments. With respect to unquoted securities, the Advisor and the
Company’s board of directors, in consultation with the Company’s independent third party valuation firms, values each investment considering, among
other measures, discounted cash flow models, comparisons of financial ratios of peer companies that are public and other factors, which valuation is then
approved by the board of directors.
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For debt investments, the Company generally determines the fair value primarily using an income, or yield, approach that analyzes the discounted
cash flows of interest and principal for the debt security, as set forth in the associated loan agreements, as well as the financial position and credit risk of
each portfolio investment. The Company’s estimate of the expected repayment date is generally the legal maturity date of the instrument. The yield analysis
considers changes in leverage levels, credit quality, portfolio company performance and other factors. The enterprise value, a market approach, is generally
used to determine the value of equity and debt investments that are credit impaired, close to maturity or where the Company also holds a controlling equity
interest. The method for determining enterprise value uses a multiple analysis, whereby appropriate multiples are applied to the portfolio company’s
revenues or net income before net interest expense, income tax expense, depreciation and amortization, or EBITDA.

Equity

We use a combination of the income and market approaches to value our equity investments. The market approach uses prices and other relevant
information generated by market transactions involving identical or comparable assets or liabilities (including a business). The income approach uses
valuation techniques to convert future cash flows or earnings to a single present amount (discounted). The measurement is based on the value indicated by
current market expectations about those future amounts. In following these approaches, the types of factors that we may take into account in fair value
pricing our investments include, as relevant: available current market data, including relevant and applicable market trading and transaction comparables,
applicable market yields and multiples, the current investment performance rating, security covenants, call protection provisions, information rights, the
nature and realizable value of any collateral, the portfolio company’s ability to make payments, its earnings and discounted cash flows, the markets in
which the portfolio company does business, comparisons of financial ratios of peer companies that are public, transaction comparables, our principal
market as the reporting entity, and enterprise values, among other factors.

Investments in Funds

In circumstances in which net asset value per share of an investment is determinative of fair value, we estimate the fair value of an investment in an
investment company using the net asset value per share of the investment (or its equivalent) without further adjustment if the net asset value per share of
the investment is determined in accordance with the specialized accounting guidance for investment companies as of the reporting entity’s measurement
date.

In accordance with the authoritative guidance on fair value measurements and disclosures under GAAP, we disclose the fair value of our investments
in a hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements).
The guidance establishes three levels of the fair value hierarchy as follows:
 

 •  Level l — Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical, unrestricted assets or
liabilities;

 

 •  Level 2 — Quoted prices in markets that are not considered to be active or financial instruments for which significant inputs are observable,
either directly or indirectly;

 

 •  Level 3 — Prices or valuations that require inputs that are both significant to the fair value measurement and unobservable.

The level of an asset or liability within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that is significant to the fair value
measurement. However, the determination of what constitutes “observable” requires significant judgment by management. For more information about our
fair value measurements, see Note 3 “Investments” in Part II, Item 8 of our Consolidated Financial Statements in our most recent Annual Report on Form
10-K and Note 3 “Investments” of our Consolidated Financial Statements in in Part I, Item 1 of our most recent Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, which is
incorporated by reference into this prospectus.
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We consider whether the volume and level of activity for the asset or liability have significantly decreased and identify transactions that are not
orderly in determining fair value. Accordingly, if we determine that either the volume and/or level of activity for an asset or liability has significantly
decreased (from normal conditions for that asset or liability) or price quotations or observable inputs are not associated with orderly transactions, increased
analysis and management judgment will be required to estimate fair value. Valuation techniques such as an income approach might be appropriate to
supplement or replace a market approach in those circumstances.

We have adopted the authoritative guidance under GAAP for estimating the fair value of investments in investment companies that have calculated
net asset value per share in accordance with the specialized accounting guidance for Investment Companies. Accordingly, in circumstances in which net
asset value per share of an investment is determinative of fair value, we estimate the fair value of an investment in an investment company using the net
asset value per share of the investment (or its equivalent) without further adjustment if the net asset value per share of the investment is determined in
accordance with the specialized accounting guidance for investment companies as of the reporting entity’s measurement date. Redemptions are not
generally permitted in our investments in funds.

Determinations in connection with offerings

In connection with certain offerings of shares of our common stock, our board of directors or one of its committees may be required to make the
determination that we are not selling shares of our common stock at a price below the then current net asset value of our common stock at the time at which
the sale is made. Our board of directors or the applicable committee will consider the following factors, among others, in making any such determination:
    
 

 •  the net asset value of our common stock most recently disclosed by us in the most recent periodic report that we filed with the SEC;
 

 
•  our investment adviser’s assessment of whether any material change in the net asset value of our common stock has occurred (including

through the realization of gains on the sale of our portfolio securities) during the period beginning on the date of the most recently disclosed
net asset value of our common stock and ending two days prior to the date of the sale of our common stock; and

 

 
•  the magnitude of the difference between the net asset value of our common stock most recently disclosed by us and our investment adviser’s

assessment of any material change in the net asset value of our common stock since that determination, and the offering price of the shares of
our common stock in the proposed offering.

Importantly, this determination will not require that we calculate the net asset value of our common stock in connection with each offering of shares
of our common stock, but instead it will involve the determination by our board of directors or a committee thereof that we are not selling shares of our
common stock at a price below the then current net asset value of our common stock at the time at which the sale is made or otherwise in violation of the
1940 Act.

These processes and procedures are part of our compliance policies and procedures. Records will be made contemporaneously with all
determinations described in this section and these records will be maintained with other records that we are required to maintain under the 1940 Act.
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DIVIDEND REINVESTMENT PLAN

Please refer to “Distributions” in Part II, Item 5 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 8, 2021, which is incorporated into this
prospectus by reference, for more information regarding our dividend reinvestment plan.
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CERTAIN U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS

The following discussion is a general summary of certain material U.S. federal income tax considerations applicable to us and the purchase,
ownership and disposition of our common stock, preferred stock and debt securities. This discussion does not purport to be complete or to deal with all
aspects of U.S. federal income taxation that may be relevant to stockholders or debtholders in light of their particular circumstances. Unless otherwise
noted, this discussion applies only to U.S. stockholders that hold our common stock or preferred stock as capital assets (within the meaning of Section 1221
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”)) and to debt securities held as capital assets by persons who purchase the debt securities
for cash upon original issuance at their “issue price” (the first price at which a substantial amount of the debt securities is sold for money to investors,
excluding sales to bond houses, brokers or similar persons or organizations acting in the capacity of underwriter, placement agent or wholesaler). As used
herein, a U.S. holder is a beneficial owner of the stock or debt securities that is:
 

 •  an individual who is a citizen or resident of the United States,
 

 •  a corporation (or any other entity treated as a corporation for United States federal income tax purposes) that is created or organized in or
under the laws of the United States, any state thereof or the District of Columbia,

 

 •  an estate the income of which is subject to United States federal income taxation regardless of its source; or
 

 
•  a trust if it (a) is subject to the primary supervision of a court in the United States and one or more U.S. persons have the authority to control

all substantial decisions of the trust or (b) has made a valid election to be treated as a U.S. person, or any estate the income of which is subject
to U.S. federal income tax regardless of its source.

The term “non-U.S. holder” means a beneficial owner of the Debt securitis (other than an entity or arrangement treated as a partnership for United States
federal income tax purposes) that is not a U.S. holder.

If a partnership (or other entity or arrangement treated as a partnership for United States federal income tax purposes) holds the debt securities, the tax
treatment of a partner generally will depend upon the status of the partner and the activities of the partnership. If you are a partnership or a partner of a
partnership considering an investment in the debt securities, you should consult your tax advisors.

This discussion is based upon present provisions of the Code, the regulations promulgated thereunder, and judicial and administrative ruling authorities, all
of which are subject to change, or differing interpretations (possibly with retroactive effect). We have not and will not seek any rulings from the Internal
Revenue Service (“IRS”) regarding the matters discussed below. There can be no assurance that the IRS will not take positions concerning the tax
consequences of the purchase, ownership or disposition of the common or preferred stock or debt securities that are different from those discussed below.
This discussion does not represent a detailed description of the U.S. federal income tax consequences relevant to special classes of taxpayers including,
without limitation, financial institutions, insurance companies, partnerships or other pass-through entities (or investors therein), U.S. stockholders whose
“functional currency” is not the U.S. dollar, tax-exempt organizations, real estate investment trusts, “controlled foreign corporations,” “passive foreign
investment companies,” dealers in securities or currencies, traders in securities or commodities that elect mark to market treatment, U.S. expatriates, or
persons that will hold our common stock or preferred stock as a position in a “straddle,” “hedge” or as part of a “constructive sale” for U.S. federal income
tax purposes. In addition, this discussion does not address the application of the Medicare tax on net investment income or the U.S. federal alternative
minimum tax, or any tax consequences attributable to persons being required to accelerate the recognition of any item of gross income with respect to our
common or preferred stock or debt securities as a result of such income being recognized on an applicable financial statement. Prospective investors should
consult their tax advisors with regard to the U.S. federal tax consequences (including estate and gift tax consequences,
 

54



Table of Contents

which this summary does not address) of the purchase, ownership, or disposition of our common or preferred stock or debt securities, as well as the tax
consequences arising under the laws of any state, foreign country or other taxing jurisdiction.

This summary does not discuss the consequences of an investment in our subscription rights or warrants representing rights to purchase shares of our
preferred stock, common stock or debt securities or as units in combination with such securities. The U.S. federal income tax consequences of such an
investment will be discussed in the relevant prospectus supplement and any related free writing prospectus. In addition, we may issue preferred stock with
terms resulting in U.S. federal income taxation of holders with respect to such preferred stock in a manner different from as set forth in this summary. In
such instances, such differences will be discussed in a relevant prospectus supplement or any related free writing prospectus.

The discussion below assumes that all debt securities issued will be classified as our indebtedness for United States federal income tax purposes, and
you should note that in the event of an alternative characterization, the tax consequences to you would differ from those discussed below. We will
summarize any special United States federal tax considerations relevant to a particular issue of the debt securities in the applicable prospectus supplement.

Taxation as a Regulated Investment Company

We have elected to be treated, and intend to qualify each taxable year, as a RIC under Subchapter M of the Code.

To qualify for the favorable tax treatment accorded to RICs under Subchapter M of the Code, the Company must, among other things: (1) have an
election in effect to be treated as a BDC under the 1940 Act at all times during each taxable year; (2) derive in each taxable year at least 90% of its gross
income from (a) dividends, interest, payments with respect to certain securities loans, and gains from the sale or other disposition of stock or securities or
foreign currencies, or other income (including but not limited to gains from options, futures or forward contracts) derived with respect to its business of
investing in such stock, securities, or currencies; and (b) net income derived from an interest in certain publicly traded partnerships that are treated as
partnerships for U.S. federal income tax purposes and that derive less than 90% of their gross income from the items described in (a) above (each, a
“Qualified Publicly Traded Partnership”); and (3) diversify its holdings so that, at the end of each quarter of each taxable year of the Company (a) at least
50% of the value of the Company’s total assets is represented by cash and cash items (including receivables), U.S. government securities and securities of
other RICs, and other securities for purposes of this calculation limited, in respect of any one issuer to an amount not greater in value than 5% of the value
of the Company’s total assets, and to not more than 10% of the outstanding voting securities of such issuer, and (b) not more than 25% of the value of the
Company’s total assets is invested in the securities (other than U.S. government securities or securities of other RICs) of (I) any one issuer, (II) any two or
more issuers which the Company controls and which are determined to be engaged in the same or similar trades or businesses or related trades or
businesses or (III) any one or more Qualified Publicly Traded Partnerships (described in 2b above).

As a RIC, the Company generally will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax on its “investment company taxable income” (as that term is defined
in the Code, but determined without regard to the deduction for dividends paid) and net capital gain (the excess of net long-term capital gain over net short-
term capital loss), if any, that it distributes in each taxable year to its stockholders, provided that it distributes at least 90% of the sum of its investment
company taxable income and its net tax-exempt income for such taxable year. The Company will be subject to U.S. federal income tax at the regular
corporate rates on any income or capital gains not distributed (or deemed distributed) to its stockholders.

Amounts not distributed on a timely basis in accordance with a calendar year distribution requirement are subject to a nondeductible 4% U.S. federal
excise tax. To prevent imposition of the excise tax, the Company
 

55



Table of Contents

must distribute during each calendar year an amount at least equal to the sum of (i) 98% of its ordinary income (not taking into account any capital gains or
losses) for the calendar year, (ii) 98.2% of its capital gains in excess of its capital losses (adjusted for certain ordinary losses) for the one-year period ending
October 31 of the calendar year, and (iii) any ordinary income and capital gains for previous years that were not distributed during those years. For these
purposes, the Company will be deemed to have distributed any income or gains on which it paid U.S. federal income tax.

A distribution will be treated as paid on December 31 of any calendar year if it is declared by the Company in October, November or December with
a record date in such a month and paid by the Company during January of the following calendar year. Such distributions will be taxable to stockholders in
the calendar year in which the distributions are declared, rather than the calendar year in which the distributions are received.

If the Company failed to qualify as a RIC or failed to satisfy the 90% distribution requirement in any taxable year, the Company would be subject to
U.S. federal income tax at regular corporate rates on its taxable income (including distributions of net capital gain), even if such income were distributed to
its stockholders, and all distributions out of earnings and profits would be taxed to stockholders as ordinary dividend income. Such distributions generally
would be eligible (i) to be treated as “qualified dividend income” in the case of individual and other noncorporate stockholders and (ii) for the dividends
received deduction in the case of corporate stockholders. In addition, the Company could be required to recognize unrealized gains, pay taxes and make
distributions (which could be subject to interest charges) before requalifying for taxation as a RIC.

Distributions

Distributions to stockholders by the Company of ordinary income (including “market discount” realized by the Company on the sale of debt
securities), and of net short-term capital gains, if any, realized by the Company will generally be taxable to stockholders as ordinary income to the extent
such distributions are paid out of the Company’s current or accumulated earnings and profits. Distributions, if any, of net capital gains properly reported as
“capital gain dividends” will be taxable as long-term capital gains, regardless of the length of time the stockholder has owned our common stock or
preferred stock. A distribution of an amount in excess of the Company’s current and accumulated earnings and profits (as determined for U.S. federal
income tax purposes) will be treated by a stockholder as a return of capital which will be applied against and reduce the stockholder’s basis in his or her
shares of common stock or preferred stock. To the extent that the amount of any such distribution exceeds the stockholder’s basis in his or her shares of
common stock or preferred stock, the excess will be treated by the stockholder as gain from a sale or exchange of the common stock or preferred stock.
Distributions paid by the Company generally will not be eligible for the dividends received deduction allowed to corporations or for the reduced rates
applicable to certain qualified dividend income received by non-corporate stockholders.

Distributions will be treated in the manner described above regardless of whether such distributions are paid in cash or invested in additional shares
of common stock pursuant to the dividend reinvestment plan. Stockholders receiving distributions in the form of additional shares of common stock will be
treated as receiving a distribution in the amount of cash that they would have received if they had elected to receive the distribution in cash, unless the
Company issues additional shares of common stock with a fair market value equal to or greater than net asset value, in which case, such stockholders will
be treated as receiving a distribution in the amount of the fair market value of the distributed shares of common stock. The additional shares of common
stock received by a stockholder pursuant to the dividend reinvestment plan will have a new holding period commencing on the day following the day on
which the shares of common stock were credited to the stockholder’s account.

The Company may elect to retain its net capital gain or a portion thereof for investment and be taxed at corporate rates on the amount retained. In
such case, it may designate the retained amount as undistributed capital gains in a notice to its stockholders, who will be treated as if each received a
distribution of his pro rata
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share of such gain, with the result that each stockholder will (i) be required to report its pro rata share of such gain on its tax return as long-term capital
gain, (ii) receive a refundable tax credit for its pro rata share of tax paid by the Company on the gain and (iii) increase the tax basis in his or her shares of
common or preferred stock by an amount equal to the deemed distribution less the tax credit.

The Internal Revenue Service, or the IRS, currently requires that a RIC that has two or more classes of stock allocate to each such class proportionate
amounts of each type of its income (such as ordinary income and capital gains) based upon the percentage of total dividends paid to each class for the tax
year. Accordingly, if the Company issues preferred stock, the Company intends to allocate capital gain dividends, if any, between its common stock and
preferred stock in proportion to the total dividends paid to each class with respect to such tax year. Stockholders will be notified annually as to the U.S.
federal tax status of distributions, and stockholders receiving distributions in the form of additional shares of common stock will receive a report as to the
net asset value of those shares.

Nature of the Company’s Investments

Certain of the Company’s investment practices are subject to special and complex U.S. federal income tax provisions that may, among other things,
(i) disallow, suspend or otherwise limit the allowance of certain losses or deductions, (ii) convert lower-taxed long-term capital gain into higher-taxed
short-term capital gain or ordinary income, (iii) convert an ordinary loss or a deduction into a capital loss (the deductibility of which is more limited), (iv)
cause the Company to recognize income or gain without a corresponding receipt of cash, (v) adversely affect the time as to when a purchase or sale of stock
or securities is deemed to occur, (vi) adversely alter the intended characterization of certain complex financial transactions and (vii) produce income that
will not be treated as qualifying income for purposes of the 90% gross income test described above.

These rules could therefore affect the character, amount and timing of distributions to stockholders and the Company’s status as a RIC.

Below Investment Grade Instruments

The Company expects to invest in debt securities that are rated below investment grade by rating agencies or that would be rated below investment
grade if they were rated. Investments in these types of instruments may present special tax issues for the Company. U.S. federal income tax rules are not
entirely clear about issues such as when the Company may cease to accrue interest, original issue discount or market discount, when and to what extent
deductions may be taken for bad debts or worthless instruments, how payments received on obligations in default should be allocated between principal
and income and whether exchanges of debt obligations in a bankruptcy or workout context are taxable. These and other issues will be addressed by the
Company, to the extent necessary, to preserve its status as a RIC and to distribute sufficient income to not become subject to U.S. federal income tax.

Original Issue Discount and Other Accrued Amounts

For federal income tax purposes, we may be required to recognize taxable income in circumstances in which we do not receive a corresponding
payment in cash. For example, if we hold debt obligations that are treated under applicable tax rules as having original issue discount (such as zero coupon
securities, debt instruments with payment-in-kind interest or, in certain cases, increasing interest rates or debt instruments that were issued with warrants),
we must include in income each year a portion of the original issue discount that accrues over the life of the obligation, regardless of whether cash
representing such income is received by us in the same taxable year. We may also have to include in income other amounts that we have not yet received in
cash, such as deferred loan origination fees that are paid after origination of the loan or are paid in non-cash compensation such as warrants or stock.
Because any original issue discount or other amounts accrued will be included in our investment company taxable income for the year of the accrual, we
may be required to make a distribution to our
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stockholders in order to satisfy the annual distribution requirement, even though we will not have received any corresponding cash amount. As a result, we
may have difficulty meeting the annual distribution requirement necessary to qualify for and maintain RIC tax treatment under Subchapter M of the Code.
We may have to sell some of our investments at times and/or at prices we would not consider advantageous, raise additional debt or equity capital or forgo
new investment opportunities for this purpose. If we are not able to obtain cash from other sources, we may not qualify for or maintain RIC tax treatment
and thus may become subject to corporate-level income tax.

Market Discount

In general, the Company will be treated as having acquired a security with market discount if its stated redemption price at maturity (or, in the case of
a security issued with original issue discount, its revised issue price) exceeds the Company’s initial tax basis in the security by more than a statutory de
minimis amount. The Company will be required to treat any principal payments on, or any gain derived from the disposition of, any securities acquired
with market discount as ordinary income to the extent of the accrued market discount, unless the Company makes an election to accrue market discount on
a current basis. If this election is not made, all or a portion of any deduction for interest expense incurred to purchase or carry a market discount security
may be deferred until the Company sells or otherwise disposes of such security.

Currency Fluctuations

Under Section 988 of the Code, gains or losses attributable to fluctuations in exchange rates between the time the Company accrues income or
receivables or expenses or other liabilities denominated in a foreign currency and the time the Company actually collects such income or receivables or
pays such liabilities are generally treated as ordinary income or loss. Similarly, gains or losses on foreign currency, foreign currency forward contracts,
certain foreign currency options or futures contracts and the disposition of debt securities denominated in foreign currency, to the extent attributable to
fluctuations in exchange rates between the acquisition and disposition dates, are also treated as ordinary income or loss.

Foreign Taxes

The Company’s investment in non-U.S. securities may be subject to non-U.S. withholding taxes. In that case, the Company’s yield on those securities
would be decreased. Stockholders will generally not be entitled to claim a credit or deduction with respect to foreign taxes paid by the Company.

Preferred Stock or Borrowings

If the Company utilizes leverage through the issuance of preferred stock or borrowings, it may be restricted by certain covenants with respect to the
declaration of, and payment of, dividends on common stock in certain circumstances. Limits on the Company’s payments of dividends on common stock
may prevent the Company from meeting the distribution requirements described above, and may, therefore, jeopardize the Company’s qualification for
taxation as a RIC and possibly subject the Company to the 4% excise tax. The Company will endeavor to avoid restrictions on its ability to make dividend
payments.

Certain Tax Considerations for Stockholders

Sale or Exchange of Stock

Upon the sale or other disposition of our common stock or preferred stock (except pursuant to a repurchase by the Company, as described below), a
stockholder will generally realize a capital gain or loss in an amount equal to the difference between the amount realized and the stockholder’s adjusted tax
basis in the common stock or preferred stock sold. Such gain or loss will be long-term or short-term, depending upon the stockholder’s
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holding period for the common stock or preferred stock. Generally, a stockholder’s gain or loss will be a long-term gain or loss if the common stock or
preferred stock has been held for more than one year. For non-corporate taxpayers, long-term capital gains are currently eligible for reduced rates of
taxation.

No loss will be allowed on the sale or other disposition of common stock or preferred stock if the owner acquires (including pursuant to the dividend
reinvestment plan) or enters into a contract or option to acquire securities that are substantially identical to such common stock or preferred stock within 30
days before or after the disposition. In such a case, the basis of the securities acquired will be adjusted to reflect the disallowed loss. Losses realized by a
stockholder on the sale or exchange of common stock or preferred stock held for six months or less are treated as long-term capital losses to the extent of
any distribution of long-term capital gain received (or amounts designated as undistributed capital gains) with respect to such common stock or preferred
stock.

From time to time, the Company may offer to repurchase its outstanding common stock. Stockholders who tender all shares of common stock of the
Company held, or considered to be held, by them will generally be treated as having sold their shares of common stock and generally will realize a capital
gain or loss. If a stockholder tenders fewer than all of its shares of common stock or fewer than all shares of common stock tendered are repurchased, such
stockholder may be treated as having received a taxable dividend upon the tender of its shares of common stock. In such a case, there is a risk that
non-tendering stockholders, and stockholders who tender some but not all of their shares of common stock or fewer than all of whose shares of common
stock are repurchased, in each case whose percentage interests in the Company increase as a result of such tender, will be treated as having received a
taxable distribution from the Company. The extent of such risk will vary depending upon the particular circumstances of the tender offer, and in particular
whether such offer is a single and isolated event or is part of a plan for periodically redeeming common stock of the Company.

Under U.S. Treasury regulations, if a stockholder recognizes a loss with respect to shares of common stock or preferred stock of $2 million or more
for an individual stockholder or $10 million or more for a corporate stockholder, the stockholder must file with the IRS a disclosure statement on IRS Form
8886. Direct stockholders of portfolio securities are in many cases excepted from this reporting requirement, but under current guidance, stockholders of a
RIC are not excepted. Future guidance may extend the current exception from this reporting requirement to stockholders of most or all RICs. The fact that a
loss is reportable under these regulations does not affect the legal determination of whether the taxpayer’s treatment of the loss is proper. Stockholders
should consult their tax advisors to determine the applicability of these regulations in light of their individual circumstances.

Foreign Stockholders

U.S. taxation of a stockholder who is a nonresident alien individual, a foreign trust or estate or a foreign corporation, as defined for U.S. federal
income tax purposes (a “foreign Stockholder”), depends on whether the income from the Company is “effectively connected” with a U.S. trade or business
carried on by the stockholder.

If the income from the Company is not “effectively connected” with a U.S. trade or business carried on by the foreign Stockholder, distributions of
investment company taxable income will be subject to a U.S. tax of 30% (or lower treaty rate), which tax is generally withheld from such distributions.
However, dividends paid by the Company that are “interest-related dividends” or “short-term capital gain dividends” will generally be exempt from such
withholding, in each case to the extent the Company properly reports such dividends to stockholders. For these purposes, interest-related dividends and
short-term capital gain dividends generally represent distributions of interest or short-term capital gains that would not have been subject to U.S. federal
withholding tax at the source if received directly by a foreign Stockholder, and that satisfy certain other requirements. A foreign Stockholder whose income
from the Company is not “effectively connected” with a U.S. trade or business would generally be exempt from U.S. federal income tax on capital gain
dividends, any amounts retained by the Company that are designated as undistributed capital gains and any gains realized upon the sale or exchange of
common stock or preferred stock. However, a foreign Stockholder who is a nonresident alien
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individual and is physically present in the United States for more than 182 days during the taxable year and meets certain other requirements will
nevertheless be subject to a U.S. tax of 30% on such capital gain dividends, undistributed capital gains and sale or exchange gains.

If the income from the Company is “effectively connected” with a U.S. trade or business carried on by a foreign Stockholder, then distributions of
investment company taxable income, any capital gain dividends, any amounts retained by the Company that are designated as undistributed capital gains
and any gains realized upon the sale or exchange of common stock or preferred stock will be subject to U.S. federal income tax at the graduated rates
applicable to U.S. citizens, residents or domestic corporations. Foreign corporate stockholders may also be subject to the branch profits tax imposed by the
Code.

The Company may be required to withhold from distributions that are otherwise exempt from U.S. federal withholding tax (or taxable at a reduced
treaty rate) unless the foreign Stockholder certifies his or her foreign status under penalties of perjury or otherwise establishes an exemption.

The tax consequences to a foreign Stockholder entitled to claim the benefits of an applicable tax treaty may differ from those described herein.
Foreign Stockholders are advised to consult their own tax advisors with respect to the particular tax consequences to them of an investment in the
Company.

Certain Tax Considerations for Debtholders

Stated Interest

Stated interest on the debt securities generally will be taxable to you as ordinary income at the time it is received or accrued, depending on your
regular method of accounting for United States federal income tax purposes.

Original Issue Discount

A debt security with an “issue price” (as defined above) that is less than its stated principal amount generally will be treated as issued with OID for
United States federal income tax purposes in an amount equal to that difference, unless that difference is less than a de minimis amount equal to 0.25% of
the stated principal amount multiplied by the number of complete years to maturity (or, in the case of an amortizing debt security, the weighted average
maturity of the debt security), in which case the debt security will not be treated as issued with OID. If the debt securities are issued with OID, you
generally must include the OID in gross income (as ordinary income) as it accrues (on a constant yield to maturity basis) in advance of the receipt of the
cash payment thereof and regardless of your regular method of accounting for United States federal income tax purposes. However, you generally will not
be required to include separately in income cash payments received on the debt securities, even if denominated as interest, to the extent those payments do
not constitute “qualified stated interest,” which means stated interest that is unconditionally payable in cash or in property, other than debt instruments of
the issuer, and meets all of the following conditions:
 

 •  it is payable at least once per year;
 

 •  it is payable over the entire term of the debt security; and
 

 •  it is payable at a single fixed rate or, subject to certain conditions, a rate based on one or more interest indices.

Notice will be given in the applicable prospectus supplement when we determine that a particular debt security will be an original issue discount debt
security. Additional OID rules applicable to debt securities that are denominated in or determined by reference to a currency other than the U.S. dollar
(“foreign currency debt securities”) are described under “— Foreign Currency Debt Securities” below.
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If you own a debt security issued with de minimis OID, which is discount that is not treated as OID because it is less than 0.25% of the stated redemption
price at maturity multiplied by the number of complete years to maturity (or, in the case of an amortizing debt security, the weighted average maturity of
the note), you generally must include the de minimis OID in income at the time principal payments on the debt securities are made. The includible amount
with respect to each payment will be equal to the product of the total amount of the debt security’s de minimis OID and a fraction, the numerator of which
is the amount of the principal payment made and the denominator of which is the stated principal amount of the debt security. Any amount of de minimis
OID includible in income under the preceding sentence is treated as an amount received in retirement of the debt security and thus as capital gain.

Certain of the debt securities may contain provisions permitting them to be redeemed prior to their stated maturity at our option and/or at your option.
Original issue discount debt securities containing those features may be subject to rules that differ from the general rules discussed herein. If you are
considering the purchase of original issue discount debt securities with those features, you should carefully examine the applicable prospectus supplement
and should consult your own tax advisors with respect to those features since the tax consequences to you with respect to OID will depend, in part, on the
particular terms and features of such debt securities.

The amount of OID, if any, that you must include in income for any taxable year with respect to a debt security will generally equal the sum of the “daily
portions” of OID with respect to the debt security for each day during such taxable year on which you held that debt security (“accrued OID”). The daily
portion is determined by allocating to each day in any “accrual period” a pro rata portion of the OID allocable to that accrual period. The “accrual period”
may be of any length and may vary in length over the term of the debt security, provided that each accrual period is no longer than one year and each
scheduled payment of principal and interest occurs on the first day or the final day of an accrual period. The amount of OID allocable to any accrual period
other than the final accrual period is an amount equal to the excess, if any, of
 

 •  the debt security’s “adjusted issue price” at the beginning of the accrual period multiplied by its yield to maturity, determined on the basis of
compounding at the close of each accrual period and properly adjusted for the length of the accrual period, over

 

 •  the aggregate of any stated interest allocable to the accrual period.

OID allocable to a final accrual period is the difference between the stated principal amount and the adjusted issue price at the beginning of the final
accrual period. Special rules will apply for calculating OID for an initial short accrual period. The “adjusted issue price” of a debt security at the beginning
of any accrual period is equal to its issue price increased by the accrued OID, if any, for each prior accrual period and reduced by any payments previously
made on the debt security other than a payment of qualified stated interest. Under these rules, you generally will have to include in income increasingly
greater amounts of OID in successive accrual periods.

Debt securities that provide for a variable rate of interest and that meet certain other requirements (“floating rate debt securities”) are subject to
special OID rules. In the case of an original issue discount debt security that is a floating rate debt security, the “yield to maturity” and “qualified stated
interest” will be determined solely for purposes of calculating the accrual of OID as though the debt security will bear interest in all periods at a fixed rate
generally equal to the rate that would be applicable to interest payments on the debt security on its date of issue or, in the case of certain floating rate debt
securities, the rate that reflects the yield to maturity that is reasonably expected for the debt security. Additional rules may apply if either:
 

 •  the interest on a floating rate debt security is based on more than one interest index; or
 

 •  the principal amount of the debt security is indexed in any manner.

The discussion above generally does not address debt securities providing for contingent payments. You should carefully examine the applicable prospectus
supplement regarding the United States federal income tax
 

61



Table of Contents

consequences of the purchase, ownership and disposition of any debt securities providing for contingent payments.

You may elect to treat all interest on any debt security as OID and calculate the amount includible in gross income under the constant yield method
described above. For purposes of this election, interest includes stated interest, acquisition discount, OID, de minimis OID, market discount, de minimis
market discount and unstated interest, as adjusted by any amortizable bond premium or acquisition premium. You should consult with your own tax
advisors regarding this election.

Short-Term Debt securities

In the case of debt securities having a term of one year or less (“short-term debt securities”), all payments, including all stated interest, will be
included in the stated redemption price at maturity and will not be qualified stated interest. As a result, you will generally be taxed on the discount instead
of stated interest. The discount will be equal to the excess of the stated redemption price at maturity over the issue price of a short-term debt security, unless
you elect to compute the discount using tax basis instead of issue price. In general, individuals and certain other cash method U.S. holders of short-term
debt securities are not required to include accrued discount in their income currently unless they elect to do so, but may be required to include stated
interest in income as the income is received. U.S. holders that report income for United States federal income tax purposes on the accrual method and
certain other U.S. holders are required to accrue discount on short-term debt securities (as ordinary income) on a straight-line basis, unless an election is
made to accrue the discount according to a constant yield method based on daily compounding. If you are not required, and do not elect, to include discount
in income currently, any gain you realize on the sale, exchange, retirement or other taxable disposition of a short-term debt security will generally be
ordinary income to you to the extent of the discount accrued by you through the date of the sale, exchange, retirement or other taxable disposition. In
addition, if you do not elect to currently include accrued discount in income, you may be required to defer deductions for a portion of your interest expense
with respect to any indebtedness attributable to the short-term debt securities.

Market Discount

If you purchase a debt security (other than a short-term debt security) for an amount that is less than its stated redemption price at maturity (or, in the
case of an original issue discount debt security, its adjusted issue price), the amount of the difference will be treated as “market discount” for United States
federal income tax purposes, unless that difference is less than a specified de minimis amount. Under the market discount rules, you will be required to treat
any principal payment on, or any gain on the sale, exchange, retirement or other taxable disposition of, a debt security as ordinary income to the extent of
the market discount that you have not previously included in income and are treated as having accrued on the debt security at the time of the payment or
disposition.

In addition, you may be required to defer, until the maturity of the debt security or its earlier disposition in a taxable transaction, the deduction of all
or a portion of the interest expense on any indebtedness attributable to the debt security. You may elect, on a security-by-security basis, to deduct the
deferred interest expense in a tax year prior to the year of disposition. You should consult your own tax advisors regarding this election.

Any market discount will be considered to accrue ratably during the period from the date of acquisition to the maturity date of the debt security,
unless you elect to accrue on a constant interest method. You may elect to include market discount in income currently as it accrues, on either a ratable or
constant interest method, in which case the rule described above regarding deferral of interest deductions will not apply. An election to accrue market
discount on a current basis will apply to all debt instruments acquired with market discount that you acquire on or after the first day of the first taxable year
to which the election applies. The election may not be revoked without the consent of the IRS. You should consult your own tax advisors regarding this
election.
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Acquisition Premium, Amortizable Bond Premium

If you purchase an original issue discount debt security for an amount that is greater than its adjusted issue price but equal to or less than the sum of
all amounts payable on the debt security after the purchase date other than payments of qualified stated interest, you will be considered to have purchased
that debt security at an “acquisition premium.” Under the acquisition premium rules, the amount of OID that you must include in gross income with respect
to the debt security for any taxable year will be reduced by the portion of the acquisition premium properly allocable to that year.

If you purchase a debt security (including an original issue discount debt security) for an amount in excess of the sum of all amounts payable on the
debt security after the purchase date other than qualified stated interest, you will be considered to have purchased the debt security at a “premium” and, if it
is an original issue discount debt security, you will not be required to include any OID in income. You generally may elect to amortize the premium over
the remaining term of the debt security on a constant yield method as an offset to interest when includible in income under your regular accounting method.
If you do not elect to amortize the premium, that premium will decrease the gain or increase the loss you would otherwise recognize on disposition of the
debt security. An election to amortize premium on a constant yield method will also apply to all other taxable debt instruments held or subsequently
acquired by you on or after the first day of the first taxable year for which the election is made. Such an election may not be revoked without the consent of
the IRS. You should consult your tax advisors regarding this election. Special rules limit the amortization of premium in the case of convertible debt
instruments.

Sale, Exchange, Retirement, Redemption or Other Taxable Disposition of Debt Securities

Upon the sale, exchange, retirement, redemption or other taxable disposition of a debt security, you generally will recognize gain or loss equal to the
difference, if any, between the amount realized upon the sale, exchange, retirement, redemption or other taxable disposition (less any amount attributable to
accrued and unpaid stated interest, which will be taxable as interest income to the extent not previously included in income) and your adjusted tax basis in
the debt security. Your adjusted tax basis in a debt security will generally be your cost for that debt security, increased by any OID and market discount
previously included in income and reduced by any amortized premium and any cash payments on the debt security other than qualified stated interest.
Except as described above with respect to certain short-term debt securities or market discount, or with respect to gain or loss attributable to changes in
exchange rates as discussed below with respect to foreign currency debt securities. any gain or loss you recognize will generally be capital gain or loss and
will generally be long-term capital gain or loss if you have held the debt security for more than one year. Long-term capital gains of non-corporate U.S.
holders (including individuals) are eligible for reduced rates of taxation. The deductibility of capital losses is subject to limitations.

Extendible Debt securities, Reset Debt securities and Renewable Debt securities

If so specified in an applicable prospectus supplement relating to a debt security, we or a holder may have the option to extend the maturity of a debt
security. See “Description of our Debt Securities.” In addition, we may have the option to reset the interest rate or the spread. See “Description of our Debt
securities.” The treatment of a U.S. holder of debt securities with respect to which such an option has been exercised may depend, in part, on the terms
established for such debt securities by us pursuant to the exercise of such option (the “Revised Terms”). Such U.S. holder may be treated for United States
federal income tax purposes as having exchanged such debt securities (the “Old Debt securities”) for new debt securities with the Revised Terms (the “New
Debt securities”). If the exercise of the option by us is not treated as an exchange of Old Debt securities for New Debt securities, no gain or loss will be
recognized by a U.S. holder as a result thereof. If the exercise of the option is treated as a taxable exchange of Old Debt securities for New Debt securities,
a U.S. holder will generally recognize gain or loss equal to the difference between the issue price of the New Debt securities and the U.S. holder’s tax basis
in the Old Debt securities (although in certain circumstances, such exchange may qualify as a tax-free recapitalization).
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The presence of such options may also affect the calculation of OID, among other things. The OID rules provide that, solely for purposes of the
accrual of OID, an issuer of a debt instrument having an unconditional option or combination of unconditional options to extend the term of the debt
instrument will be presumed to exercise such option or options in the manner that minimizes the yield on the debt instrument. Conversely, a holder having
an unconditional put option, an unconditional option to extend the term of the debt instrument or a combination of such options will be presumed to
exercise such option or options in a manner that maximizes the yield on the debt instrument. If the exercise of such option or options to extend the term of
the debt instrument actually occurs or the option to put does not occur, contrary to the presumption made under the OID rules (a “change in
circumstances”), then, solely for purposes of the accrual of OID, the debt instrument is treated as reissued on the date of the change in circumstances for an
amount equal to its adjusted issue price on that date. If you are considering the purchase of extendible, reset or renewable debt securities, you should
carefully examine the applicable prospectus supplement and consult your own tax advisors regarding the United States federal income tax consequences of
the purchase, ownership and disposition of such debt securities.

Foreign Currency Debt Securities

Payments of Interest. If you receive interest payments made in a foreign currency and you use the cash basis method of accounting for United States
federal income tax purposes, you will be required to include in income the U.S. dollar value of the amount received, determined by translating the foreign
currency received at the spot rate of exchange (the “spot rate”) in effect on the date such payment is received regardless of whether the payment is in fact
converted into U.S. dollars. You will not recognize exchange gain or loss with respect to the receipt of such payment.

If you use the accrual method of accounting for United States federal income tax purposes, you may determine the amount of income recognized
with respect to such interest in accordance with either of two methods. Under the first method, you will be required to include in income for each taxable
year the U.S. dollar value of the interest that has accrued during such year, determined by translating such interest at the average rate of exchange for the
period or periods (or portions thereof) in such year during which such interest accrued. Under the second method, you may elect to translate interest income
at the spot rate on the last day of the accrual period (or the last day of the taxable year if the accrual period straddles your taxable year) or the date the
interest payment is received if such date is within five business days of the end of the accrual period.

In addition, if you use the accrual method of accounting, upon receipt of an interest payment on a debt security (including, upon the sale or other
taxable disposition of a debt security, the receipt of proceeds which include amounts attributable to accrued interest previously included in income), you
will recognize exchange gain or loss in an amount equal to the difference between the U.S. dollar value of such payment (determined by translating the
foreign currency received at the spot rate for such foreign currency on the date such payment is received) and the U.S. dollar value of the interest income
you previously included in income with respect to such payment. Any such exchange gain or loss will generally be treated as United States source ordinary
income or loss.

Original Issue Discount. OID on a foreign currency debt security will be determined for any accrual period in the applicable foreign currency and
then translated into U.S. dollars, in the same manner as interest income accrued by a holder on the accrual basis, as described above. You will recognize
exchange gain or loss when OID is paid (including, upon the sale or other taxable disposition of a debt security, the receipt of proceeds that include
amounts attributable to OID previously included in income) to the extent of the difference between the U.S. dollar value of such payment (determined by
translating the foreign currency received at the spot rate for such foreign currency on the date such payment is received) and the U.S. dollar value of the
accrued OID (determined in the same manner as for accrued interest). For these purposes, all receipts on a debt security will be viewed:
 

 •  first, as the receipt of any qualified stated interest payments called for under the terms of the debt security;
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 •  second, as receipts of previously accrued OID (to the extent thereof), with payments considered made for the earliest accrual periods first; and
 

 •  third, as the receipt of principal.

Market Discount and Bond Premium. The amount of market discount includible in income with respect to a foreign currency debt security will
generally be determined by translating the market discount (determined in the foreign currency) into U.S. dollars at the spot rate on the date the foreign
currency debt security is retired or otherwise disposed of. If you have elected to accrue market discount currently, then the amount which accrues is
determined in the foreign currency and then translated into U.S. dollars on the basis of the average exchange rate in effect during the accrual period. You
will recognize exchange gain or loss with respect to market discount which is accrued currently using the approach applicable to the accrual of interest
income as described above.

Bond premium on a foreign currency debt security will be computed in the applicable foreign currency. If you have elected to amortize such
premium, the amortizable bond premium will reduce interest income in the applicable foreign currency. At the time bond premium is amortized, exchange
gain or loss will be realized with respect to such amortized premium based on the difference between spot rates at such time and the time of acquisition of
the foreign currency debt security.

Sale, Exchange, Retirement or other Taxable Disposition of Foreign Currency Debt securities. Upon the sale, exchange, retirement or other
taxable disposition of a foreign currency debt security, you will recognize gain or loss equal to the difference between the amount realized upon the sale,
exchange, retirement or other taxable disposition (less an amount equal to any accrued but unpaid qualified stated interest, which will be treated as a
payment of interest for United States federal income tax purposes) and your adjusted tax basis in the foreign currency debt security. Your initial tax basis in
a foreign currency debt security will generally be your U.S. dollar cost. If you purchased a foreign currency debt security with foreign currency, your U.S.
dollar cost will generally be the U.S. dollar value of the foreign currency amount paid for such foreign currency debt security, determined by translating the
foreign currency at the spot rate at the time of such purchase. If your foreign currency debt security is sold, exchanged, retired or otherwise disposed of for
an amount denominated in foreign currency, then your amount realized generally will be based on the spot rate of the foreign currency on the date of the
sale, exchange, retirement or other disposition. If, however, you are a cash method taxpayer and the foreign currency debt securities are traded on an
established securities market for United States federal income tax purposes, foreign currency paid or received will be translated into U.S. dollars at the spot
rate on the settlement date of the purchase or sale. An accrual method taxpayer may elect the same treatment with respect to the purchase and sale of
foreign currency debt securities traded on an established securities market, provided that the election is applied consistently.

Except as described above with respect to certain short-term debt securities or market discount, and subject to the foreign currency rules discussed
below, any gain or loss recognized upon the sale, exchange, retirement or other taxable disposition of a foreign currency debt security will generally be
capital gain or loss and will generally be long-term capital gain or loss if you have held the foreign currency debt security for more than one year. Long-
term capital gains of non-corporate U.S. holders (including individuals) are eligible for reduced rates of taxation. The deductibility of capital losses is
subject to limitations. Gain or loss recognized by you on the sale, exchange, retirement or other taxable disposition of a foreign currency debt security will
generally be treated as United States source gain or loss.

A portion of your gain or loss with respect to the principal amount of a foreign currency debt security may be treated as exchange gain or loss.
Exchange gain or loss will generally be treated as United States source ordinary income or loss. For these purposes, the principal amount of the foreign
currency debt security is your purchase price for the foreign currency debt security calculated in the foreign currency on the date of purchase, and the
amount of exchange gain or loss recognized is equal to the difference between (i) the U.S. dollar value of the principal amount determined at the spot rate
on the date of the sale, exchange, retirement or other taxable
 

65



Table of Contents

disposition of the foreign currency debt security and (ii) the U.S. dollar value of the principal amount determined at the spot rate on the date you purchased
the foreign currency debt security (or, possibly, in the case of cash basis or electing accrual basis taxpayers, the settlement dates of such purchase and
taxable disposition, if the foreign currency debt security is treated as traded on an established securities market for United States federal income tax
purposes). The amount of exchange gain or loss realized on the disposition of the foreign currency debt security (with respect to both principal and accrued
interest) will be limited to the amount of overall gain or loss realized on the disposition of the foreign currency debt security.

Exchange Gain or Loss with Respect to Foreign Currency. Your tax basis in any foreign currency received as interest on a foreign currency debt
security or on the sale, exchange, retirement or other taxable disposition of a foreign currency debt security will be the U.S. dollar value thereof at the spot
rate in effect on the date the foreign currency is received. Any gain or loss recognized by you on a sale, exchange or other taxable disposition of the foreign
currency will generally be treated as United States source ordinary income or loss.

Dual Currency Debt Securities. If so specified in an applicable prospectus supplement relating to a foreign currency debt security, we may have the
option to make all payments of principal and interest scheduled after the exercise of such option in a currency other than the specified currency. Applicable
United States Treasury regulations generally (i) apply the principles contained in the regulations governing contingent debt instruments to dual currency
debt securities in the “predominant currency” of the dual currency debt securities and (ii) apply the rules discussed above with respect to foreign currency
debt securities with OID for the translation of interest and principal into U.S. dollars. If you are considering the purchase of dual currency debt securities,
you should carefully examine the applicable prospectus supplement and should consult your own tax advisors regarding the United States federal income
tax consequences of the purchase, ownership and disposition of such debt securities.

Reportable Transactions. Treasury regulations issued under the Code meant to require the reporting of certain tax shelter transactions could be
interpreted to cover transactions generally not regarded as tax shelters, including certain foreign currency transactions. Under the Treasury regulations,
certain transactions are required to be reported to the IRS, including, in certain circumstances, a sale, exchange, retirement or other taxable disposition of a
foreign currency debt security or foreign currency received in respect of a foreign currency debt security to the extent that such sale, exchange, retirement
or other taxable disposition results in a tax loss in excess of a threshold amount. If you are considering the purchase of a foreign currency debt security, you
should consult with your own tax advisors to determine the tax return obligations, if any, with respect to such an investment, including any requirement to
file IRS Form 8886 (Reportable Transaction Disclosure Statement).

Certain Tax Consequences to Non-U.S. Holders of Debt Securities

The following is a summary of certain United States federal income tax consequences that will apply to non-U.S. holders of the debt securities.

United States Federal Withholding Tax

Subject to the discussions of backup withholding and FATCA below, United States federal withholding tax will not apply to any payment of interest
(which, for purposes of the discussion of non-U.S. holders, includes any OID) on the debt securities under the “portfolio interest rule,” provided that:
 

 •  interest paid on the debt securities is not effectively connected with your conduct of a trade or business in the United States;
 

 •  you do not actually or constructively own 10% or more of the total combined voting power of all classes of our voting stock within the
meaning of the Code and applicable United States Treasury regulations;
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 •  you are not a controlled foreign corporation that is actually or constructively related to us through stock ownership;
 

 •  the interest is not considered contingent interest under Section 871(h)(4)(A) of the Code and the United States Treasury regulations
thereunder;

 

 •  you are not a bank whose receipt of interest on the debt securities is described in Section 881(c)(3)(A) of the Code; and
 

 

•  either (1) you provide your name and address on an applicable IRS Form W-8, and certify, under penalties of perjury, that you are not a
United States person as defined under the Code or (2) you hold your debt securities through certain foreign intermediaries and satisfy the
certification requirements of applicable United States Treasury regulations. Special certification rules apply to non-U.S. holders that are pass-
through entities rather than corporations or individuals.

If you cannot satisfy the requirements described above, payments of interest made to you will be subject to a 30% United States federal withholding tax,
unless you provide the applicable withholding agent with a properly executed:
 

 •  IRS Form W-8BEN or Form W-8BEN-E (or other applicable form) claiming an exemption from or reduction in withholding under the benefit
of an applicable income tax treaty; or

 

 
•  IRS Form W-8ECI (or other applicable form) certifying that interest paid on the debt securities is not subject to withholding tax because it is

effectively connected with your conduct of a trade or business in the United States (as discussed below under “— United States Federal
Income Tax”).

United States Federal Income Tax

If you are engaged in a trade or business in the United States and interest on the debt securities is effectively connected with the conduct of that trade
or business (and, if required by an applicable income tax treaty, is attributable to a United States permanent establishment), then you generally will be
subject to United States federal income tax on that interest on a net income basis in the same manner as if you were a United States person as defined under
the Code (although you will be exempt from the 30% United States federal withholding tax described above, provided the certification requirements
discussed above in “— United States Federal Withholding Tax” are satisfied). In addition, if you are a foreign corporation, you may be subject to a branch
profits tax equal to 30% (or a lower applicable income tax treaty rate) of your effectively connected earnings and profits, subject to adjustments.

Subject to the discussion of backup withholding below, any gain realized on the sale, exchange, retirement or other taxable disposition of a Debt
security generally will not be subject to United States federal income tax unless:
 

 
•  the gain is effectively connected with your conduct of a trade or business in the United States (and, if required by an applicable income tax

treaty, is attributable to a United States permanent establishment), in which case such gain generally will be subject to United States federal
income tax (and possibly branch profits tax) in the same manner as effectively connected interest as described above; or

 

 
•  you are an individual who is present in the United States for 183 days or more in the taxable year of that disposition and certain other

conditions are met, in which case, unless an applicable income tax treaty provides otherwise, you generally will be subject to a 30% United
States federal income tax on any gain recognized, which may be offset by certain United States source losses.

Information Reporting and Backup Withholding

The Company may be required to withhold from all distributions, interest and principal payments (including accruals of OID, if any), redemption
proceeds, and the proceeds from a sale or other taxable disposition
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(including a retirement or redemption) of a debt security paid to you (unless you are an exempt recipient) payable to U.S. stockholders and debtholders who
fail to provide the Company with their correct taxpayer identification numbers or to make required certifications, or who have been notified by the IRS that
they are subject to backup withholding. Certain stockholders and debtholders specified in the Code generally are exempt from such backup withholding.
This backup withholding is not an additional tax. Any amounts withheld may be refunded or credited against the stockholder’s or debtholder’s U.S. federal
income tax liability, provided the required information is timely furnished to the IRS.

U.S. Holders

In general, information reporting requirements will apply to payments of stated interest on the debt securities, accruals of OID (if any) and the
proceeds from a sale or other taxable disposition (including a retirement or redemption) of a debt security paid to you (unless you are an exempt recipient).
Backup withholding may apply to any payments described in the preceding sentence if you fail to provide a taxpayer identification number or a
certification of exempt status, or if you fail to report in full dividend and interest income.

Backup withholding is not an additional tax and any amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules may be allowed as a refund or a credit
against your United States federal income tax liability provided the required information is timely furnished to the IRS.

Non-U.S. Holders

Generally, the amount of interest (including any OID) paid to you and the amount of tax, if any, withheld with respect to those payments will be
reported to the IRS. Copies of the information returns reporting such interest payments and any withholding may also be made available to the tax
authorities in the country in which you reside under the provisions of an applicable income tax treaty.

In general, you will not be subject to backup withholding with respect to payments of interest (including any OID) on the Debt securities that we
make to you, provided that the applicable withholding agent does not have actual knowledge or reason to know that you are a United States person as
defined under the Code and such withholding agent has received from you the statement described above in the sixth bullet point under “— Certain Tax
Consequences to Non-U.S. Holders of Debt Securities — United States Federal Withholding Tax.”

Information reporting and, depending on the circumstances, backup withholding will apply to the proceeds of a sale or other taxable disposition
(including a retirement or redemption) of debt securities within the United States or conducted through certain United States-related financial
intermediaries, unless you certify to the payor under penalties of perjury that you are a non-U.S. holder (and the payor does not have actual knowledge or
reason to know that you are a United States person as defined under the Code), or you otherwise establish an exemption.

Backup withholding is not an additional tax and any amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules may be allowed as a refund or a credit
against your United States federal income tax liability provided the required information is timely furnished to the IRS.

Additional Withholding Requirements

Under Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code (such Sections commonly referred to as “FATCA”), a 30% U.S. federal withholding tax may apply to
any dividends or any interest (including any OID) paid on the debt securities that the Company pays to (i) a “foreign financial institution” (as specifically
defined in the Code and whether such foreign financial institution is the beneficial owner or an intermediary), which does not provide sufficient
documentation, typically on IRS Form W-8BEN-E, evidencing either (x) an exemption from FATCA,
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or (y) its compliance (or deemed compliance) with FATCA (which may alternatively be in the form of compliance with an intergovernmental agreement
with the United States) in a manner which avoids withholding or (ii) a “non-financial foreign entity,” (as specifically defined in the Code and whether such
nonfinancial foreign entity is the beneficial owner or an intermediary) which does not provide sufficient documentation, typically on IRS Form W-8BEN-E,
evidencing either (x) an exemption from FATCA, or (y) adequate information regarding certain substantial United States beneficial owners of such entity
(if any). In certain cases, the relevant foreign financial institution or non-financial foreign entity may qualify for an exemption from, or be deemed to be in
compliance with, these rules. In addition, foreign financial institutions located in jurisdictions that have an intergovernmental agreement with the United
States governing FATCA may be subject to different rules. If an interest payment is both subject to withholding under FATCA and subject to the
withholding tax discussed above under “— Certain Tax Consequences to Non-U.S. Holders of Debt Securities — United States Federal Withholding Tax,”
an applicable withholding agent may credit the withholding under FATCA against, and therefore reduce, such other withholding tax. While withholding
under FATCA would also have applied to payments of gross proceeds from the sale or other taxable disposition of the debt securities, proposed United
States Treasury regulations (upon which taxpayers may rely until final regulations are issued) eliminate FATCA withholding on payments of gross proceeds
entirely. You should consult your own tax adviser regarding FATCA and whether it may be relevant to your ownership and disposition of our common or
preferred stock or debt securities.

Other Taxation

Stockholders may be subject to state, local and foreign taxes on their distributions from the Company. Stockholders are advised to consult their own
tax advisors with respect to the particular tax consequences to them of an investment in the Company.
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SALES OF COMMON STOCK BELOW NET ASSET VALUE

We may submit to our stockholders, for their approval, a proposal seeking authorization to make sales of our common stock at prices below
our most recently determined NAV per share. Pursuant to the approval of our Board of Directors, we have made such sales in the past, and we
may continue to do so under this prospectus if we seek and receive stockholder approval.

Any offering of common stock below NAV per share will be designed to raise capital for investment in accordance with our investment objectives
and business strategies.

In making a determination that an offering below NAV per share is in our and our stockholders’ best interests, our Board of Directors would consider
a variety of factors including:
 

 •  The effect that an offering below NAV per share would have on our stockholders, including the potential dilution they would experience as a
result of the offering;

 

 •  The amount per share by which the offering price per share and the net proceeds per share are less than the most recently determined NAV per
share;

 

 •  The relationship of recent market prices of our common stock to NAV per share and the potential impact of the offering on the market price
per share of our common stock;

 

 •  Whether the proposed offering price would closely approximate the market value of our shares;
 

 •  The potential market impact of being able to raise capital during the current financial market difficulties;
 

 •  The nature of any new investors anticipated to acquire shares in the offering;
 

 •  The anticipated rate of return on and quality, type and availability of investments to be funded with the proceeds from the offering, if any; and
 

 •  The leverage available to us, both before and after any offering, and the terms thereof.

Sales by us of our common stock at a discount from NAV pose potential risks for our existing stockholders whether or not they participate in the
offering, as well as for new investors who participate in the offering.

The following three headings and accompanying tables will explain and provide hypothetical examples on the impact of an offering at a price less
than NAV per share on three different sets of investors:
 

 •  existing stockholders who do not purchase any shares in the offering;
 

 •  existing stockholders who purchase a relatively small amount of shares in the offering or a relatively large amount of shares in the offering;
and

 

 •  new investors who become stockholders by purchasing shares in the offering.

Impact on Existing Stockholders who do not Participate in the Offering

Our existing stockholders who do not participate in an offering below NAV per share or who do not buy additional shares in the secondary market at
the same or lower price we obtain in the offering (after expenses and commissions) face the greatest potential risks. All stockholders will experience an
immediate decrease (often called dilution) in the NAV of the shares they hold. Stockholders who do not participate in the offering will also experience a
disproportionately greater decrease in their participation in our earnings and assets and their voting power than stockholders who do participate in the
offering. All stockholders may also experience a decline in the market price of their shares, which often reflects to some degree announced or potential
decreases in NAV per share. This decrease could be more pronounced as the size of the offering and level of discount to NAV increases.
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The following table illustrates the level of NAV dilution that would be experienced by a nonparticipating stockholder in different hypothetical
offerings of different sizes and levels of discount from NAV per share. Actual sales prices and discounts may differ from the presentation below.

The examples assume that Company XYZ has 3,000,000 common shares outstanding, $40,000,000 in total assets and $10,000,000 in total liabilities.
The current net asset value and NAV are thus $30,000,000 and $10.00, respectively. The table illustrates the dilutive effect on nonparticipating Stockholder
A of (1) an offering of 300,000 shares (10% of the outstanding shares) with proceeds to the Company XYZ at $9.00 per share after offering expenses and
commissions, and (2) an offering of 600,000 shares (20% of the outstanding shares) with proceeds to the Company at $0.001 per share after offering
expenses and commissions (a 100% discount from net asset value).
 

   

Prior to
Sale Below

NAV  

 

Example 1
10% Offering

at 10% Discount   

Example 2
20% Offering

at 100% Discount  

 
Following

Sale   
%

Change  
Following

Sale   
%

Change  
Offering Price       
Price per Share to Public(1)    —    $ 9.47   —    $ 0.001   —   
Net Proceeds per Share to Issuer    —    $ 9.00   —    $ 0.001   —   
Decrease to NAV       
Total Shares Outstanding    3,000,000   3,300,000   10.00%   3,600,000   20.00% 
NAV per Share   $ 10.00  $ 9.91   (0.90)%  $ 8.33   (16.67)% 
Share Dilution to Stockholder       
Shares Held by Stockholder A    30,000   30,000   —     30,000   —   
Percentage of Shares Held by Stockholder A    1.00%   0.91%   (9.09)%   0.83%   (16.67)% 
Total Asset Values       
Total NAV Held by Stockholder A   $ 300,000  $ 297,273   (0.90)%  $ 250,005   (16.67)% 
Total Investment by Stockholder A (Assumed to Be $10.00 per

Share)   $ 300,000  $ 300,000   —    $ 300,000   —   
Total Dilution to Stockholder A (Change in Total NAV Held By

Stockholder)    $ (2,727)   —    $ (49,995)   —   
Per Share Amounts       
NAV per Share Held by Stockholder A    —    $ 9.91   —    $ 8.33   —   
Investment per Share Held by Stockholder A (Assumed to be

$10.00 per Share on Shares Held Prior to Sale)   $ 10.00  $ 10.00   —    $ 10.00   —   
Dilution per Share Held by Stockholder A    —    $ (0.09)   —    $ (1.67)   —   
Percentage Dilution per Share Held by Stockholder A    —     —     (0.90)%   —     (16.67)% 
 
(1) Assumes 5% in selling compensation and expenses paid by Company XYZ.

Impact on Existing Stockholders who do Participate in the Offering

Our existing stockholders who participate in an offering below NAV per share or who buy additional shares in the secondary market at the same or
lower price as we obtain in the offering (after expenses and commissions) will experience the same types of NAV dilution as the nonparticipating
stockholders, albeit at a lower level, to the extent they purchase less than the same percentage of the discounted offering as their interest in our shares
immediately prior to the offering. The level of NAV dilution on an aggregate basis will decrease as the number of shares such stockholders purchase
increases. Existing stockholders who buy more than their proportionate percentage will experience NAV dilution but will, in contrast to existing
stockholders who purchase less than their proportionate share of the offering, experience an increase (often called accretion) in NAV per share over
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their investment per share and will also experience a disproportionately greater increase in their participation in our earnings and assets and their voting
power than our increase in assets, potential earning power and voting interests due to the offering. The level of accretion will increase as the excess number
of shares purchased by such stockholder increases. Even a stockholder who over-participates will, however, be subject to the risk that we may make
additional discounted offerings in which such stockholder does not participate, in which case such a stockholder will experience NAV dilution as described
above in such subsequent offerings. These stockholders may also experience a decline in the market price of their shares, which often reflects to some
degree announced or potential decreases in NAV per share. This decrease could be more pronounced as the size of the offering and the level of discount to
NAV increases.

The following chart illustrates the level of dilution and accretion in the hypothetical 20% discount offering from the prior chart (Example 3) for a
stockholder that acquires shares equal to (1) 50% of its proportionate share of the offering (i.e., 3,000 shares, which is 0.5% of an offering of 600,000
shares rather than its 1.0% proportionate share) and (2) 150% of such percentage (i.e., 9,000 shares, which is 1.5% of an offering of 600,000 shares rather
than its 1.0% proportionate share). The prospectus supplement pursuant to which any discounted offering is made will include a chart for this example
based on the actual number of shares in such offering and the actual discount from the most recently determined NAV per share.
 

   

Prior to
Sale Below

NAV  

 
50%

Participation   
150%

Participation  

 
Following

Sale   
%

Change  
Following

Sale   
%

Change 
Offering Price       
Price per Share to Public(1)    —    $ 8.42   —    $ 8.42   —   
Net Proceeds per Share to Issuer    —    $ 8.00   —    $ 8.00   —   
Increase in Shares and Decrease to NAV       
Total Shares Outstanding    3,000,000   3,600,000   20.00%   3,600,000   20.00% 
NAV per Share   $ 10.00  $ 9.67   (3.33)%  $ 9.67   (3.33)% 
Dilution/Accretion to Participating Stockholder A       
Share Dilution/Accretion       
Shares Held by Stockholder A    30,000   33,000   10.00%   39,000   30.00% 
Percentage Outstanding Held by Stockholder A    1.00%   0.92%   (8.33)%   1.08%   8.33% 
NAV Dilution/Accretion       
Total NAV Held by Stockholder A   $ 300,000  $ 319,000   6.33%  $ 377,000   25.67% 
Total Investment by Stockholder A (Assumed to be $10.00 per Share

on Shares Held Prior to Sale)    —    $ 325,260   —    $ 375,780   —   
Total Dilution/Accretion to Stockholder A (Total NAV Less Total

Investment)    —    $ (6,260)   —    $ 1,220   —   
NAV Dilution/Accretion per Share       
NAV per Share Held by Stockholder A    —    $ 9.67   —    $ 9.67   —   
Investment per Share Held by Stockholder A (Assumed to be $10.00

per Share on Shares Held Prior to Sale)   $ 10.00  $ 9.86   (1.44)%  $ 9.64   (3.65)% 
NAV Dilution/Accretion per Share Experienced by Stockholder A

(NAV per Share Less Investment per Share)    —    $ (0.19)   —    $ 0.03   —   
Percentage NAV Dilution/Accretion Experienced by Stockholder A

(NAV Dilution/Accretion per Share Divided by Investment per
Share)    —     —     (1.96)%   —     0.32% 

 
(1) Assumes 5% in selling compensation and expenses paid by Company XYZ.
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Impact on New Investors

Investors who are not currently stockholders, but who participate in an offering below NAV and whose investment per share is greater than the
resulting NAV per share (due to selling compensation and expenses paid by us) will experience an immediate decrease, albeit small, in the NAV of their
shares and their NAV per share compared to the price they pay for their shares. Investors who are not currently stockholders and who participate in an
offering below NAV per share and whose investment per share is also less than the resulting NAV per share will experience an immediate increase in the
NAV of their shares and their NAV per share compared to the price they pay for their shares. All these investors will experience a disproportionately greater
participation in our earnings and assets and their voting power than our increase in assets, potential earning power and voting interests. These investors
will, however, be subject to the risk that we may make additional discounted offerings in which such new stockholder does not participate, in which case
such new stockholder will experience dilution as described above in such subsequent offerings. These investors may also experience a decline in the market
price of their shares, which often reflects to some degree announced or potential decreases in NAV per share. This decrease could be more pronounced as
the size of the offering and level of discount to NAV increases.

The following chart illustrates the level of dilution or accretion for new investors that would be experienced by a new investor in the same
hypothetical 10% and 100% discounted offerings as described in the first chart above. The illustration is for a new investor who purchases the same
percentage (1.00%) of the shares in the offering as Stockholder A in the prior examples held immediately prior to the offering. The prospectus supplement
pursuant to which any discounted offering is made will include a chart for these examples based on the actual number of shares in such offering and the
actual discount from the most recently determined NAV per share.
 

  

Prior to
Sale Below

NAV  

 

Example 1
10% Offering

at 10% Discount   

Example 2
20% Offering

at 100% Discount  

 
Following

Sale   
%

Change   
Following

Sale   
%

Change  
Offering Price      
Price per Share to Public(1)   —    $ 9.47   —    $ 0.001   —   
Net Proceeds per Share to Issuer   —    $ 9.00   —    $ 0.001   —   
Increase in Shares and Decrease to NAV      
Total Shares Outstanding   3,000,000   3,300,000   10.00%   3,600,000   20.00% 
NAV per Share  $ 10.00  $ 9.91   (0.91)%  $ 8.33   (16.67)% 
Dilution/Accretion to New Investor A      
Share Dilution      
Shares Held by Investor A   —     3,000   —     6,000   —   
Percentage Outstanding Held by Investor A   0.00%   0.09%   —     0.17%   —   
NAV Dilution      
Total NAV Held by Investor A   —    $ 29,727   —     —    $ 50,001 
Total Investment by Investor A (At Price to Public)   —    $ 28,421   —    $ 6   —   
Total Dilution/Accretion to Investor A (Total NAV Less

Total Investment)   —    $ 1,306   —    $ 49,995   —   
NAV Dilution per Share      
NAV per Share Held by Investor A  $ 9.91   —    $ 8.33   —    
Investment per Share Held by Investor A   —    $ 9.47   —    $ 0.001   —   
NAV Dilution/Accretion per Share Experienced by Investor

A (NAV per Share Less Investment per Share)   —    $ 0.44   —    $ 8.33   —   
Percentage NAV Dilution/Accretion Experienced by Investor

A (NAV Dilution/Accretion per Share Divided by
Investment per Share)   —     —     4.60%   —     791,582.50% 

 
(1) Assumes 5% in selling compensation and expenses paid by Company XYZ.
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DESCRIPTION OF OUR CAPITAL STOCK

The following description is based in part on relevant portions of the Maryland General Corporation Law and on our charter and bylaws. This
summary is not necessarily complete, and we refer you to the Maryland General Corporation Law and our charter and bylaws for a more detailed
description of the provisions summarized below.

Stock

Our authorized stock consists of 100,000,000 shares of stock, par value $0.01 per share, all of which are initially designated as common stock. Our
common stock is listed on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the ticker symbol “LRFC.” There are no outstanding options or warrants to purchase
our stock. No stock has been authorized for issuance under any equity compensation plans. Under Maryland law, our stockholders generally are not
personally liable for our debts or obligations.

The following are our outstanding classes of securities as of December 10, 2021:
 

Title of Class   
Amount

Authorized    

Amount Held by
Us or for Our

Account    

Amount
Outstanding
Exclusive of

Amounts Shown
Under (3)  

Common stock    100,000,000    —      2,711,068 

Under our charter, our Board of Directors is authorized to classify and reclassify any unissued shares of stock into other classes or series of stock
without obtaining stockholder approval. As permitted by the Maryland General Corporation Law, our charter provides that the Board of Directors, without
any action by our stockholders, may amend the charter from time to time to increase or decrease the aggregate number of shares of stock or the number of
shares of stock of any class or series that we have authority to issue.

Common Stock

All shares of our common stock have equal rights as to earnings, assets, voting, and distributions and, when they are issued, will be duly authorized,
validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable. Distributions may be paid to the holders of our common stock if, as and when authorized by our Board of
Directors and declared by us out of assets legally available therefor. Shares of our common stock have no preemptive, conversion or redemption rights and
are freely transferable, except where their transfer is restricted by federal and state securities laws or by contract. In the event of our liquidation, dissolution
or winding up, each share of our common stock would be entitled to share ratably in all of our assets that are legally available for distribution after we pay
all debts and other liabilities and subject to any preferential rights of holders of our preferred stock, if any preferred stock is outstanding at such time. Each
share of our common stock is entitled to one vote on all matters submitted to a vote of stockholders, including the election of directors. Except as provided
with respect to any other class or series of stock, the holders of our common stock will possess exclusive voting power. There is no cumulative voting in the
election of directors, which means that holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of common stock can elect all of our directors, and holders of less
than a majority of such shares will be unable to elect any director.

Preferred Stock

Our charter authorizes our Board of Directors to classify and reclassify any unissued shares of stock into other classes or series of stock, including
preferred stock. The cost of any such reclassification would be borne by our existing common stockholders. Prior to issuance of shares of each class or
series, the Board of Directors is required by Maryland law and by our charter to set the terms, preferences, conversion or other rights, voting
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powers, restrictions, limitations as to distributions, qualifications and terms or conditions of redemption for each class or series. Thus, the Board of
Directors could authorize the issuance of shares of preferred stock with terms and conditions which could have the effect of delaying, deferring or
preventing a transaction or a change in control that might involve a premium price for holders of our common stock or otherwise be in their best interest.
You should note, however, that any issuance of preferred stock must comply with the requirements of the 1940 Act. The 1940 Act requires, among other
things, that (1) immediately after issuance and before any distribution is made with respect to our common stock and before any purchase of common stock
is made, such preferred stock together with all other senior securities must not exceed an amount equal to 50% of our gross assets after deducting the
amount of such distribution or purchase price, as the case may be, and (2) the holders of shares of preferred stock, if any are issued, must be entitled as a
class to elect two directors at all times and to elect a majority of the directors if distributions on such preferred stock are in arrears by two full years or
more. Certain matters under the 1940 Act require the separate vote of the holders of any issued and outstanding preferred stock. We believe that the
availability for issuance of preferred stock will provide us with increased flexibility in structuring future financings and acquisitions. However, we do not
currently have any plans to issue preferred stock.

Limitation on Liability of Directors and Officers; Indemnification and Advance of Expenses

Maryland law permits a Maryland corporation to include in its charter a provision limiting the liability of its directors and officers to the corporation
and its stockholders for money damages except for liability resulting from (a) actual receipt of an improper benefit or profit in money, property or services
or (b) active and deliberate dishonesty established by a final judgment as being material to the cause of action. Our charter contains such a provision which
eliminates directors’ and officers’ liability to the maximum extent permitted by Maryland law, subject to the requirements of the 1940 Act.

Our charter authorizes us, to the maximum extent permitted by Maryland law and subject to the requirements of the 1940 Act, to indemnify any
present or former director or officer or any individual who, while serving as our director or officer and at our request, serves or has served another
corporation, real estate investment trust, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise as a director, officer, partner or trustee,
from and against any claim or liability to which that person may become subject or which that person may incur by reason of his or her service in such
capacity and to pay or reimburse their reasonable expenses in advance of final disposition of a proceeding. Our bylaws obligate us, to the maximum extent
permitted by Maryland law and subject to the requirements of the 1940 Act, to indemnify any present or former director or officer or any individual who,
while serving as our director or officer and at our request, serves or has served another corporation, real estate investment trust, limited liability company,
partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise as a director, officer, partner, trustee, manager or member and who is made, or
threatened to be made, a party to the proceeding by reason of his or her service in that capacity from and against any claim or liability to which that person
may become subject or which that person may incur by reason of his or her service in any such capacity and to pay or reimburse his or her reasonable
expenses in advance of final disposition of a proceeding. The charter and bylaws also permit us to indemnify and advance expenses to any person who
served a predecessor of us in any of the capacities described above and any of our employees or agents or any employees or agents of our predecessor. In
accordance with the 1940 Act, we will not indemnify any person for any liability to which such person would be subject by reason of such person’s willful
misfeasance, bad faith, gross negligence or reckless disregard of the duties involved in the conduct of his or her office.

Maryland law requires a corporation (unless its charter provides otherwise, which our charter does not) to indemnify a director or officer who has
been successful in the defense of any proceeding to which he or she is made, or threatened to be made, a party by reason of his or her service in that
capacity. Maryland law permits a corporation to indemnify its present and former directors and officers, among others, against judgments, penalties, fines,
settlements and reasonable expenses actually incurred by them in connection with any proceeding to which they may be made a party by reason of their
service in those or other capacities unless it is established that (a) the act or omission of the director or officer was material to the matter giving rise to the
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proceeding and (1) was committed in bad faith or (2) was the result of active and deliberate dishonesty, (b) the director or officer actually received an
improper personal benefit in money, property or services or (c) in the case of any criminal proceeding, the director or officer had reasonable cause to
believe that the act or omission was unlawful. However, under Maryland law, a Maryland corporation may not indemnify for an adverse judgment in a suit
by or in the right of the corporation or for a judgment of liability on the basis that a personal benefit was improperly received unless, in either case, a court
orders indemnification, and then only for expenses. In addition, Maryland law permits a corporation to advance reasonable expenses to a director or officer
upon the corporation’s receipt of (a) a written affirmation by the director or officer of his or her good faith belief that he or she has met the standard of
conduct necessary for indemnification by the corporation and (b) a written undertaking by him or her or on his or her behalf to repay the amount paid or
reimbursed by the corporation if it is ultimately determined that the standard of conduct was not met.

We have entered into indemnification agreements with our directors. The indemnification agreements provide our directors the maximum
indemnification permitted under Maryland law and the 1940 Act.

Our insurance policy does not currently provide coverage for claims, liabilities and expenses that may arise out of activities that our present or former
directors or officers have performed for another entity at our request. There is no assurance that such entities will in fact carry such insurance. However, we
note that we do not expect to request our present or former directors or officers to serve another entity as a director, officer, partner or trustee unless we can
obtain insurance providing coverage for such persons for any claims, liabilities or expenses that may arise out of their activities while serving in such
capacities.

Certain Provisions of the Maryland General Corporation Law and Our Charter and Bylaws

The Maryland General Corporation Law and our charter and bylaws contain provisions that could make it more difficult for a potential acquirer to
acquire us by means of a tender offer, proxy contest or otherwise. These provisions are expected to discourage certain coercive takeover practices and
inadequate takeover bids and to encourage persons seeking to acquire control of us to negotiate first with our Board of Directors. We believe that the
benefits of these provisions outweigh the potential disadvantages of discouraging any such acquisition proposals because, among other things, the
negotiation of such proposals may improve their terms.

Classified Board of Directors

Our Board of Directors is divided into three classes of directors serving staggered three-year terms. Upon expiration of their current terms, directors
of each class will be elected to serve for three-year terms and until their successors are duly elected and qualify and each year one class of directors will be
elected by the stockholders. A classified board may render a change in control of us or removal of our incumbent management more difficult. We believe,
however, that the longer time required to elect a majority of a classified Board of Directors will help to ensure the continuity and stability of our
management and policies.

Election of Directors

Our bylaws provide that the affirmative vote of the holders of a plurality of the outstanding shares of stock entitled to vote in the election of directors
cast at a meeting of stockholders duly called and at which a quorum is present will be required to elect a director. Pursuant to our charter, our Board of
Directors may amend the bylaws to alter the vote required to elect directors.

Number of Directors; Vacancies; Removal

Our charter provides that the number of directors will be set only by the Board of Directors in accordance with our bylaws. Our bylaws provide that a
majority of our entire Board of Directors may at any time increase or
 

76



Table of Contents

decrease the number of directors. However, unless our bylaws are amended, the number of directors may never be less than one nor more than twelve. Our
charter provides that, at such time as we have at least three independent directors and our common stock is registered under the Exchange Act, we elect to
be subject to the provision of Subtitle 8 of Title 3 of the Maryland General Corporation Law regarding the filling of vacancies on the Board of Directors.
Accordingly, at such time, except as may be provided by the Board of Directors in setting the terms of any class or series of preferred stock, any and all
vacancies on the Board of Directors may be filled only by the affirmative vote of a majority of the remaining directors in office, even if the remaining
directors do not constitute a quorum, and any director elected to fill a vacancy will serve for the remainder of the full term of the directorship in which the
vacancy occurred and until a successor is elected and qualifies, subject to any applicable requirements of the 1940 Act.

Our charter provides that a director may be removed only for cause, as defined in our charter, and then only by the affirmative vote of at least
two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast in the election of directors.

Action by Stockholders

Under the Maryland General Corporation Law, stockholder action can be taken only at an annual or special meeting of stockholders or (unless the
charter provides for stockholder action by less than unanimous written consent, which our charter does not) by unanimous written consent in lieu of a
meeting. These provisions, combined with the requirements of our bylaws regarding the calling of a stockholder-requested special meeting of stockholders
discussed below, may have the effect of delaying consideration of a stockholder proposal until the next annual meeting.

Advance Notice Provisions for Stockholder Nominations and Stockholder Proposals

Our bylaws provide that with respect to an annual meeting of stockholders, nominations of persons for election to the Board of Directors and the
proposal of business to be considered by stockholders may be made only (a) pursuant to our notice of the meeting, (b) by or at the direction of the Board of
Directors or (c) by a stockholder who was a stockholder of record both at the time of giving notice by the stockholder and at the time of the annual meeting,
who is entitled to vote at the meeting and who has complied with the advance notice procedures of our bylaws. With respect to special meetings of
stockholders, only the business specified in our notice of the meeting may be brought before the meeting. Nominations of persons for election to the Board
of Directors at a special meeting may be made only (1) by or at the direction of the Board of Directors or (2) provided that the special meeting has been
called in accordance with our bylaws for the purposes of electing directors, by a stockholder who is a stockholder of record both at the time of giving of
notice and at the time of the special meeting, who is entitled to vote at the meeting and who has complied with the advance notice provisions of the bylaws.

The purpose of requiring stockholders to give us advance notice of nominations and other business is to afford our Board of Directors a meaningful
opportunity to consider the qualifications of the proposed nominees and the advisability of any other proposed business and, to the extent deemed necessary
or desirable by our Board of Directors, to inform stockholders and make recommendations about such qualifications or business, as well as to provide a
more orderly procedure for conducting meetings of stockholders. Although our bylaws do not give our Board of Directors any power to disapprove
stockholder nominations for the election of directors or proposals recommending certain action, they may have the effect of precluding a contest for the
election of directors or the consideration of stockholder proposals if proper procedures are not followed and of discouraging or deterring a third-party from
conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect its own slate of directors or to approve its own proposal without regard to whether consideration of such
nominees or proposals might be harmful or beneficial to us and our stockholders.

Calling of Special Meetings of Stockholders

Our bylaws provide that special meetings of stockholders may be called by our Board of Directors and certain of our officers. Additionally, our
bylaws provide that, subject to the satisfaction of certain procedural and
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informational requirements by the stockholders requesting the meeting, a special meeting of stockholders will be called by the secretary of the corporation
upon the written request of stockholders entitled to cast not less than a majority of all the votes entitled to be cast at such meeting.

Approval of Extraordinary Corporate Action; Amendment of Charter and Bylaws

Under Maryland law, a Maryland corporation generally cannot dissolve, amend its charter, merge, sell all or substantially all of its assets, engage in a
share exchange or engage in similar transactions outside the ordinary course of business, unless approved by the affirmative vote of stockholders entitled to
cast at least two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter. However, a Maryland corporation may provide in its charter for approval of these
matters by a lesser percentage, but not less than a majority of all of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter. Our charter generally provides for approval of
charter amendments and extraordinary transactions by the stockholders entitled to cast at least a majority of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter. Our
charter also provides that (1) certain charter amendments, (2) any proposal for our conversion, whether by charter amendment, merger or otherwise, from a
closed-end company to an open-end company, (3) any merger, consolidation, share exchange or sale or exchange of all or substantially all of our assets that
the Maryland General Corporation Law requires be approved by the stockholders of the Corporation, and (4) any proposal for our liquidation or dissolution
requires the approval of the stockholders entitled to cast at least 80% of the votes entitled to be cast on such matter. However, if such amendment or
proposal is approved by a majority of our continuing directors (in addition to approval by our Board of Directors), such amendment or proposal may be
approved by a majority of the votes entitled to be cast on such a matter. The “continuing directors” are defined in our charter as (1) our current directors,
(2) those directors whose nomination for election by the stockholders or whose election by the directors to fill vacancies is approved by a majority of our
current directors then on the Board of Directors or (3) any successor directors whose nomination for election by the stockholders or whose election by the
directors to fill vacancies is approved by a majority of continuing directors or the successor continuing directors then in office. In any event, in accordance
with the requirements of the 1940 Act, any amendment or proposal that would have the effect of changing the nature of our business so as to cause us to
cease to be, or to withdraw our election as, a BDC would be required to be approved by a majority of our outstanding voting securities, as defined under the
1940 Act.

Our charter and bylaws provide that the Board of Directors will have the exclusive power to make, alter, amend or repeal any provision of our
bylaws.

No Appraisal Rights

Except with respect to appraisal rights arising in connection with the Control Share Act discussed below, as permitted by the Maryland General
Corporation Law, our charter provides that stockholders will not be entitled to exercise appraisal rights unless a majority of the Board of Directors shall
determine such rights apply.

Control Share Acquisitions

The Maryland General Corporation Law provides that control shares of a Maryland corporation acquired in a control share acquisition have no
voting rights except to the extent approved by a vote of two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter (the “Control Share Act”). Shares owned by
the acquirer, by officers or by directors who are employees of the corporation are excluded from shares entitled to vote on the matter. Control shares are
voting shares of stock which, if aggregated with all other shares of stock owned by the acquirer or in respect of which the acquirer is able to exercise or
direct the exercise of voting power (except solely by virtue of a revocable proxy), would entitle the acquirer to exercise voting power in electing directors
within one of the following ranges of voting power:
 

 •  one-tenth or more but less than one-third;
 

 •  one-third or more but less than a majority; or
 

 •  a majority or more of all voting power.
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The requisite stockholder approval must be obtained each time an acquirer crosses one of the thresholds of voting power set forth above. Control
shares do not include shares the acquiring person is then entitled to vote as a result of having previously obtained stockholder approval. A control share
acquisition means the acquisition of control shares, subject to certain exceptions.

A person who has made or proposes to make a control share acquisition may compel the Board of Directors of the corporation to call a special
meeting of stockholders to be held within 50 days of demand to consider the voting rights of the shares. The right to compel the calling of a special meeting
is subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, including an undertaking to pay the expenses of the meeting. If no request for a meeting is made, the
corporation may itself present the question at any stockholders meeting.

If voting rights are not approved at the meeting or if the acquiring person does not deliver an acquiring person statement as required by the statute,
then the corporation may redeem for fair value any or all of the control shares, except those for which voting rights have previously been approved. The
right of the corporation to redeem control shares is subject to certain conditions and limitations, including compliance with the 1940 Act. Fair value is
determined, without regard to the absence of voting rights for the control shares, as of the date of the last control share acquisition by the acquirer or of any
meeting of stockholders at which the voting rights of the shares are considered and not approved. If voting rights for control shares are approved at a
stockholders meeting and the acquirer becomes entitled to vote a majority of the shares entitled to vote, all other stockholders may exercise appraisal rights.
The fair value of the shares as determined for purposes of appraisal rights may not be less than the highest price per share paid by the acquirer in the control
share acquisition.

The Control Share Act does not apply (a) to shares acquired in a merger, consolidation or share exchange if the corporation is a party to the
transaction or (b) to acquisitions approved or exempted by the charter or bylaws of the corporation. Our bylaws contain a provision exempting from the
Control Share Act any and all acquisitions by any person of our shares of stock. There can be no assurance that such provision will not be amended or
eliminated at any time in the future, to the extent permitted by the 1940 Act.

Business Combinations

Under Maryland law, “business combinations” between a Maryland corporation and an interested stockholder or an affiliate of an interested
stockholder are prohibited for five years after the most recent date on which the interested stockholder becomes an interested stockholder (the “Business
Combination Act”). These business combinations include a merger, consolidation, share exchange or, in circumstances specified in the statute, an asset
transfer or issuance or reclassification of equity securities. An interested stockholder is defined as:
 

 •  any person who beneficially owns 10% or more of the voting power of the corporation’s outstanding voting stock; or
 

 •  an affiliate or associate of the corporation who, at any time within the two-year period prior to the date in question, was the beneficial owner
of 10% or more of the voting power of the then outstanding voting stock of the corporation.

A person is not an interested stockholder under this statute if the Board of Directors approved in advance the transaction by which the stockholder
otherwise would have become an interested stockholder. However, in approving a transaction, the board of directors may provide that its approval is subject
to compliance, at or after the time of approval, with any terms and conditions determined by the board.
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After the five-year prohibition, any business combination between the Maryland corporation and an interested stockholder generally must be
recommended by the board of directors of the corporation and approved by the affirmative vote of at least:
 

 •  80% of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of outstanding shares of voting stock of the corporation; and
 

 •  two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of voting stock of the corporation other than shares held by the interested stockholder
with whom or with whose affiliate the business combination is to be effected or held by an affiliate or associate of the interested stockholder.

These super-majority vote requirements do not apply if the corporation’s common stockholders receive a minimum price, as defined under Maryland
law, for their shares in the form of cash or other consideration in the same form as previously paid by the interested stockholder for its shares.

The statute permits various exemptions from its provisions, including business combinations that are exempted by the Board of Directors before the
time that the interested stockholder becomes an interested stockholder. Our Board of Directors has adopted a resolution that any business combination
between us and any other person is exempted from the provisions of the Business Combination Act, provided that the business combination is first
approved by the Board of Directors, including a majority of the directors who are not interested persons as defined in the 1940 Act. This resolution may be
altered or repealed in whole or in part at any time. If this resolution is repealed, or the Board of Directors does not otherwise approve a business
combination, the statute may discourage others from trying to acquire control of us and increase the difficulty of consummating any offer.

Conflict with 1940 Act

Our bylaws provide that, if and to the extent that any provision of the Maryland General Corporation Law, including the Control Share Act (if we
amend our bylaws to be subject to such Act) and the Business Combination Act, or any provision of our charter or bylaws conflicts with any provision of
the 1940 Act, the applicable provision of the 1940 Act will control.
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DESCRIPTION OF OUR PREFERRED STOCK

In addition to shares of common stock, our charter authorizes the issuance of preferred stock. We may issue preferred stock from time to time,
although we have no immediate intention to do so. If we offer preferred stock under this prospectus, we will issue an appropriate prospectus supplement.
We may issue preferred stock from time to time in one or more classes or series, without stockholder approval. Prior to issuance of shares of each class or
series, our board of directors is required by Maryland law and by our charter to set the terms, preferences, conversion or other rights, voting powers,
restrictions, limitations as to dividends or other distributions, qualifications and terms or conditions of redemption for each class or series. Any such an
issuance must adhere to the requirements of the 1940 Act, Maryland law and any other limitations imposed by law.

The following is a general description of the terms of the preferred stock we may issue from time to time. Particular terms of any preferred stock we
offer will be described in the prospectus supplement relating to such preferred stock.

If we issue preferred stock, it will pay dividends to the holders of the preferred stock at either a fixed rate or a rate that will be reset frequently based
on short-term interest rates, as described in a prospectus supplement accompanying each preferred share offering.

The 1940 Act requires, among other things, that (1) immediately after issuance and before any distribution is made with respect to common stock, the
liquidation preference of the preferred stock, together with all other senior securities, must not exceed an amount equal to 66.7% of our total assets (taking
into account such distribution), (2) the holders of shares of preferred stock, if any are issued, must be entitled as a class to elect two directors at all times
and to elect a majority of the directors if dividends on the preferred stock are in arrears by two years or more and (3) such shares be cumulative as to
dividends and have a complete preference over our common stock to payment of their liquidation preference in the event of a dissolution.

For any series of preferred stock that we may issue, our board of directors will determine and the articles supplementary and prospectus supplement
relating to such series will describe:
 

 •  the designation and number of shares of such series;
 

 •  the rate, whether fixed or variable, and time at which any dividends will be paid on shares of such series, as well as whether such dividends
are participating or non-participating;

 

 •  any provisions relating to convertibility or exchangeability of the shares of such series;
 

 •  the rights and preferences, if any, of holders of shares of such series upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding up of our affairs;
 

 •  the voting powers, if any, of the holders of shares of such series;
 

 •  any provisions relating to the redemption of the shares of such series;
 

 •  any limitations on our ability to pay dividends or make distributions on, or acquire or redeem, other securities while shares of such series are
outstanding;

 

 •  any conditions or restrictions on our ability to issue additional shares of such series or other securities;
 

 •  if applicable, a discussion of certain U.S. federal income tax considerations; and
 

 •  any other relative powers, preferences and participating, optional or special rights of shares of such series, and the qualifications, limitations
or restrictions thereof.

All shares of preferred stock that we may issue will be identical and of equal rank except as to the particular terms thereof that may be fixed by our
board of directors, and all shares of each series of preferred stock will be identical and of equal rank except as to the dates from which dividends, if any,
thereon will be cumulative. We urge you to read the applicable prospectus supplement and any free writing prospectus that we may authorize to be
provided to you related to any preferred stock being offered, as well as the complete articles supplementary that contain the terms of the applicable series of
preferred stock.
 

81



Table of Contents

DESCRIPTION OF OUR SUBSCRIPTION RIGHTS

General

We may issue subscription rights to our stockholders to purchase shares of our securities or a combination of our securities. Subscription rights may
be issued independently or together with any other offered security and may or may not be transferable by the person purchasing or receiving the
subscription rights. In connection with a subscription rights offering to our stockholders, we would distribute certificates evidencing the subscription rights
and a prospectus supplement to our stockholders on the record date that we set for receiving subscription rights in such subscription rights offering. We
urge you to read the applicable prospectus supplement and any free writing prospectus that we may authorize to be provided to you related to any
subscription rights offering.

The applicable prospectus supplement would describe the following terms of subscription rights in respect of which this prospectus is being
delivered:
 

 •  the period of time the offering would remain open (which shall be open a minimum number of days such that all record holders would be
eligible to participate in the offering and shall not be open longer than 120 days);

 

 •  the title of such subscription rights;
 

 •  the exercise price for such subscription rights (or method of calculation thereof);
 

 •  the ratio of the offering (which, in the case of transferable rights, will require a minimum of three shares to be held of record before a person
is entitled to purchase an additional share);

 

 •  the number of such subscription rights issued to each stockholder;
 

 •  the extent to which such subscription rights are transferable and the market on which they may be traded if they are transferable;
 

 •  if applicable, a discussion of certain U.S. federal income tax considerations applicable to the issuance or exercise of such subscription rights;
 

 •  the date on which the right to exercise such subscription rights shall commence, and the date on which such right shall expire (subject to any
extension);

 

 •  the extent to which such subscription rights include an over-subscription privilege with respect to unsubscribed securities and the terms of
such over-subscription privilege;

 

 •  any termination right we may have in connection with such subscription rights offering; and
 

 •  any other terms of such subscription rights, including exercise, settlement and other procedures and limitations relating to the transfer and
exercise of such subscription rights.

Exercise Of Subscription Rights

Each subscription right would entitle the holder of the subscription right to purchase for cash such amount of shares of common stock at such
exercise price as shall in each case be set forth in, or be determinable as set forth in, the prospectus supplement relating to the subscription rights offered
thereby. Subscription rights may be exercised at any time up to the close of business on the expiration date for such subscription rights set forth in the
prospectus supplement. After the close of business on the expiration date, all unexercised subscription rights would become void.

Subscription rights may be exercised as set forth in the prospectus supplement relating to the subscription rights offered thereby. Upon receipt of
payment and the subscription rights certificate properly completed and duly executed at the corporate trust office of the subscription rights agent or any
other office indicated in the prospectus supplement we will forward, as soon as practicable, the shares of common stock purchasable upon
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such exercise. To the extent permissible under applicable law, we may determine to offer any unsubscribed offered securities directly to persons other than
stockholders, to or through agents, underwriters or dealers or through a combination of such methods, as set forth in the applicable prospectus supplement.

Dilutive Effects

Any stockholder who chooses not to participate in a rights offering should expect to own a smaller interest in Logan Ridge upon completion of such
rights offering. Any rights offering will dilute the ownership interest and voting power of stockholders who do not fully exercise their subscription rights.
Further, because the net proceeds per share from any rights offering may be lower than our then current net asset value per share, the rights offering may
reduce our net asset value per share. The amount of dilution that a stockholder will experience could be substantial, particularly to the extent we engage in
multiple rights offerings within a limited time period. In addition, the market price of our common stock could be adversely affected while a rights offering
is ongoing as a result of the possibility that a significant number of additional shares may be issued upon completion of such rights offering. All of our
stockholders will also indirectly bear the expenses associated with any rights offering we may conduct, regardless of whether they elect to exercise any
rights.
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DESCRIPTION OF OUR WARRANTS

The following is a general description of the terms of the warrants we may issue from time to time. Particular terms of any warrants we offer will be
described in the prospectus supplement relating to such warrants. We urge you to read the applicable prospectus supplement and any free writing
prospectus that we may authorize to be provided to you related to any warrants offering.

We may issue warrants representing rights to purchase shares of our securities or any combination of our securities. Such warrants may be issued
independently or together with shares of common stock, preferred stock or debt securities and may be attached or separate from such shares of common
stock, preferred stock or debt securities. We will issue each series of warrants under a separate warrant agreement to be entered into between us and a
warrant agent. The warrant agent will act solely as our agent and will not assume any obligation or relationship of agency for or with holders or beneficial
owners of warrants.

A prospectus supplement will describe the particular terms of any series of warrants we may issue, including the following:
 

 •  the title of such warrants;
 

 •  the aggregate number of such warrants;
 

 •  the price or prices at which such warrants will be issued;
 

 •  the currency or currencies, including composite currencies, in which the price of such warrants may be payable;
 

 •  if applicable, the designation and terms of the securities with which the warrants are issued and the number of warrants issued with each such
security or each principal amount of such security;

 

 
•  in the case of warrants to purchase debt securities, the principal amount of debt securities purchasable upon exercise of one warrant and the

price at which and the currency or currencies, including composite currencies, in which this principal amount of debt securities may be
purchased upon such exercise;

 

 
•  in the case of warrants to purchase common stock or preferred stock, the number of shares of common stock or preferred stock, as the case

may be, purchasable upon exercise of one warrant and the price at which and the currency or currencies, including composite currencies, in
which these shares may be purchased upon such exercise;

 

 •  the date on which the right to exercise such warrants shall commence and the date on which such right will expire;
 

 •  whether such warrants will be issued in registered form or bearer form;
 

 •  if applicable, the minimum or maximum amount of such warrants which may be exercised at any one time;
 

 •  if applicable, the number of such warrants issued with each share of common stock;
 

 •  if applicable, the date on and after which such warrants and the related shares of common stock will be separately transferable;
 

 •  information with respect to book-entry procedures, if any;
 

 •  if applicable, a discussion of certain U.S. federal income tax considerations; and
 

 •  any other terms of such warrants, including terms, procedures and limitations relating to the exchange and exercise of such warrants.
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Logan Ridge and the warrant agent may amend or supplement the warrant agreement for a series of warrants without the consent of the holders of the
warrants issued thereunder to effect changes that are not inconsistent with the provisions of the warrants and that do not materially and adversely affect the
interests of the holders of the warrants.

Prior to exercising their warrants, holders of warrants will not have any of the rights of holders of the securities purchasable upon such exercise,
including, in the case of warrants to purchase debt securities, the right to receive principal, premium, if any, or interest payments, on the debt securities
purchasable upon exercise or to enforce covenants in the applicable indenture or, in the case of warrants to purchase common stock or preferred stock, the
right to receive dividends, if any, or payments upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding up or to exercise any voting rights.

Under the 1940 Act, we may generally only offer warrants provided that (1) the warrants expire by their terms within ten years; (2) the exercise or
conversion price is not less than the current market value at the date of issuance; (3) our stockholders authorize the proposal to issue such warrants, and our
board of directors approves such issuance on the basis that the issuance is in the best interests of Logan Ridge and its stockholders; and (4) if the warrants
are accompanied by other securities, the warrants are not separately transferable unless no class of such warrants and the securities accompanying them has
been publicly distributed. The 1940 Act also provides that the amount of our voting securities that would result from the exercise of all outstanding
warrants at the time of issuance may not exceed 25.0% of our outstanding voting securities.
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DESCRIPTION OF OUR DEBT SECURITIES

We may issue debt securities in one or more series. The specific terms of each series of debt securities will be described in the particular prospectus
supplement relating to that series. The prospectus supplement may or may not modify the general terms found in this prospectus and will be filed with the
SEC. For a complete description of the terms of a particular series of debt securities, you should read this prospectus, the applicable prospectus supplement
and any free writing prospectus that we may authorize to be provided to you relating to that particular offering of debt securities.

As required by federal law for all bonds and notes of companies that are publicly offered, the debt securities are governed by a document called an
“indenture.” An indenture is a contract between us and the financial institution acting as trustee on your behalf, and is subject to and governed by the Trust
Indenture Act of 1939, as amended. The trustee has two main roles. First, the trustee can enforce your rights against us if we default. There are some
limitations on the extent to which the trustee acts on your behalf, described in the second paragraph under “— Events of Default — Remedies if an Event
of Default Occurs.” Second, the trustee performs certain administrative duties for us with respect to our debt securities.

This section includes a description of the material provisions of the indenture. Because this section is a summary, however, it does not describe every
aspect of the debt securities and the indenture. We urge you to read the indenture because it, and not this description, defines your rights as a holder of debt
securities. A copy of the form of indenture is attached as, or incorporated by reference to, an exhibit to the registration statement of which this prospectus is
a part. We will file a supplemental indenture with the SEC in connection with any debt offering, at which time the supplemental indenture would be
publicly available. See “Available Information” for information on how to obtain a copy of the indenture.

The prospectus supplement, which will accompany this prospectus, will describe the particular series of debt securities being offered by including:
 

 •  the designation or title of the series of debt securities;
 

 •  the total principal amount of the series of debt securities;
 

 •  the percentage of the principal amount at which the series of debt securities will be offered;
 

 •  the date or dates on which principal will be payable;
 

 •  the rate or rates (which may be either fixed or variable) and/or the method of determining such rate or rates of interest, if any;
 

 •  the date or dates from which any interest will accrue, or the method of determining such date or dates, and the date or dates on which any
interest will be payable;

 

 •  whether any interest may be paid by issuing additional securities of the same series in lieu of cash (and the terms upon which any such
interest may be paid by issuing additional securities);

 

 •  the terms for redemption, extension or early repayment, if any;
 

 •  the currencies in which the series of debt securities are issued and payable;
 

 
•  whether the amount of payments of principal, premium or interest, if any, on a series of debt securities will be determined with reference to an

index, formula or other method (which could be based on one or more currencies, commodities, equity indices or other indices) and how
these amounts will be determined;

 

 •  the place or places, if any, other than or in addition to the Borough of Manhattan in the City of New York, of payment, transfer, conversion
and/or exchange of the debt securities;

 

 •  the denominations in which the offered debt securities will be issued (if other than $1,000 and any integral multiple thereof);
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 •  the provision for any sinking fund;
 

 •  any restrictive covenants;
 

 •  any Events of Default (as defined in “Events of Default” below);
 

 •  whether the series of debt securities are issuable in certificated form;
 

 •  any provisions for defeasance or covenant defeasance;
 

 •  any special U.S. federal income tax implications, including, if applicable, U.S. federal income tax considerations relating to original issue
discount;

 

 •  whether and under what circumstances we will pay additional amounts in respect of any tax, assessment or governmental charge and, if so,
whether we will have the option to redeem the debt securities rather than pay the additional amounts (and the terms of this option);

 

 •  any provisions for convertibility or exchangeability of the debt securities into or for any other securities;
 

 •  whether the debt securities are subject to subordination and the terms of such subordination;
 

 •  whether the debt securities are secured and the terms of any security interest;
 

 •  the listing, if any, on a securities exchange; and
 

 •  any other terms.

The debt securities may be secured or unsecured obligations. Unless the prospectus supplement states otherwise, principal (and premium, if any) and
interest, if any, will be paid by us in immediately available funds.

We are permitted, under specified conditions, to issue multiple classes of indebtedness if our asset coverage, as defined in the 1940 Act, is at least
equal to 200% immediately after each such issuance after giving effect to any exemptive relief granted to us by the SEC (or 150%, if certain conditions are
met, after November 1, 2019). For a discussion of the risks associated with leverage, see “Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our Business and Structure —
Regulations governing our operation as a BDC affect our ability to raise additional capital and the way in which we do so. As a BDC, the necessity of
raising additional capital may expose us to risks, including the typical risks associated with leverage.”

General

The indenture provides that any debt securities proposed to be sold under this prospectus and the accompanying prospectus supplement (“offered
debt securities”) and any debt securities issuable upon the exercise of warrants or upon conversion or exchange of other offered securities (“underlying debt
securities”) may be issued under the indenture in one or more series.

For purposes of this prospectus, any reference to the payment of principal of, or premium or interest, if any, on, debt securities will include additional
amounts if required by the terms of the debt securities.

The indenture does not limit the amount of debt securities that may be issued thereunder from time to time. Debt securities issued under the
indenture, when a single trustee is acting for all debt securities issued under the indenture, are called the “indenture securities.” The indenture also provides
that there may be more than one trustee thereunder, each with respect to one or more different series of indenture securities. See “— Resignation of
Trustee” below. At a time when two or more trustees are acting under the indenture, each with respect to only certain series, the term “indenture securities”
means the one or more series of debt securities with respect to which each respective trustee is acting. In the event that there is more than one trustee under
the indenture, the
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powers and trust obligations of each trustee described in this prospectus will extend only to the one or more series of indenture securities for which it is
trustee. If two or more trustees are acting under the indenture, then the indenture securities for which each trustee is acting would be treated as if issued
under separate indentures.

Except as described under “— Events of Default” and “— Merger or Consolidation” below, the indenture does not contain any provisions that give
you protection in the event we issue a large amount of debt or we are acquired by another entity.

We refer you to the prospectus supplement for information with respect to any deletions from, modifications of or additions to the Events of Default
or our covenants, as applicable, that are described below, including any addition of a covenant or other provision providing event risk protection or similar
protection.

We have the ability to issue indenture securities with terms different from those of indenture securities previously issued and, without the consent of
the holders thereof, to reopen a previous issue of a series of indenture securities and issue additional indenture securities of that series unless the reopening
was restricted when that series was created.

Conversion and Exchange

If any debt securities are convertible into or exchangeable for other securities, the prospectus supplement will explain the terms and conditions of the
conversion or exchange, including the conversion price or exchange ratio (or the calculation method), the conversion or exchange period (or how the period
will be determined), if conversion or exchange will be mandatory or at the option of the holder or us, provisions for adjusting the conversion price or the
exchange ratio, and provisions affecting conversion or exchange in the event of the redemption of the underlying debt securities. These terms may also
include provisions under which the number or amount of other securities to be received by the holders of the debt securities upon conversion or exchange
would be calculated according to the market price of the other securities as of a time stated in the prospectus supplement.

Issuance of Securities in Registered Form

We may issue the debt securities in registered form, in which case we may issue them either in book-entry form only or in “certificated” form. Debt
securities issued in book-entry form will be represented by global securities. We expect that we will usually issue debt securities in book-entry only form
represented by global securities.

Book-Entry Holders

We will issue registered debt securities in book-entry form only, unless we specify otherwise in the applicable prospectus supplement. This means
debt securities will be represented by one or more global securities registered in the name of a depositary that will hold them on behalf of financial
institutions that participate in the depositary’s book-entry system. These participating institutions, in turn, hold beneficial interests in the debt securities
held by the depositary or its nominee. These institutions may hold these interests on behalf of themselves or customers.

Under the indenture, only the person in whose name a debt security is registered is recognized as the holder of that debt security. Consequently, for
debt securities issued in book-entry form, we will recognize only the depositary as the holder of the debt securities and we will make all payments on the
debt securities to the depositary. The depositary will then pass along the payments it receives to its participants, which in turn will pass the payments along
to their customers who are the beneficial owners. The depositary and its participants do so under agreements they have made with one another or with their
customers; they are not obligated to do so under the terms of the debt securities.
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As a result, investors will not own debt securities directly. Instead, they will own beneficial interests in a global security, through a bank, broker or
other financial institution that participates in the depositary’s book-entry system or holds an interest through a participant. As long as the debt securities are
represented by one or more global securities, investors will be indirect holders, and not holders, of the debt securities.

Street Name Holders

In the future, we may issue debt securities in certificated form or terminate a global security. In these cases, investors may choose to hold their debt
securities in their own names or in “street name.” Debt securities held in street name are registered in the name of a bank, broker or other financial
institution chosen by the investor, and the investor would hold a beneficial interest in those debt securities through the account he or she maintains at that
institution.

For debt securities held in street name, we will recognize only the intermediary banks, brokers and other financial institutions in whose names the
debt securities are registered as the holders of those debt securities, and we will make all payments on those debt securities to them. These institutions will
pass along the payments they receive to their customers who are the beneficial owners, but only because they agree to do so in their customer agreements
or because they are legally required to do so. Investors who hold debt securities in street name will be indirect holders, and not holders, of the debt
securities.

Legal Holders

Our obligations, as well as the obligations of the applicable trustee and those of any third parties employed by us or the applicable trustee, run only to
the legal holders of the debt securities. We do not have obligations to investors who hold beneficial interests in global securities, in street name or by any
other indirect means. This will be the case whether an investor chooses to be an indirect holder of a debt security or has no choice because we are issuing
the debt securities only in book-entry form.

For example, once we make a payment or give a notice to the holder, we have no further responsibility for the payment or notice even if that holder is
required, under agreements with depositary participants or customers or by law, to pass it along to the indirect holders but does not do so. Similarly, if we
want to obtain the approval of the holders for any purpose (for example, to amend an indenture or to relieve us of the consequences of a default or of our
obligation to comply with a particular provision of an indenture), we would seek the approval only from the holders, and not the indirect holders, of the
debt securities. Whether and how the holders contact the indirect holders is up to the holders.

When we refer to you in this Description of Our Debt Securities, we mean those who invest in the debt securities being offered by this prospectus,
whether they are the holders or only indirect holders of those debt securities. When we refer to your debt securities, we mean the debt securities in which
you hold a direct or indirect interest.

Special Considerations for Indirect Holders

If you hold debt securities through a bank, broker or other financial institution, either in book-entry form or in street name, we urge you to check with
that institution to find out:
 

 •  how it handles securities payments and notices;
 

 •  whether it imposes fees or charges;
 

 •  how it would handle a request for the holders’ consent, if ever required;
 

 •  whether and how you can instruct it to send you debt securities registered in your own name so you can be a holder, if that is permitted in the
future for a particular series of debt securities;
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 •  how it would exercise rights under the debt securities if there were a default or other event triggering the need for holders to act to protect
their interests; and

 

 •  if the debt securities are in book-entry form, how the depositary’s rules and procedures will affect these matters.

Global Securities

As noted above, we usually will issue debt securities as registered securities in book-entry form only. A global security represents one or any other
number of individual debt securities. Generally, all debt securities represented by the same global securities will have the same terms.

Each debt security issued in book-entry form will be represented by a global security that we deposit with and register in the name of a financial
institution or its nominee that we select. The financial institution that we select for this purpose is called the depositary. Unless we specify otherwise in the
applicable prospectus supplement, The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York, known as DTC, will be the depositary for all debt securities
issued in book-entry form.

A global security may not be transferred to or registered in the name of anyone other than the depositary or its nominee, unless special termination
situations arise. We describe those situations below under “— Termination of a Global Security.” As a result of these arrangements, the depositary, or its
nominee, will be the sole registered owner and holder of all debt securities represented by a global security, and investors will be permitted to own only
beneficial interests in a global security. Beneficial interests must be held by means of an account with a broker, bank or other financial institution that in
turn has an account with the depositary or with another institution that has an account with the depositary. Thus, an investor whose security is represented
by a global security will not be a holder of the debt security, but only an indirect holder of a beneficial interest in the global security.

Special Considerations for Global Securities

As an indirect holder, an investor’s rights relating to a global security will be governed by the account rules of the investor’s financial institution and
of the depositary, as well as general laws relating to securities transfers. The depositary that holds the global security will be considered the holder of the
debt securities represented by the global security.

If debt securities are issued only in the form of a global security, an investor should be aware of the following:
 

 •  an investor cannot cause the debt securities to be registered in his or her name and cannot obtain certificates for his or her interest in the debt
securities, except in the special situations we describe below;

 

 •  an investor will be an indirect holder and must look to his or her own bank or broker for payments on the debt securities and protection of his
or her legal rights relating to the debt securities, as we describe under “— Issuance of Securities in Registered Form” above;

 

 •  an investor may not be able to sell interests in the debt securities to some insurance companies and other institutions that are required by law
to own their securities in non-book-entry form;

 

 •  an investor may not be able to pledge his or her interest in a global security in circumstances where certificates representing the debt
securities must be delivered to the lender or other beneficiary of the pledge in order for the pledge to be effective;

 

 
•  the depositary’s policies, which may change from time to time, will govern payments, transfers, exchanges and other matters relating to an

investor’s interest in a global security. We and the trustee have no responsibility for any aspect of the depositary’s actions or for its records of
ownership interests in a global security. We and the trustee also do not supervise the depositary in any way;
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 •  if we redeem less than all the debt securities of a particular series being redeemed, DTC’s practice is to determine by lot the amount to be
redeemed from each of its participants holding that series;

 

 
•  an investor is required to give notice of exercise of any option to elect repayment of its debt securities, through its participant, to the

applicable trustee and to deliver the related debt securities by causing its participant to transfer its interest in those debt securities, on DTC’s
records, to the applicable trustee;

 

 
•  DTC requires that those who purchase and sell interests in a global security deposited in its book- entry system use immediately available

funds; your broker or bank may also require you to use immediately available funds when purchasing or selling interests in a global security;
and

 

 

•  financial institutions that participate in the depositary’s book-entry system, and through which an investor holds its interest in a global
security, may also have their own policies affecting payments, notices and other matters relating to the debt securities; there may be more than
one financial intermediary in the chain of ownership for an investor; we do not monitor and are not responsible for the actions of any of those
intermediaries.

Termination of a Global Security

If a global security is terminated for any reason, interests in it will be exchanged for certificates in non-book-entry form (certificated securities). After
that exchange, the choice of whether to hold the certificated debt securities directly or in street name will be up to the investor. Investors must consult their
own banks or brokers to find out how to have their interests in a global security transferred on termination to their own names, so that they will be holders.
We have described the rights of legal holders and street name investors under “— Issuance of Securities in Registered Form” above.

The prospectus supplement may list situations for terminating a global security that would apply only to the particular series of debt securities
covered by the prospectus supplement. If a global security is terminated, only the depositary, and not we or the applicable trustee, is responsible for
deciding the investors in whose names the debt securities represented by the global security will be registered and, therefore, who will be the holders of
those debt securities.

Payment and Paying Agents

We will pay interest to the person listed in the applicable trustee’s records as the owner of the debt security at the close of business on a particular day
in advance of each due date for interest, even if that person no longer owns the debt security on the interest due date. That day, usually about two weeks in
advance of the interest due date, is called the “record date.” Because we will pay all the interest for an interest period to the holders on the record date,
holders buying and selling debt securities must work out between themselves the appropriate purchase price. The most common manner is to adjust the
sales price of the debt securities to prorate interest fairly between buyer and seller based on their respective ownership periods within the particular interest
period. This prorated interest amount is called “accrued interest.”

Payments on Global Securities

We will make payments on a global security in accordance with the applicable policies of the depositary as in effect from time to time. Under those
policies, we will make payments directly to the depositary, or its nominee, and not to any indirect holders who own beneficial interests in the global
security. An indirect holder’s right to those payments will be governed by the rules and practices of the depositary and its participants, as described under
“— Special Considerations for Global Securities.”

Payments on Certificated Securities

We will make payments on a certificated debt security as follows. We will pay interest that is due on an interest payment date to the holder of debt
securities as shown on the trustee’s records as of the close of business
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on the regular record date at our office and/or at other offices that may be specified in the prospectus supplement. We will make all payments of principal
and premium, if any, by check at the office of the applicable trustee and/or at other offices that may be specified in the prospectus supplement or in a notice
to holders against surrender of the debt security.

Alternatively, at our option, we may pay any cash interest that becomes due on the debt security by mailing a check to the holder at his, her or its
address shown on the trustee’s records as of the close of business on the regular record date or by transfer to an account at a bank in the United States, in
either case, on the due date.

Payment When Offices Are Closed

If any payment is due on a debt security on a day that is not a business day, we will make the payment on the next day that is a business day.
Payments made on the next business day in this situation will be treated under the indenture as if they were made on the original due date, except as
otherwise indicated in the attached prospectus supplement. Such payment will not result in a default under any debt security or the indenture, and no
interest will accrue on the payment amount from the original due date to the next day that is a business day.

Book-entry and other indirect holders should consult their banks or brokers for information on how they will receive payments on their debt
securities.

Events of Default

You will have rights if an Event of Default occurs in respect of the debt securities of your series and is not cured, as described later in this subsection.

The term “Event of Default” in respect of the debt securities of your series means any of the following:
 

 •  we do not pay the principal of, or any premium on, a debt security of the series within five days of its due date;
 

 •  we do not pay interest on a debt security of the series when due, and such default is not cured within 30 days;
 

 
•  we remain in breach of a covenant in respect of debt securities of the series for 60 days after we receive a written notice of default stating we

are in breach (the notice must be sent by either the trustee or holders of at least 25% of the principal amount of the debt securities of the
series);

 

 •  we file for bankruptcy or certain other events of bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization occur and remain undischarged or unstayed for a
period of 90 days;

 

 •  the series of debt securities has an asset coverage, as such term is defined in the 1940 Act, of less than 100% on the last business day of each
of twenty-four consecutive calendar months, after giving effect to any exemptive relief granted to the Company by the SEC; or

 

 •  any other Event of Default in respect of debt securities of the series described in the prospectus supplement occurs.

An Event of Default for a particular series of debt securities does not necessarily constitute an Event of Default for any other series of debt securities
issued under the same or any other indenture. The trustee may withhold notice to the holders of the debt securities of any default, except in the payment of
principal, premium, interest, or sinking or purchase fund installment, if it in good faith considers the withholding of notice to be in the interest of the
holders.
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Remedies if an Event of Default Occurs

If an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the trustee or the holders of not less than 25% in principal amount of the outstanding debt
securities of the affected series may (and the trustee shall at the request of such holders) declare the entire principal amount of all the debt securities of that
series to be due and immediately payable. This is called a declaration of acceleration of maturity. In certain circumstances, a declaration of acceleration of
maturity may be canceled by the holders of a majority in principal amount of the outstanding debt securities of the affected series if (1) we have deposited
with the trustee all amounts due and owing with respect to the securities (other than principal that has become due solely by reason of such acceleration)
and certain other amounts, and (2) any other Events of Default have been cured or waived.

The trustee is not required to take any action under the indenture at the request of any holders unless the holders offer the trustee protection from
expenses and liability reasonably satisfactory to it (called an “indemnity”). If indemnity reasonably satisfactory to the trustee is provided, the holders of a
majority in principal amount of the outstanding debt securities of the relevant series may direct the time, method and place of conducting any lawsuit or
other formal legal action seeking any remedy available to the trustee. The trustee may refuse to follow those directions in certain circumstances. No delay
or omission in exercising any right or remedy will be treated as a waiver of that right, remedy or Event of Default.

Before you are allowed to bypass your trustee and bring your own lawsuit or other formal legal action or take other steps to enforce your rights or
protect your interests relating to the debt securities, the following must occur:
 

 •  you must give the trustee written notice that an Event of Default with respect to the relevant debt securities has occurred and remains
uncured;

 

 
•  the holders of at least 25% in principal amount of all outstanding debt securities of the relevant series must make a written request that the

trustee take action because of the default and must offer the trustee indemnity, security or both reasonably satisfactory to it against the cost,
expenses, and other liabilities of taking that action;

 

 •  the trustee must not have taken action for 60 days after receipt of the above notice and offer of indemnity and/or security; and
 

 •  the holders of a majority in principal amount of the outstanding debt securities of that series must not have given the trustee a direction
inconsistent with the above notice during that 60-day period.

However, you are entitled at any time to bring a lawsuit for the payment of money due on your debt securities on or after the due date.

Book-entry and other indirect holders should consult their banks or brokers for information on how to give notice or direction to or make a
request of the trustee and how to declare or cancel an acceleration of maturity.

Each year, we will furnish to each trustee a written statement of certain of our officers certifying that to their knowledge we are in compliance with
the indenture and the debt securities, or else specifying any default.

Waiver of Default

Holders of a majority in principal amount of the outstanding debt securities of the affected series may waive any past defaults other than a default:
 

 •  in the payment of principal or interest; or
 

 •  in respect of a covenant that cannot be modified or amended without the consent of each holder.
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Merger or Consolidation

Under the terms of the indenture, we are generally permitted to consolidate or merge with another entity. We are also permitted to sell all or
substantially all of our assets to another entity. However, we may not take any of these actions unless all the following conditions are met:
 

 •  where we merge out of existence or convey or transfer our assets substantially as an entirety, the resulting entity must agree to be legally
responsible for our obligations under the debt securities;

 

 

•  the merger or sale of assets must not cause a default on the debt securities and we must not already be in default (unless the merger or sale
would cure the default). For purposes of this no-default test, a default would include an Event of Default that has occurred and has not been
cured, as described under “Events of Default” above. A default for this purpose would also include any event that would be an Event of
Default if the requirements for giving us a notice of default or our default having to exist for a specific period of time were disregarded;

 

 •  we must deliver certain certificates and documents to the trustee; or
 

 •  we must satisfy any other requirements specified in the prospectus supplement relating to a particular series of debt securities.

Modification or Waiver

There are three types of changes we can make to the indenture and the debt securities issued thereunder.

Changes Requiring Your Approval

First, there are changes that we cannot make to your debt securities without your specific approval. The following is a list of those types of changes:
 

 •  change the stated maturity of the principal of or interest on a debt security or the terms of any sinking fund with respect to any security;
 

 •  reduce any amounts due on a debt security;
 

 •  reduce the amount of principal payable upon acceleration of the maturity of an original issue discount or indexed security following a default
or upon the redemption thereof or the amount thereof provable in a bankruptcy proceeding;

 

 •  adversely affect any right of repayment at the holder’s option;
 

 •  change the place or currency of payment on a debt security (except as otherwise described in the prospectus or prospectus supplement);
 

 •  impair your right to sue for payment;
 

 •  adversely affect any right to convert or exchange a debt security in accordance with its terms;
 

 •  modify the subordination provisions in the indenture in a manner that is adverse to outstanding holders of the debt securities;
 

 •  reduce the percentage of holders of debt securities whose consent is needed to modify or amend the indenture;
 

 •  reduce the percentage of holders of debt securities whose consent is needed to waive compliance with certain provisions of the indenture or to
waive certain defaults;

 

 •  modify any other aspect of the provisions of the indenture dealing with supplemental indentures with the consent of holders, waiver of past
defaults, changes to the quorum or voting requirements or the waiver of certain covenants; and

 

 •  change any obligation we have to pay additional amounts.
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Changes Not Requiring Approval

The second type of change does not require any vote by the holders of the debt securities. This type is limited to clarifications, establishment of the
form or terms of new securities of any series as permitted by the indenture and certain other changes that would not adversely affect holders of the
outstanding debt securities in any material respect. We also do not need any approval to make any change that affects only debt securities to be issued under
the indenture after the change takes effect.

Changes Requiring Majority Approval

Any other change to the indenture and the debt securities would require the following approval:
 

 •  if the change affects only one series of debt securities, it must be approved by the holders of a majority in principal amount of that series; and
 

 •  if the change affects more than one series of debt securities issued under the same indenture, it must be approved by the holders of a majority
in principal amount of all of the series affected by the change, with all affected series voting together as one class for this purpose.

In each case, the required approval must be given by written consent.

The holders of a majority in principal amount of a series of debt securities issued under the indenture, voting together as one class for this purpose,
may waive our compliance with some of our covenants applicable to that series of debt securities. However, we cannot obtain a waiver of a payment
default or of any of the matters covered by the bullet points included above under “— Changes Requiring Your Approval.”

Further Details Concerning Voting

When taking a vote, we will use the following rules to decide how much principal to attribute to a debt security:
 

 •  for original issue discount securities, we will use the principal amount that would be due and payable on the voting date if the maturity of
these debt securities were accelerated to that date because of a default;

 

 •  for debt securities whose principal amount is not known (for example, because it is based on an index), we will use the principal face amount
at original issuance or a special rule for that debt security described in the prospectus supplement; and

 

 •  for debt securities denominated in one or more foreign currencies, we will use the U.S. dollar equivalent.

Debt securities will not be considered outstanding, and therefore not eligible to vote, if we have deposited or set aside in trust money for their
payment or redemption or if we, any other obligor, or any affiliate of us or any obligor own such debt securities. Debt securities will also not be eligible to
vote if they have been fully defeased as described later under “— Defeasance — Full Defeasance.”

We will generally be entitled to set any day as a record date for the purpose of determining the holders of outstanding indenture securities that are
entitled to vote or take other action under the indenture. However, the record date may not be more than 30 days before the date of the first solicitation of
holders to vote on or take such action. If we set a record date for a vote or other action to be taken by holders of one or more series, that vote or action may
be taken only by persons who are holders of outstanding indenture securities of those series on the record date and must be taken within eleven months
following the record date.
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Book-entry and other indirect holders should consult their banks or brokers for information on how approval may be granted or denied if
we seek to change the indenture or the debt securities or request a waiver.

Defeasance

The following provisions will be applicable to each series of debt securities unless we state in the applicable prospectus supplement that the
provisions of covenant defeasance and full defeasance will not be applicable to that series.

Covenant Defeasance

Under current U.S. federal tax law and the indenture, we can make the deposit described below and be released from some of the restrictive
covenants in the indenture under which the particular series was issued. This is called “covenant defeasance.” In that event, you would lose the protection
of those restrictive covenants but would gain the protection of having money and government securities set aside in trust to repay your debt securities. If we
achieved covenant defeasance and your debt securities were subordinated as described under “— Indenture Provisions — Subordination” below, such
subordination would not prevent the trustee under the indenture from applying the funds available to it from the deposit described in the first bullet below
to the payment of amounts due in respect of such debt securities for the benefit of the subordinated debt holders. In order to achieve covenant defeasance,
we must do the following:
 

 

•  we must deposit in trust for the benefit of all holders of a series of debt securities a combination of cash (in such currency in which such
securities are then specified as payable at stated maturity) or government obligations applicable to such securities (determined on the basis of
the currency in which such securities are then specified as payable at stated maturity) that will generate enough cash to make interest,
principal and any other payments on the debt securities on their various due dates and any mandatory sinking fund payments or analogous
payments;

 

 •  we must deliver to the trustee a legal opinion of our counsel confirming that, under current U.S. federal income tax law, we may make the
above deposit without causing you to be taxed on the debt securities any differently than if we did not make the deposit;

 

 
•  we must deliver to the trustee a legal opinion of our counsel stating that the above deposit does not require registration by us under the 1940

Act, as amended, and a legal opinion and officers’ certificate stating that all conditions precedent to covenant defeasance have been complied
with;

 

 •  defeasance must not result in a breach or violation of, or result in a default under, of the indenture or any of our other material agreements or
instruments;

 

 •  no default or event of default with respect to such debt securities shall have occurred and be continuing and no defaults or events of default
related to bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization shall occur during the next 90 days; and

 

 •  satisfy the conditions for covenant defeasance contained in any supplemental indentures.

If we accomplish covenant defeasance, you can still look to us for repayment of the debt securities if there were a shortfall in the trust deposit or the
trustee is prevented from making payment. For example, if one of the remaining Events of Default occurred (such as our bankruptcy) and the debt
securities became immediately due and payable, there might be such a shortfall. However, there is no assurance that we would have sufficient funds to
make payment of the shortfall.

Full Defeasance

If there is a change in U.S. federal tax law or we obtain an IRS ruling, as described in the second bullet below, we can legally release ourselves from
all payment and other obligations on the debt securities of a
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particular series (called “full defeasance”) if we put in place the following other arrangements for you to be repaid:
 

 

•  we must deposit in trust for the benefit of all holders of a series of debt securities a combination of cash (in such currency in which such
securities are then specified as payable at stated maturity) or government obligations applicable to such securities (determined on the basis of
the currency in which such securities are then specified as payable at stated maturity) that will generate enough cash to make interest,
principal and any other payments on the debt securities on their various due dates and any mandatory sinking fund payments or analogous
payments;

 

 

•  we must deliver to the trustee a legal opinion confirming that there has been a change in current U.S. federal tax law or an IRS ruling that
allows us to make the above deposit without causing you to be taxed on the debt securities any differently than if we did not make the deposit.
Under current U.S. federal tax law, the deposit and our legal release from the debt securities would be treated as though we paid you your
share of the cash and notes or bonds at the time the cash and notes or bonds were deposited in trust in exchange for your debt securities and
you would recognize gain or loss on the debt securities at the time of the deposit;

 

 •  we must deliver to the trustee a legal opinion of our counsel stating that the above deposit does not require registration by us under the 1940
Act, as amended, and a legal opinion and officers’ certificate stating that all conditions precedent to defeasance have been complied with;

 

 •  defeasance must not result in a breach or violation of, or constitute a default under, of the indenture or any of our other material agreements or
instruments;

 

 •  no default or event of default with respect to such debt securities shall have occurred and be continuing and no defaults or events of default
related to bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization shall occur during the next 90 days; and

 

 •  satisfy the conditions for full defeasance contained in any supplemental indentures.

If we ever did accomplish full defeasance, as described above, you would have to rely solely on the trust deposit for repayment of the debt securities.
You could not look to us for repayment in the unlikely event of any shortfall. Conversely, the trust deposit would most likely be protected from claims of
our lenders and other creditors if we ever became bankrupt or insolvent. If your debt securities were subordinated as described later under “— Indenture
Provisions — Subordination”, such subordination would not prevent the trustee under the indenture from applying the funds available to it from the deposit
referred to in the first bullet of the preceding paragraph to the payment of amounts due in respect of such debt securities for the benefit of the subordinated
debt holders.

Form, Exchange and Transfer of Certificated Registered Securities

If registered debt securities cease to be issued in book-entry form, they will be issued:
 

 •  only in fully registered certificated form;
 

 •  without interest coupons; and
 

 •  unless we indicate otherwise in the prospectus supplement, in denominations of $1,000 and amounts that are multiples of $1,000.

Holders may exchange their certificated securities for debt securities of smaller denominations or combined into fewer debt securities of larger
denominations, as long as the total principal amount is not changed and as long as the denomination is greater than the minimum denomination for such
securities.

Holders may exchange or transfer their certificated securities at the office of the trustee. We have appointed the trustee to act as our agent for
registering debt securities in the names of holders transferring debt securities. We may appoint another entity to perform these functions or perform them
ourselves.
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Holders will not be required to pay a service charge to transfer or exchange their certificated securities, but they may be required to pay any tax or
other governmental charge associated with the transfer or exchange. The transfer or exchange will be made only if our transfer agent is satisfied with the
holder’s proof of legal ownership.

If we have designated additional transfer agents for your debt security, they will be named in the prospectus supplement. We may appoint additional
transfer agents or cancel the appointment of any particular transfer agent. We may also approve a change in the office through which any transfer agent
acts.

If any certificated securities of a particular series are redeemable and we redeem less than all the debt securities of that series, we may block the
transfer or exchange of those debt securities during the period beginning 15 days before the day we mail the notice of redemption and ending on the day of
that mailing, in order to freeze the list of holders to prepare the mailing. We may also refuse to register transfers or exchanges of any certificated securities
selected for redemption, except that we will continue to permit transfers and exchanges of the unredeemed portion of any debt security that will be partially
redeemed.

If a registered debt security is issued in book-entry form, only the depositary will be entitled to transfer and exchange the debt security as described
in this subsection, since it will be the sole holder of the debt security.

Resignation of Trustee

Each trustee may resign or be removed with respect to one or more series of indenture securities provided that a successor trustee is appointed to act
with respect to these series and has accepted such appointment. In the event that two or more persons are acting as trustee with respect to different series of
indenture securities under the indenture, each of the trustees will be a trustee of a trust separate and apart from the trust administered by any other trustee.

Indenture Provisions — Subordination

Upon any distribution of our assets upon our dissolution, winding up, liquidation or reorganization, the payment of the principal of (and premium, if
any) and interest, if any, on any indenture securities denominated as subordinated debt securities is to be subordinated to the extent provided in the
indenture in right of payment to the prior payment in full of all Senior Indebtedness (as defined below), but our obligation to you to make payment of the
principal of (and premium, if any) and interest, if any, on such subordinated debt securities will not otherwise be affected. In addition, no payment on
account of principal (or premium, if any), sinking fund or interest, if any, may be made on such subordinated debt securities at any time unless full payment
of all amounts due in respect of the principal (and premium, if any), sinking fund and interest on Senior Indebtedness has been made or duly provided for in
money or money’s worth.

In the event that, notwithstanding the foregoing, any payment by us is received by the trustee in respect of subordinated debt securities or by the
holders of any of such subordinated debt securities, upon our dissolution, winding up, liquidation or reorganization before all Senior Indebtedness is paid in
full, the payment or distribution received by the trustee in respect of such subordinated debt securities or by the holders of any of such subordinated debt
securities must be paid over to the holders of the Senior Indebtedness or on their behalf for application to the payment of all the Senior Indebtedness
remaining unpaid until all the Senior Indebtedness has been paid in full, after giving effect to any concurrent payment or distribution to the holders of the
Senior Indebtedness. Subject to the payment in full of all Senior Indebtedness upon this distribution by us, the holders of such subordinated debt securities
will be subrogated to the rights of the holders of the Senior Indebtedness to the extent of payments made to the holders of the Senior Indebtedness out of
the distributive share of such subordinated debt securities.
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By reason of this subordination, in the event of a distribution of our assets upon our insolvency, certain of our senior creditors may recover more,
ratably, than holders of any subordinated debt securities or the holders of any indenture securities that are not Senior Indebtedness. The indenture provides
that these subordination provisions will not apply to money and securities held in trust under the defeasance provisions of the indenture.

Senior Indebtedness is defined in the indenture as the principal of (and premium, if any) and unpaid interest on:
 

 
•  our indebtedness (including indebtedness of others guaranteed by us), whenever created, incurred, assumed or guaranteed, for money

borrowed, that we have designated as “Senior Indebtedness” for purposes of the indenture and in accordance with the terms of the indenture
(including any indenture securities designated as Senior Indebtedness), and

 

 •  renewals, extensions, modifications and refinancings of any of this indebtedness.

If this prospectus is being delivered in connection with the offering of a series of indenture securities denominated as subordinated debt securities,
the accompanying prospectus supplement will set forth the approximate amount of our Senior Indebtedness and of our other Indebtedness outstanding as of
a recent date.

Secured Indebtedness and Ranking

Certain of our indebtedness, including certain series of indenture securities, may be secured. The prospectus supplement for each series of indenture
securities will describe the terms of any security interest for such series and will indicate the approximate amount of our secured indebtedness as of a recent
date. Any unsecured indenture securities will effectively rank junior to any secured indebtedness, including any secured indenture securities, that we incur
to the extent of the value of the assets securing such secured credit facilities or secured indebtedness. The debt securities, whether secured or unsecured, of
the Company will rank structurally junior to all existing and future indebtedness (including trade payables) incurred by our subsidiaries, financing vehicles,
or similar facilities.

In the event of our bankruptcy, liquidation, reorganization or other winding up, any of our assets that secure secured debt will be available to pay
obligations on unsecured debt securities only after all indebtedness under such secured debt has been repaid in full from such assets. We advise you that
there may not be sufficient assets remaining to pay amounts due on any or all unsecured debt securities then outstanding after fulfillment of this obligation.
As a result, the holders of unsecured indenture securities may recover less, ratably, than holders of any of our secured indebtedness.

The Trustee under the Indenture

U.S. Bank National Association serves as the trustee under the indenture.

Certain Considerations Relating to Foreign Currencies

Debt securities denominated or payable in foreign currencies may entail significant risks. These risks include the possibility of significant
fluctuations in the foreign currency markets, the imposition or modification of foreign exchange controls and potential illiquidity in the secondary market.
These risks will vary depending upon the currency or currencies involved and will be more fully described in the applicable prospectus supplement.

Book-Entry Procedures

Unless otherwise specified in the applicable prospectus supplement, the debt securities will be issued in book-entry form, and the Depository Trust
Company, or DTC, will act as securities depository for the debt
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securities. Unless otherwise specified in the applicable prospectus supplement, the debt securities will be issued as fully registered securities registered in
the name of Cede & Co. (DTC’s partnership nominee) or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. One fully-
registered certificate will be issued for the debt securities, in the aggregate principal amount of such issue, and will be deposited with DTC.

DTC is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New York Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the New York
Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and a
“clearing agency” registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Exchange Act. DTC holds and provides asset servicing for over 3.5 million
issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity, corporate and municipal debt issues, and money market instruments from over 100 countries that DTC’s participants, or
Direct Participants, deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales and other securities transactions in
deposited securities through electronic computerized book-entry transfers and pledges between Direct Participants’ accounts. This eliminates the need for
physical movement of securities certificates. Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies,
clearing corporations, and certain other organizations. DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation, or DTCC.

DTCC is the holding company for DTC, National Securities Clearing Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of which are
registered clearing agencies. DTCC is owned by the users of its regulated subsidiaries. Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as both
U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies and clearing corporations that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship
with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly, or Indirect Participants. DTC has a Standard & Poor’s rating of AA+. The DTC Rules applicable to
its participants are on file with the SEC. More information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com and www.dtc.org.

Purchases of debt securities under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, which will receive a credit for the debt securities
on DTC’s records. The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each security, or the “Beneficial Owner,” is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and
Indirect Participants’ records. Beneficial Owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchase. Beneficial Owners are, however,
expected to receive written confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect
Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction. Transfers of ownership interests in the debt securities are to be accomplished
by entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates
representing their ownership interests in debt securities, except in the event that use of the book-entry system for the debt securities is discontinued.

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all debt securities deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are registered in the name of DTC’s partnership
nominee, Cede & Co. or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. The deposit of debt securities with DTC and their
registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do not effect any change in beneficial ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the actual
Beneficial Owners of the debt securities; DTC’s records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts such debt securities are
credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners. The Direct and Indirect Participants will remain responsible for keeping account of their
holdings on behalf of their customers.

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants to Indirect Participants, and by Direct
Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory
requirements as may be in effect from time to time.
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Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC. If less than all of the debt securities within an issue are being redeemed, DTC’s practice is to determine by
lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in such issue to be redeemed.

Redemption proceeds, distributions, and interest payments on the debt securities will be made to Cede & Co., or such other nominee as may be
requested by an authorized representative of DTC. DTC’s practice is to credit Direct Participants’ accounts upon DTC’s receipt of funds and corresponding
detail information from us or the trustee on the payment date in accordance with their respective holdings shown on DTC’s records. Payments by
Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts of
customers in bearer form or registered in “street name,” and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC nor its nominee, the trustee, or us,
subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Payment of redemption proceeds, distributions, and interest
payments to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC) is the responsibility of us or the trustee, but
disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants will be the responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners will
be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants.

DTC may discontinue providing its services as securities depository with respect to the debt securities at any time by giving reasonable notice to us
or to the trustee. Under such circumstances, in the event that a successor securities depository is not obtained, certificates are required to be printed and
delivered. We may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry-only transfers through DTC (or a successor securities depository). In that event,
certificates will be printed and delivered to DTC.

The information in this section concerning DTC and DTC’s book-entry system has been obtained from sources that we believe to be reliable, but we
take no responsibility for the accuracy thereof.
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PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

We may offer, from time to time, in one or more offerings or series, our common stock, preferred stock, debt securities, subscription rights to
purchase shares of our securities or a combination of our securities, and warrants representing rights to purchase shares of our securities or a combination
of the foregoing, which we refer to, collectively, as the “securities.” We may sell the securities through underwriters or dealers, directly to one or more
purchasers, including existing stockholders in a rights offering, through agents or through a combination of any such methods of sale. In the case of a rights
offering, the applicable prospectus supplement will set forth the number of shares of our common stock issuable upon the exercise of each right and the
other terms of such rights offering. Any underwriter or agent involved in the offer and sale of the securities will be named in the applicable prospectus
supplement. A prospectus supplement or supplements will also describe the terms of the offering of the securities, including: the purchase price of the
securities and the proceeds we will receive from the sale; any options under which underwriters may purchase additional securities from us; any agency
fees or underwriting discounts and other items constituting agents’ or underwriters’ compensation; the public offering price; any discounts or concessions
allowed or re-allowed or paid to dealers; and any securities exchange or market on which the securities may be listed. Only underwriters named in the
prospectus supplement will be underwriters of the shares offered by the prospectus supplement.

The distribution of the securities may be effected from time to time in one or more transactions at a fixed price or prices, which may be changed, at
prevailing market prices at the time of sale, at prices related to such prevailing market prices, or at negotiated prices, provided, however, that the offering
price per share of our common stock, less any underwriting commissions or discounts, must equal or exceed the net asset value per share of our common
stock at the time of the offering except (i) in connection with a rights offering to our existing stockholders, (ii) with the prior approval of the majority (as
defined in the 1940 Act) of our common stockholders (1) the outstanding shares of our common stock and (2) the outstanding shares of the our common
stock held by persons that are not affiliated persons of the Company, or (iii) under such other circumstances as the SEC may permit. Any offering of
securities by us that requires the consent of the majority of our common stockholders, must occur, if at all, within one year after receiving such consent.
The price at which the securities may be distributed may represent a discount from prevailing market prices.

In connection with the sale of the securities, underwriters or agents may receive compensation from us or from purchasers of the securities, for whom
they may act as agents, in the form of discounts, concessions or commissions. Underwriters may sell the securities to or through dealers and such dealers
may receive compensation in the form of discounts, concessions or commissions from the underwriters and/or commissions from the purchasers for whom
they may act as agents. Underwriters, dealers and agents that participate in the distribution of the securities may be deemed to be underwriters under the
Securities Act, and any discounts and commissions they receive from us and any profit realized by them on the resale of the securities may be deemed to be
underwriting discounts and commissions under the Securities Act. Any such underwriter or agent will be identified and any such compensation received
from us will be described in the applicable prospectus supplement. The maximum aggregate commission or discount to be received by any member of
FINRA or independent broker-dealer, including any reimbursements to underwriters or agents for certain fees and legal expenses incurred by them, will not
be greater than 8.0% of the gross proceeds of the sale of shares offered pursuant to this prospectus and any applicable prospectus supplement.

Any underwriter may engage in over-allotment, stabilizing transactions, short-covering transactions and penalty bids in accordance with Regulation
M under the Exchange Act. Over-allotment involves sales in excess of the offering size, which create a short position. Stabilizing transactions permit bids
to purchase the underlying security so long as the stabilizing bids do not exceed a specified maximum price.

Syndicate-covering or other short-covering transactions involve purchases of the securities, either through exercise of the option to purchase
additional shares from us or in the open market after the distribution is completed, to cover short positions. Penalty bids permit the underwriters to reclaim
a selling concession from a dealer when the securities originally sold by the dealer are purchased in a stabilizing or covering transaction to
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cover short positions. Those activities may cause the price of the securities to be higher than it would otherwise be. If commenced, the underwriters may
discontinue any of the activities at any time.

Any underwriters that are qualified market makers on the NASDAQ Global Select Market may engage in passive market making transactions in our
common stock on the NASDAQ Global Select Market in accordance with Regulation M under the Exchange Act, during the business day prior to the
pricing of the offering, before the commencement of offers or sales of our common stock. Passive market makers must comply with applicable volume and
price limitations and must be identified as passive market makers. In general, a passive market maker must display its bid at a price not in excess of the
highest independent bid for such security; if all independent bids are lowered below the passive market maker’s bid, however, the passive market maker’s
bid must then be lowered when certain purchase limits are exceeded. Passive market making may stabilize the market price of the shares at a level above
that which might otherwise prevail in the open market and, if commenced, may be discontinued at any time.

We may sell securities directly or through agents we designate from time to time. We will name any agent involved in the offering and sale of
securities and we will describe any commissions we will pay the agent in the prospectus supplement. Unless the prospectus supplement states otherwise,
our agent will act on a best-efforts basis for the period of its appointment.

Unless otherwise specified in the applicable prospectus supplement, each class or series of securities will be a new issue with no trading market,
other than our common stock, which is traded on the NASDAQ Global Select Market, our 2022 Notes, which are traded on the NASDAQ Global Select
Market, and our 2022 Convertible Notes, which are traded on the NASDAQ Capital Market. We may elect to list any other class or series of securities on
any exchanges, but we are not obligated to do so. We cannot guarantee the liquidity of the trading markets for any securities.

Under agreements that we may enter, underwriters, dealers and agents who participate in the distribution of our securities may be entitled to
indemnification by us against certain liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act, or contribution with respect to payments that the agents or
underwriters may make with respect to these liabilities. Underwriters, dealers and agents may engage in transactions with, or perform services for, us in the
ordinary course of business.

If so indicated in the applicable prospectus supplement, we will authorize underwriters or other persons acting as our agents to solicit offers by
certain institutions to purchase our securities from us pursuant to contracts providing for payment and delivery on a future date. Institutions with which
such contracts may be made include commercial and savings banks, insurance companies, pension funds, investment companies, educational and charitable
institutions and others, but in all cases such institutions must be approved by us. The obligations of any purchaser under any such contract will be subject to
the condition that the purchase of our securities shall not at the time of delivery be prohibited under the laws of the jurisdiction to which such purchaser is
subject. The underwriters and such other agents will not have any responsibility in respect of the validity or performance of such contracts. Such contracts
will be subject only to those conditions set forth in the prospectus supplement, and the prospectus supplement will set forth the commission payable for
solicitation of such contracts.

We may enter into derivative transactions with third parties, or sell securities not covered by this prospectus to third parties in privately negotiated
transactions. If the applicable prospectus supplement indicates, in connection with those derivatives, the third parties may sell securities covered by this
prospectus and the applicable prospectus supplement, including in short sale transactions. If so, the third party may use securities pledged by us or
borrowed from us or others to settle those sales or to close out any related open borrowings of stock, and may use securities received from us in settlement
of those derivatives to close out any related open borrowings of stock. The third parties in such sale transactions will be underwriters and, if not identified
in this prospectus, will be identified in the applicable prospectus supplement.

In order to comply with the securities laws of certain states, if applicable, our securities offered hereby will be sold in such jurisdictions only through
registered or licensed brokers or dealers.
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CUSTODIAN, TRANSFER AND DISTRIBUTION PAYING AGENT AND REGISTRAR

Our securities are held under a custody agreement by U.S. Bank National Association. The address of the custodian is 615 East Michigan Street,
Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53202. American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC will act as our transfer agent, distribution paying agent and registrar. The
principal business address of our transfer agent is 6201 15th Avenue, Brooklyn, New York 11219.

BROKERAGE ALLOCATION AND OTHER PRACTICES

We will generally acquire and dispose of our investments in privately negotiated transactions, so we will infrequently use brokers in the normal
course of our business. Subject to policies established by our Board of Directors, our investment adviser will be primarily responsible for the execution of
the publicly traded securities portion of our portfolio transactions and the allocation of brokerage commissions. Our investment adviser does not expect to
execute transactions through any particular broker or dealer, but will seek to obtain the best net results for Logan Ridge, taking into account such factors as
price (including the applicable brokerage commission or dealer spread), size of order, difficulty of execution, and operational facilities of the firm and the
firm’s risk and skill in positioning blocks of securities. While our investment adviser generally will seek reasonably competitive trade execution costs,
Logan Ridge will not necessarily pay the lowest spread or commission available. Subject to applicable legal requirements, our investment adviser may
select a broker based partly upon brokerage or research services provided to the investment adviser and Logan Ridge and any other clients. In return for
such services, we may pay a higher commission than other brokers would charge if the investment adviser determines in good faith that such commission is
reasonable in relation to the services provided.

LEGAL MATTERS

Certain legal matters in connection with the securities offered hereby will be passed upon for us by Simpson Thacher & Barlett LLP, Washington, DC
and by Venable LLP, as Maryland Counsel. Certain legal matters in connection with the offering will be passed upon for the underwriters, if any, by the
counsel named in the applicable prospectus supplement. Simpson Thacher & Bartlett LLP may rely as to certain matters of Maryland law on the opinion of
Venable LLP, Baltimore, Maryland.

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The consolidated financial statements of Logan Ridge Finance Corporation at December 31, 2020 and 2019, and for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2020, appearing in this prospectus and Registration Statement have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, an independent
registered public accounting firm, as set forth in their report thereon appearing elsewhere herein, and are included in reliance upon such report given on the
authority of such firm as experts in accounting and auditing.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

We have filed a registration statement with the SEC on Form N-2, including amendments, relating to the securities we are offering. This prospectus
does not contain all of the information set forth in the registration statement, including any exhibits and schedules it may contain. For further information
concerning us or the securities we are offering, please refer to the registration statement. Statements contained in this prospectus as to the contents of any
contract or other document referred to describe the material terms thereof but are not necessarily complete and in each instance reference is made to the
copy of any contract or other document filed as an exhibit to the registration statement. Each statement is qualified in all respects by this reference.
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We file with or submit to the SEC annual, quarterly and current periodic reports, proxy statements and other information meeting the informational
requirements of the Exchange Act. You may inspect and copy these reports, proxy statements and other information, as well as the registration statement of
which this prospectus forms a part and the related exhibits and schedules, at the Public Reference Room of the SEC at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C.
20549. You may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. Copies of these reports, proxy
and information statements and other information may be obtained, after paying a duplicating fee, by electronic request at the following e-mail address:
publicinfo@sec.gov, or by writing the SEC’s Public Reference Section, 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549-0102. In addition, the SEC maintains
an Internet website that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information filed electronically by us with the SEC at
http://www.sec.gov.

We maintain a website at www.apolloic.com and we make all of our annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other publicly filed
information available, free of charge, on or through this website. Information contained on our website is not incorporated by reference into this prospectus
and should not be considered to be part of this prospectus.

No person is authorized to give any information or represent anything not contained in this prospectus, any accompanying prospectus supplement,
any applicable pricing supplement, and any related free writing supplement. We are only offering the securities in places where sales of those securities are
permitted. The information contained in this prospectus, any accompanying prospectus supplement, any applicable pricing supplement, and any related free
writing supplement, as well as information incorporated by reference, is current only as of the date of that information. Our business, financial condition,
results of operations and prospects may have changed since that date.
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PART C — OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 25. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND EXHIBITS

1. Financial Statements

The following financial statements have been incorporated by reference in Part A of this Registration Statement.
 
Annual Audited Financial Statements
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Statements of Assets and Liabilities as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019
Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2020, December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018
Statements of Changes in Net Assets for the years ended December 31, 2020, December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018
Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2020, December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018
Schedules of Investments as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019
Notes to Financial Statements

Unaudited Financial Statements
Consolidated Statements of Assets and Liabilities as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Net Assets for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2021
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020
Consolidated Schedules of Investments as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements as of and for the period ended September 30, 2021
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2. Exhibits
 
Exhibit
Number  Description

a.1   Articles of Amendment and Restatement(1)

b.1   Bylaws(12)

d.1   Form of Common Stock Certificate(12)

d.2   Form of Base Indenture(2)

d.3
  

Form of Second Supplemental Indenture relating to the 6.00% notes due 2022, by and between the Registrant and U.S. Bank National
Association, as trustee, including the form of Global Note(6)

d.4
  

Form of the Third Supplemental Indenture relating to the 5.75% convertible notes due 2022, by and between the Registrant and U.S.
Bank National Association, as trustee, including the form of Global Note(7)

d.5
  

Form of Fourth Supplemental Indenture relating to the 5.25% notes due 2026, by and between the Registrant and U.S. National Bank
Association, as trustee, including the form of Global Note(14)

d.6   Statement of Eligibility of Trustee on Form T-1(13)

e.   Form of Dividend Reinvestment Plan(12)

g.   Form of Investment Advisory Agreement by and between Registrant and Mount Logan Management LLC(1)

h.   Form of Underwriting Agreement**

j.   Form of Custodian Agreement(12)

k.1   Form of Administration Agreement by and between Registrant and BC Partners Management LLC(1)

k.2   Form of Indemnification Agreement by and between Registrant and each of its directors*

k.3
  

Form of Senior Secured Revolving Credit Agreement, dated October  17, 2014, among Registrant, as Borrower, the lenders party thereto,
and ING Capital LLC, as Administrative Agent, Arranger and Bookrunner(3)

k.4

  

Form of Guarantee, Pledge and Security Agreement, dated October  17, 2014, among Registrant, as Borrower, the subsidiary guarantors
party thereto, ING Capital LLC, as Revolving Administrative Agent for the Revolving Lenders and as Collateral Agent, and each
Financing Agent and Designated Indebtedness Holder party thereto (3)

k.5

  

Form of Incremental Assumption Agreement, dated January  6, 2015, relating to the Senior Secured Revolving Credit Agreement, dated
as of October  17, 2014, among Capitala Finance Corp., as borrower, the lenders from time to time party thereto, and ING Capital LLC,
as administrative agent, arranger and bookrunner(4)

k.6

  

Form of Incremental Assumption Agreement, dated August  19, 2015, relating to the Senior Secured Revolving Credit Agreement, dated
as of October  17, 2014, among Capitala Finance Corp., as borrower, the lenders from time to time party thereto, and ING Capital LLC,
as administrative agent, arranger and bookrunner(5)

k.7
  

Form of Amendment No. 2 to Senior Secured Revolving Credit Agreement dated June  16, 2017, among Capitala Finance Corp., as
Borrower, the lenders party thereto, and ING Capital LLC, as administrative agent, arranger, and bookrunner(8)

k.8

  

Form of Amendment No. 1 to Guarantee, Pledge and Security Agreement dated June  16, 2017, among Capitala Finance Corp., as
Borrower, the subsidiary guarantors party thereto, ING Capital LLC, as Revolving Administrative Agent for the Revolving Lenders and
as Collateral Agent, and each Financing Agent and Designated Indebtedness Holder party thereto(8)
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http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1571329/000119312521206384/d145666dex31.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1221483/000119312513361263/d505298dex99b1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1221483/000119312513361263/d505298dex99d1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1571329/000114420414032811/v373541_ex99d2.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1571329/000114420417027816/v466865_ex99d5.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1571329/000114420417029707/v467748_ex99d6.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1571329/000119312521315518/d207689dex41.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1571329/000114420419014337/tv515616_ex-d5.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1221483/000119312513361263/d505298dex99e.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1571329/000119312521206384/d145666dex101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1221483/000119312513361263/d505298dex99j.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1571329/000119312521206384/d145666dex103.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1571329/000114420414062166/v391743_ex10-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1571329/000114420414062166/v391743_ex10-2.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1571329/000114420415001280/v398302_ex10-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1571329/000114420415051633/v418888_ex10-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1571329/000114420417033366/v469295_ex10-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1571329/000114420417033366/v469295_ex10-2.htm
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Exhibit
Number   Description

  k.9

  

Form of Amendment No. 3, dated as of July 19, 2018, to the Senior Secured Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of October  17, 2014,
among Capitala Finance Corp., as borrower, the lenders from time to time party thereto, and ING Capital LLC, as administrative agent,
arranger and bookrunner, and First National Bank of Pennsylvania, as documentation agent.(9)

  k.10

  

Form of Amendment No. 4, dated as of February  22, 2019, to the Senior Secured Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of October  17,
2014, among Capitala Finance Corp., as borrower, the lenders from time to time party thereto, and ING Capital LLC, as administrative
agent, arranger and bookrunner, and First National Bank of Pennsylvania, as documentation agent.(10)

  k.11   Second Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of Capitala Senior Loan Fund II, LLC(11)

  k.12
  

Form of Registration Rights Agreement dated October 29, 2021 between the Registrant and the several purchasers of the 5.25% Notes due
2026(14)

   l.1   Opinion and Consent of Simpson Thacher & Bartlett LLP*

   l.2   Opinion and Consent of Venable LLP*

  n.1   Consent of Ernst & Young LLP*

   r.   Code of Ethics of Registrant and Mount Logan Management LLC*

99.1   Code of Business Conduct of Registrant*
 
* Filed herewith.
** To be filed by amendment.
(1) Previously filed in connection with the Registrant’s report on Form 8-K filed on July 1, 2021.
(2) Previously filed in connection with Pre-Effective Amendment No. 2 to the Registrant’s registration statement on Form N-2 (File No. 333-193374)

filed on May 21, 2014.
(3) Previously filed in connection with the Registrant’s report on Form 8-K filed on October 21, 2014.
(4) Previously filed in connection with the Registrant’s report on Form 8-K filed on January 8, 2015.
(5) Previously filed in connection with the Registrant’s report on Form 8-K filed on August 25, 2015.
(6) Previously filed in connection with Post-Effective Amendment No. 5 the Registrant’s registration statement on Form N-2 (File No. 333-204582) filed

on May 16, 2017.
(7) Previously filed in connection with Post-Effective Amendment No. 6 to the Registrant’s registration statement on Form N-2 (File No. 333-204582)

filed on May 26, 2017.
(8) Previously filed in connection with the Registrant’s report on Form 8-K filed on June 21, 2017.
(9) Previously filed in connection with the Registrant’s report on Form 8-K filed on July 20, 2018.
(10) Previously filed in connection with the Registrant’s report on Form 8-K filed on February 28, 2019.
(11) Previously filed in connection with the Registrant’s report on Form 10-K filed on March 4, 2019.
(12) Previously filed in connection with the Pre-Effective Amendment No. 1 to the Registrant’s registration statement on Form N-2 (File No. 333-188956)

filed on September 9, 2013.
(13) Previously filed in connection with the Registrant’s registration statement on Form N-2 (File No. 333-230336) filed on March 15, 2019.
(14) Previously filed in connection with the Registrant’s report on Form 8-K filed on November 1, 2021.

ITEM 26. MARKETING ARRANGEMENTS

The information contained under the heading “Plan of Distribution” in the prospectus that is part of this Registration Statement is incorporated herein
by reference.
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ITEM 27. OTHER EXPENSES OF ISSUANCE AND DISTRIBUTION
 

SEC registration fee   $ 54,550 
FINRA filing fee   $ 500 
NASDAQ Global Select Market   $ 65,000 
Printing and postage   $ 40,000 
Legal fees and expenses   $ 200,000 
Accounting fees and expenses   $ 150,000 
Miscellaneous   $ 10,000 

    
 

Total   $ 520,050 
    

 

 
Note: All listed amounts are estimates except for the SEC registration fee and FINRA filing fee.

ITEM 28: PERSONS CONTROLLED BY OR UNDER COMMON CONTROL

The following list sets forth each of Logan Ridge Finance Corporation’s subsidiaries, the state under whose laws the subsidiary is organized and the
voting securities owned by Logan Ridge Finance Corporation, directly, in such subsidiary:
 

CapitalSouth Fund II Limited Partnership (North Carolina)    100% 
CapitalSouth F-II, LLC (North Carolina)    100% 
CapitalSouth Fund III, L.P. (Delaware)    100% 
CapitalSouth F-III, LLC (North Carolina)    100% 
CPTA Master Blocker, Inc. (Georgia)    100% 

Currently, each of Logan Ridge Finance Corporation’s subsidiaries is consolidated with Logan Ridge Finance Corporation for financial reporting
purposes.

In addition, we may be deemed to control certain portfolio companies. See “Portfolio Companies” in the prospectus that is part of this Registration
Statement.

ITEM 29. NUMBER OF HOLDERS OF SECURITIES

The following table sets forth the number of record holders of the Registrant’s common stock at December 10, 2021.
 

Title of Class   
Number of

Record Holders
Common Stock, par value $0.01 per share   31

ITEM 30. INDEMNIFICATION

Directors and Officers

Reference is made to Section 2-418 of the Maryland General Corporation Law, Article VII of the Registrant’s charter and Article XI of the
Registrant’s bylaws.

Maryland law permits a Maryland corporation to include in its charter a provision limiting the liability of its directors and officers to the corporation
and its stockholders for money damages except for liability resulting from (a) actual receipt of an improper benefit or profit in money, property or services
or (b) active and deliberate dishonesty established by a final judgment as being material to the cause of action. The Registrant’s charter contains such a
provision which eliminates directors’ and officers’ liability to the maximum extent permitted by Maryland law, subject to the requirements of the
Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the “1940
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Act”). The Registrant’s charter authorizes the Registrant, to the maximum extent permitted by Maryland law and subject to the requirements of the 1940
Act, to indemnify any present or former director or officer or any individual who, while serving as the Registrant’s director or officer and at the Registrant’s
request, serves or has served another corporation, real estate investment trust, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise as a
director, officer, partner or trustee, from and against any claim or liability to which that person may become subject or which that person may incur by
reason of his or her service in any such capacity and to pay or reimburse their reasonable expenses in advance of final disposition of a proceeding. The
Registrant’s bylaws obligate the Registrant, to the maximum extent permitted by Maryland law and subject to the requirements of the 1940 Act, to
indemnify any present or former director or officer or any individual who, while serving as the Registrant’s director or officer and at the Registrant’s
request, serves or has served another corporation, real estate investment trust, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise as a
director, officer, partner, trustee, manager or member and who is made, or threatened to be made, a party to the proceeding by reason of his or her service in
that capacity from and against any claim or liability to which that person may become subject or which that person may incur by reason of his or her
service in any such capacity and to pay or reimburse his or her reasonable expenses in advance of final disposition of a proceeding. The charter and bylaws
also permit the Registrant to indemnify and advance expenses to any person who served a predecessor of the Registrant in any of the capacities described
above and any of the Registrant’s employees or agents or any employees or agents of the Registrant’s predecessor. In accordance with the 1940 Act, the
Registrant will not indemnify any person for any liability to which such person would be subject by reason of such person’s willful misfeasance, bad faith,
gross negligence or reckless disregard of the duties involved in the conduct of his or her office.

Maryland law requires a corporation (unless its charter provides otherwise, which the Registrant’s charter does not) to indemnify a director or officer
who has been successful in the defense of any proceeding to which he or she is made, or threatened to be made, a party by reason of his or her service in
that capacity. Maryland law permits a corporation to indemnify its present and former directors and officers, among others, against judgments, penalties,
fines, settlements and reasonable expenses actually incurred by them in connection with any proceeding to which they may be made, or threatened to be
made, a party by reason of their service in those or other capacities unless it is established that (a) the act or omission of the director or officer was material
to the matter giving rise to the proceeding and (1) was committed in bad faith or (2) was the result of active and deliberate dishonesty, (b) the director or
officer actually received an improper personal benefit in money, property or services or (c) in the case of any criminal proceeding, the director or officer
had reasonable cause to believe that the act or omission was unlawful. However, under Maryland law, a Maryland corporation may not indemnify for an
adverse judgment in a suit by or in the right of the corporation or for a judgment of liability on the basis that a personal benefit was improperly received
unless, in either case, a court orders indemnification, and then only for expenses. In addition, Maryland law permits a corporation to advance reasonable
expenses to a director or officer in advance of final disposition of a proceeding upon the corporation’s receipt of (a) a written affirmation by the director or
officer of his or her good faith belief that he or she has met the standard of conduct necessary for indemnification by the corporation and (b) a written
undertaking by him or her or on his or her behalf to repay the amount paid or reimbursed by the corporation if it is ultimately determined that the standard
of conduct was not met.

Investment Adviser and Administrator

The Investment Advisory Agreement provides that, absent willful misfeasance, bad faith or gross negligence in the performance of its duties or by
reason of the reckless disregard of its duties and obligations, Mount Logan Management LLC (the “investment adviser”) and its officers, managers, agents,
employees, controlling persons, members and any other person or entity affiliated with it are entitled to indemnification from the Registrant for any
damages, liabilities, costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees and amounts reasonably paid in settlement) arising from the rendering of the
investment adviser’s services under the Investment Advisory Agreement or otherwise as an investment adviser of the Registrant.
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The Administration Agreement provides that, absent willful misfeasance, bad faith or gross negligence in the performance of its duties or by reason
of the reckless disregard of its duties and obligations, BC Partners Management LLC and its officers, managers, agents, employees, controlling persons,
members and any other person or entity affiliated with it are entitled to indemnification from the Registrant for any damages, liabilities, costs and expenses
(including reasonable attorneys’ fees and amounts reasonably paid in settlement) arising from the rendering of BC Partners Management LLC’s services
under the Administration Agreement or otherwise as administrator for the Registrant.

The law also provides for comparable indemnification for corporate officers and agents. Insofar as indemnification for liability arising under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling persons of the Registrant pursuant to the
foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the Registrant has been advised that in the opinion of the SEC such indemnification is against public policy as
expressed in the Securities Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment
by the Registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer or controlling person of the Registrant in the successful defense of any action, suit or
proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in connection with the securities being registered, the Registrant will, unless in the
opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such
indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.

The Registrant has entered into indemnification agreements with its directors. The indemnification agreements are intended to provide the
Registrant’s directors the maximum indemnification permitted under Maryland law and the 1940 Act. Each indemnification agreement provides that the
Registrant shall indemnify the director who is a party to the agreement (an “Indemnitee”), including the advancement of legal expenses, if, by reason of his
or her corporate status, the Indemnitee is, or is threatened to be, made a party to or a witness in any threatened, pending, or completed proceeding, other
than a proceeding by or in the right of the Registrant.

ITEM 31. BUSINESS AND OTHER CONNECTIONS OF INVESTMENT ADVISER

A description of any other business, profession, vocation, or employment of a substantial nature in which the investment adviser, and each managing
director, director or executive officer of the investment adviser, is or has been during the past two fiscal years, engaged in for his or her own account or in
the capacity of director, officer, employee, partner or trustee, is set forth in Part A of this Registration Statement in the sections titled “Management —
Board of Directors,” “Investment Advisory Agreement” and “Portfolio Management — Investment Personnel.” Additional information regarding the
investment adviser and its officers and directors is set forth in its Form ADV, as filed with the SEC (SEC File No. 801-119731), under the Investment
Advisers Act of 1940, as amended, and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 32. LOCATION OF ACCOUNTS AND RECORDS

All accounts, books, and other documents required to be maintained by Section 31(a) of the 1940 Act, and the rules thereunder are maintained at the
offices of:
 

 (1) the Registrant, Logan Ridge Finance Corporation, 650 Madison Avenue, 23rd Floor, New York, New York 10022;
 

 (2) the Transfer Agent, American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC, 6201 15th Avenue, Brooklyn, New York 11219;
 

 (3) the Custodian, U.S. Bank National Association, 615 East Michigan Street, Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53202; and
 

 (4) the investment adviser, Mount Logan Management LLC, 650 Madison Avenue, 23rd Floor, New York, New York 10022.
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ITEM 33. MANAGEMENT SERVICES

Not applicable.

ITEM 34. UNDERTAKINGS
 

 1. Not applicable.
 

 2. Not applicable.
 

 3. We hereby undertake:
 

 
a. that, for the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act, each post-effective amendment to the Registration Statement

shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of those securities at that
time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.

 

 b. to remove from registration by means of a post-effective amendment any of the securities being registered which remain unsold at the
termination of the offering.

 

 c. that, for the purpose of determining liability under the Securities Act to any purchaser that:
 

 (1) if we are relying on Rule 430B:

(A) each prospectus filed pursuant to Rule 424(b)(3) shall be deemed to be part of the Registration Statement as of the date the
filed prospectus was deemed part of and included in the Registration Statement; and
(B) each prospectus required to be filed pursuant to Rule 424(b)(2), (b)(5), or (b)(7) as part of a registration statement in
reliance on Rule 430B relating to an offering made pursuant to Rule 415(a)(1)(i), (x), or (xi) for the purpose of providing the
information required by Section 10(a) of the Securities Act shall be deemed to be part of and included in the Registration
Statement as of the earlier of the date such form of prospectus is first used after effectiveness or the date of the first contract of
sale of securities in the offering described in the prospectus. As provided in Rule 430B, for liability purposes of the issuer and
any person that is at that date an underwriter, such date shall be deemed to be a new effective date of the Registration Statement
relating to the securities in the Registration Statement to which that prospectus relates, and the offering of such securities at that
time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof; provided, however, that no statement made in a registration
statement or prospectus that is part of the Registration Statement or made in a document incorporated or deemed incorporated
by reference into the Registration Statement or prospectus that is part of the Registration Statement will, as to a purchaser with
a time of contract of sale prior to such effective date, supersede or modify any statement that was made in the Registration
Statement or prospectus that was part of the Registration Statement or made in any such document immediately prior to such
effective date; or

 

 

(2) if we are subject to Rule 430C under the Securities Act, each prospectus filed pursuant to Rule 424(b) under the Securities Act
as part of this Registration Statement relating to an offering, other than registration statements relying on Rule 430B or other
than prospectuses filed in reliance on Rule 430A, shall be deemed to be part of and included in the registration statement as of
the date it is first used after effectiveness, provided, however, that no statement made in a registration statement or prospectus
that is part of the Registration Statement or made in a document incorporated or deemed incorporated by reference into the
Registration Statement or prospectus that is part of the Registration Statement will, as to a purchaser with a time of contract of
sale prior to such first use, supersedes or modify any statement that was made in the Registration Statement or prospectus that
was part of the registration statement or made in any such document immediately prior to such date of first use.
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d. that for the purpose of determining our liability under the Securities Act to any purchaser in the initial distribution of securities, we
undertake that in a primary offering of our securities pursuant to this Registration Statement, regardless of the underwriting method
used to sell the securities to the purchaser, if the securities are offered or sold to such purchaser by means of any of the following
communications, we will be a seller to the purchaser and will be considered to offer or sell such securities to the purchaser:

 

 (1) any preliminary prospectus or prospectus of us relating to the offering required to be filed pursuant to Rule 424 under the
Securities Act;

 

 (2) Free writing prospectuses relating to the offering prepared by or on behalf of us or used or referred to by us;
 

 (3) the portion of any other free writing prospectuses or advertisement pursuant to Rule 482 under the Securities Act relating to the
offering containing material information about us or our securities provided by or on behalf of us; and

 

 (4) any other communication that is an offer in the offering made by us to the purchaser.
 

 4. Not applicable.
 

 

5. We hereby undertake that, for purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act, each filing of our annual report pursuant to
Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 that is incorporated by reference into the registration statement shall be
deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be
deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.

 

 

6. Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to our directors, officers and controlling persons,
we have been advised that in the opinion of the Commission such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act
and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by us of
expenses incurred or paid by any of our directors, officers or controlling persons in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is
asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in connection with the securities being registered, we undertake, unless in the opinion
of our counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, to submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such
indemnification by us is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and we will be governed by the final adjudication of such
issue.

 

 7. We hereby undertake to send by first class mail or other means designed to ensure equally prompt delivery, within two business days of
receipt of a written or oral request, any prospectus or Statement of Additional Information.
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, the Registrant has duly caused the Registration Statement on Form N-2 to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of New York, in the State of New York, on the 20th day of December 2021.
 

Logan Ridge Finance Corporation

By:  /s/ Edward Goldthorpe
 Chief Executive Officer, President and
 Chairman of the Board of Directors

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, the Registration Statement on Form N-2 has been signed by the following
persons on behalf of the Registrant, and in the capacities indicated, on the 20th day of December 2021.
 

Signature   Title

/s/ Edward Goldthorpe
Edward Goldthorpe   

Chief Executive Officer, President and Chairman of the Board of Directors (Principal Executive
Officer)

/s/ Jason Roos
Jason Roos   

Chief Financial Officer

*
Alexander Duka   

Director

*
George Grunebaum   

Director

*
Robert Warshauer   

Director

 
* Signed by Edward Goldthorpe pursuant to a power of attorney signed by each individual on October 11, 2021.



Exhibit k.2

FORM OF INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENT

THIS INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made and entered into as of the _____ day of _________, 20__, by and between
Logan Ridge Finance Corporation, a Maryland corporation (the “Company”), and ________________________ (“Indemnitee”).

WHEREAS, the Company has elected to be regulated as a business development company under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended
(the “1940 Act”);

WHEREAS, at the request of the Company, Indemnitee currently serves as [a director] [and] [an officer] of the Company and may, therefore, be
subjected to claims, suits or proceedings arising as a result of such service;

WHEREAS, as an inducement to Indemnitee to serve or continue to serve in such capacity, the Company has agreed to indemnify Indemnitee and to
advance expenses and costs incurred by Indemnitee in connection with any such claims, suits or proceedings, to the maximum extent permitted by law; and

WHEREAS, the parties by this Agreement desire to set forth their agreement regarding indemnification and advance of expenses.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the covenants contained herein, the Company and Indemnitee do hereby covenant and
agree as follows:

Section 1. Definitions. For purposes of this Agreement:

(a) “Change in Control” means a change in control of the Company occurring after the Effective Date of a nature that would be required to be
reported in response to Item 6(e) of Schedule 14A of Regulation 14A (or in response to any similar item on any similar schedule or
form) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder (the “Exchange
Act”), whether or not the Company is then subject to such reporting requirement; provided, however, that, without limitation, such a Change in
Control shall be deemed to have occurred if, after the Effective Date (i) any “person” (as such term is used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the
Exchange Act) is or becomes the “beneficial owner” (as defined in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, of securities of the
Company representing 15% or more of the combined voting power of all of the Company’s then-outstanding securities entitled to vote generally in
the election of directors without the prior approval of at least two-thirds of the members of the Board of Directors in office immediately prior to such
person’s attaining such percentage interest; (ii) the Company is a party to a merger, consolidation, sale of all or substantially all of its assets, plan of
liquidation or other reorganization not approved by at least two-thirds of the members of the Board of Directors then in office, as a consequence of
which members of the Board of Directors in office immediately prior to such transaction or event constitute less than a majority of the Board of
Directors thereafter; or (iii) at any time, a majority of the members of the Board of Directors are not individuals (A) who were directors as of the
Effective Date or (B) whose election by the Board of Directors or nomination for election by the Company’s stockholders was approved by the
affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the directors then in office who were directors as of the Effective Date or whose election or nomination for
election was previously so approved.



(b) “Corporate Status” means the status of a person as a present or former director, officer, employee or agent of the Company or as a director,
trustee, officer, partner, manager, managing member, fiduciary, employee or agent of any other foreign or domestic corporation, real estate
investment trust, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise that such person is or was
serving in such capacity at the request of the Company. As a clarification and without in any way limiting the circumstances in which Indemnitee
may be serving at the request of the Company, service by Indemnitee shall be deemed to be at the request of the Company: (i) if Indemnitee serves or
served as a director, trustee, officer, partner, manager, managing member, fiduciary, employee or agent of any corporation, real estate investment
trust, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, trust or other enterprise (1) of which 25% or more of the voting power or equity interest is
or was owned directly or indirectly by the Company or (2) of which the Company, directly or indirectly, has the power to direct, manage, oversee or
restrict the management, business or assets, and (ii) if, as a result of Indemnitee’s service to the Company or any of its affiliated entities, Indemnitee
is subject to duties by, or required to perform services for, an employee benefit plan or its participants or beneficiaries, including as a deemed
fiduciary thereof.

(c) “Disabling Conduct” means, as to a director or officer of the Company, willful misfeasance, bad faith, gross negligence or reckless
disregard of the duties involved in the conduct of the director’s or officer’s office as set forth in Section 17(h) of the 1940 Act.

(d) “Disinterested Director” means a director of the Company who is not an “interested person” of the Company as defined in the 1940 Act and
was not a party to the Proceeding in respect of which indemnification and/or advance of Expenses is sought by Indemnitee.

(e) “Effective Date” means the date set forth in the first paragraph of this Agreement.

(f) “Expenses” means any and all reasonable and out-of-pocket attorneys’ fees and costs, retainers, court costs, arbitration and mediation costs,
transcript costs, fees of experts, witness fees, travel expenses, duplicating costs, printing and binding costs, telephone charges, postage, delivery
service fees, federal, state, local or foreign taxes imposed on Indemnitee as a result of the actual or deemed receipt of any payments under this
Agreement, the Bylaws of the Company or D&O insurance policy, ERISA excise taxes and penalties and any other disbursements or expenses
incurred in connection with prosecuting, defending, preparing to prosecute or defend, investigating, being or preparing to be a witness in or otherwise
participating in a Proceeding. Expenses shall also include Expenses incurred in connection with any appeal resulting from any Proceeding including,
without limitation, the premium, security for and other costs relating to any cost bond, supersedeas bond or other appeal bond or its equivalent.

 
-2-



(g) “Independent Counsel” means a law firm, or a member of a law firm, that is experienced in matters of corporation law and the 1940 Act, is
“independent legal counsel” within the meaning of Rule 0-1(a)(6) under the 1940 Act, and neither is, nor in the past two years has been, retained to
represent: (i) the Company or Indemnitee in any matter material to either such party (other than with respect to matters concerning Indemnitee under
this Agreement or of other indemnitees under similar indemnification agreements), or (ii) any other party to or participant or witness in the
Proceeding giving rise to a claim for indemnification or advance of Expenses hereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the term “Independent
Counsel” shall not include any person who, under the applicable standards of professional conduct then prevailing, would have a conflict of interest
in representing either the Company or Indemnitee in an action to determine Indemnitee’s rights under this Agreement.

(h) “Proceeding” means any threatened, pending or completed action, suit, arbitration, alternate dispute resolution mechanism, investigation,
inquiry, administrative hearing, claim, demand, discovery request or any other actual, threatened or completed proceeding, whether brought by or in
the right of the Company or otherwise and whether of a civil (including intentional or unintentional tort claims), criminal, administrative or
investigative (formal or informal) nature, including without limitation any internal investigation conducted by or on behalf of the Company or by the
Board of Directors of the Company or any standing or special committee thereof, including any appeal therefrom. If Indemnitee reasonably believes
that a given situation may lead to or culminate in the institution of a Proceeding, such situation shall also be considered a Proceeding.

Section 2. Services by Indemnitee. Indemnitee serves or will serve in the capacity or capacities set forth in the second WHEREAS clause above.
However, this Agreement shall not impose any independent obligation on Indemnitee or the Company to continue Indemnitee’s service to the Company.
This Agreement shall not be deemed an employment contract between the Company (or any other entity) and Indemnitee.

Section 3. General. The Company shall indemnify, and advance Expenses to, Indemnitee (a) as provided in this Agreement and (b) otherwise to the
maximum extent permitted by Maryland law in effect on the Effective Date and as amended from time to time; provided, however, that no change in
Maryland law shall have the effect of reducing the benefits available to Indemnitee hereunder based on Maryland law as in effect on the Effective Date.
The rights of Indemnitee provided in this Section 3 shall include, without limitation, the rights set forth in the other sections of this Agreement, including
any additional indemnification permitted by the Maryland General Corporation Law (the “MGCL”), including, without limitation, Section 2-418 of the
MGCL.
 

-3-



Section 4. Standard for Indemnification. If, by reason of Indemnitee’s Corporate Status, Indemnitee is, or is threatened to be, made a party to any
Proceeding, the Company shall indemnify Indemnitee against all judgments, penalties, fines and amounts paid in settlement and all Expenses actually and
reasonably incurred by Indemnitee or on Indemnitee’s behalf in connection with any such Proceeding unless it is established that (a) the act or omission of
Indemnitee was material to the matter giving rise to the Proceeding and (i) was committed in bad faith or (ii) was the result of active and deliberate
dishonesty or Disabling Conduct, (b) Indemnitee actually received an improper personal benefit in money, property or services or (c) in the case of any
criminal Proceeding, Indemnitee had reasonable cause to believe that Indemnitee’s conduct was unlawful.

Section 5. Certain Limits on Indemnification. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement (other than Section 6), Indemnitee shall not be
entitled to:

(a) indemnification hereunder if the Proceeding was one by or in the right of the Company and Indemnitee is adjudged, in a final adjudication
of the Proceeding not subject to further appeal, to be liable to the Company;

(b) indemnification hereunder if Indemnitee is adjudged, in a final adjudication of the Proceeding not subject to further appeal, to be liable on
the basis that personal benefit was improperly received in any Proceeding charging improper personal benefit to Indemnitee, whether or not involving
action in Indemnitee’s Corporate Status;

(c) indemnification with respect to any proceeding for an accounting of profits arising from the purchase and sale by Indemnitee of securities
of the Company in violation of Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act; or

(d) indemnification or advance of Expenses hereunder if the Proceeding was brought by Indemnitee, unless: (i) the Proceeding was brought
to enforce indemnification under this Agreement, and then only to the extent in accordance with and as authorized by Section 12 of this Agreement, or
(ii) the Company’s charter or Bylaws, a resolution of the stockholders entitled to vote generally in the election of directors or of the Board of Directors or
an agreement approved by the Board of Directors to which the Company is a party expressly provide otherwise.

Section 6. Court-Ordered Indemnification. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, a court of appropriate jurisdiction, upon
application of Indemnitee and such notice as the court shall require, may order indemnification of Indemnitee by the Company in the following
circumstances:

(a) if such court determines that Indemnitee is entitled to reimbursement under Section 2-418(d)(1) of the MGCL, the court shall order
indemnification, in which case Indemnitee shall be entitled to recover the Expenses of securing such reimbursement; or

(b) if such court determines that Indemnitee is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnification in view of all the relevant circumstances,
whether or not Indemnitee (i) has met the standards of conduct set forth in Section 2-418(b) of the MGCL or (ii) has been adjudged liable for receipt of an
improper personal benefit under Section 2-418(c) of the MGCL, the court may order such indemnification as the court shall deem proper without regard to
any limitation on such court-ordered indemnification contemplated by Section 2-418(d)(2)(ii) of the MGCL.
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Section 7. Indemnification for Expenses of an Indemnitee Who is Wholly or Partially Successful. Notwithstanding any other provision of this
Agreement, and without limiting any such provision, to the extent that Indemnitee was or is, by reason of Indemnitee’s Corporate Status, made a party to
(or otherwise becomes a participant in) any Proceeding and is successful, on the merits or otherwise, in the defense of such Proceeding, the Company shall
indemnify Indemnitee for all Expenses actually and reasonably incurred by Indemnitee or on Indemnitee’s behalf in connection therewith. If Indemnitee is
not wholly successful in such Proceeding but is successful, on the merits or otherwise, as to one or more but less than all claims, issues or matters in such
Proceeding, the Company shall indemnify Indemnitee under this Section 7 for all Expenses actually and reasonably incurred by Indemnitee or on
Indemnitee’s behalf in connection with each such claim, issue or matter for which Indemnitee is successful, allocated on a reasonable and proportionate
basis. For purposes of this Section 7 and, without limitation, the termination of any claim, issue or matter in such a Proceeding by dismissal, with or
without prejudice, shall be deemed to be a successful result as to such claim, issue or matter.

Section 8. Advance of Expenses for Indemnitee. If, by reason of Indemnitee’s Corporate Status, Indemnitee is, or is threatened to be, made a party to
any Proceeding, the Company shall, without requiring a preliminary determination of Indemnitee’s ultimate entitlement to indemnification hereunder,
advance all reasonable Expenses incurred by or on behalf of Indemnitee in connection with such Proceeding after the receipt by the Company of a
statement or statements requesting such advance or advances from time to time (a “Request”), whether prior to or after final disposition of such Proceeding
and may be in the form of, in the reasonable discretion of Indemnitee (but without duplication) (a) payment of such Expenses directly to third parties on
behalf of Indemnitee, (b) advance of funds to Indemnitee in an amount sufficient to pay such Expenses or (c) reimbursement to Indemnitee for
Indemnitee’s payment of such Expenses. A Request shall reasonably evidence the Expenses incurred or expected to be incurred by Indemnitee and shall
include or be preceded or accompanied by a written affirmation by Indemnitee of Indemnitee’s good faith belief that the standard of conduct necessary for
indemnification by the Company as authorized by law and by this Agreement has been met and a written undertaking by or on behalf of Indemnitee, in
substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit A or in such form as may be required under applicable law as in effect at the time of the execution thereof,
to reimburse the portion of any Expenses advanced to Indemnitee relating to claims, issues or matters in the Proceeding as to which it shall ultimately be
established that the standard of conduct has not been met by Indemnitee and which have not been successfully resolved as described in Section 7 of this
Agreement. To the extent that Expenses advanced to Indemnitee do not relate to a specific claim, issue or matter in the Proceeding, such Expenses shall be
allocated on a reasonable and proportionate basis. The undertaking required by this Section 8 shall be an unlimited general obligation by or on behalf of
Indemnitee and shall be accepted without reference to Indemnitee’s financial ability to repay such advanced Expenses and without any requirement to post
security therefor. Such advances shall be made within ten days (or 30 days if an opinion of Independent Counsel is required) after receipt by the Company
of the Request if any one of the following conditions shall have been met: (1) Indemnitee shall provide security for his undertaking; (2) the Company shall
be insured against losses arising by reason of any lawful advances; or (3) a majority of a quorum of Disinterested Directors of the Company who are not
party to the proceedings giving rise to the Request, or an Independent Counsel in a written opinion, shall determine, based on review of the readily
available facts (as opposed to a trial-type inquiry), that there is reason to believe that Indemnitee ultimately will be
 

-5-



found entitled to indemnification. If Indemnitee seeks satisfaction of condition (3), Indemnitee may require the Company to have the determination as to
the advances made by Independent Counsel to be selected in the manner provided by Section 10(b) of this Agreement. In such case, the Company and
Indemnitee shall cooperate to cause the Independent Counsel to complete the determination within 30 days after the Company’s receipt of the Request. To
the extent that Expenses advanced to Indemnitee do not relate to a specific claim, issue or matter in the Proceeding, such Expenses shall be allocated on a
reasonable and proportionate basis. The undertaking required by this Section 8 shall be an unlimited general obligation by or on behalf of Indemnitee and
shall be accepted without reference to Indemnitee’s financial ability to repay such advanced Expenses and, except as provided above, without any
requirement to post security therefor. After an Indemnitee’s eligibility for advances as to a Proceeding has been established, as above provided, additional
advances shall be made, as Expenses are incurred by Indemnitee, upon receipt by the Company of further Requests supported by the aforesaid written
affirmation of Indemnitee, but without the need for a further determination of Indemnitee’s entitlement thereto by the Board of Directors (or committee
thereof) or an Independent Counsel with respect to the Proceeding.

Section 9. Indemnification and Advance of Expenses as a Witness or Other Participant. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, to
the extent that Indemnitee is or may be, by reason of Indemnitee’s Corporate Status, made a witness or otherwise asked to participate in any Proceeding,
whether instituted by the Company or any other person, and to which Indemnitee is not a party, Indemnitee shall be advanced all reasonable Expenses
incurred or expected to be incurred and indemnified against all Expenses actually and reasonably incurred by Indemnitee or on Indemnitee’s behalf in
connection therewith within ten days after the receipt by the Company of a statement or statements requesting any such advance or indemnification from
time to time, whether prior to or after final disposition of such Proceeding. Such statement or statements shall reasonably evidence the Expenses incurred
by Indemnitee. In connection with any such advance of Expenses, the Company may require Indemnitee to provide an undertaking and affirmation
substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A.

Section 10. Procedure for Determination of Entitlement to Indemnification.

(a) To obtain indemnification under this Agreement, Indemnitee shall submit to the Company a written request, including therein or therewith such
documentation and information as is reasonably available to Indemnitee and is reasonably necessary or appropriate to determine whether and to what extent
Indemnitee is entitled to indemnification. Indemnitee may submit one or more such requests from time to time and at such time(s) as Indemnitee deems
appropriate in Indemnitee’s sole discretion. The officer of the Company receiving any such request from Indemnitee shall, promptly upon receipt of such a
request for indemnification, advise the Board of Directors in writing that Indemnitee has requested indemnification.

(b) Upon written request by Indemnitee for indemnification pursuant to Section 10(a) above, a determination, if required by applicable law, with
respect to Indemnitee’s entitlement thereto shall promptly be made in the specific case: (i) if a Change in Control has occurred, by Independent Counsel, in
a written opinion to the Board of Directors, a copy of which shall be delivered to Indemnitee, which Independent Counsel shall be selected by Indemnitee
and approved by the Board of Directors in accordance with Section 2-418(e)(2)(ii) of the MGCL,
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which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld; or (ii) if a Change in Control has not occurred, (A) by a majority vote of the Disinterested Directors or,
by the majority vote of a group of Disinterested Directors designated by the Disinterested Directors to make the determination, (B) if Independent Counsel
has been selected by the Board of Directors in accordance with Section 2-418(e)(2)(ii) of the MGCL and approved by Indemnitee, which approval shall not
be unreasonably withheld or delayed, by Independent Counsel, in a written opinion to the Board of Directors, a copy of which shall be delivered to
Indemnitee or (C) if so directed by the Board of Directors, and to the extent permitted under Section 17(h) of the 1940 Act, by the stockholders of the
Company, other than directors or officers who are parties to the Proceeding. If it is so determined that Indemnitee is entitled to indemnification, the
Company shall make payment to Indemnitee within ten days after such determination. Indemnitee shall cooperate with the person, persons or entity making
such determination with respect to Indemnitee’s entitlement to indemnification, including providing to such person, persons or entity upon reasonable
advance request any documentation or information which is not privileged or otherwise protected from disclosure and which is reasonably available to
Indemnitee and reasonably necessary or appropriate to such determination in the discretion of the Board of Directors or Independent Counsel if retained
pursuant to clause (ii)(B) of this Section 10(b). Any Expenses incurred by Indemnitee in so cooperating with the person, persons or entity making such
determination shall be borne by the Company (irrespective of the determination as to Indemnitee’s entitlement to indemnification) and the Company shall
indemnify and hold Indemnitee harmless therefrom.

(c) The Company shall pay the reasonable fees and expenses of Independent Counsel, if one is appointed.

Section 11. Presumptions and Effect of Certain Proceedings.

(a) In making any determination with respect to entitlement to indemnification hereunder, the person or persons or entity making such determination
shall presume that Indemnitee is entitled to indemnification under this Agreement if Indemnitee has submitted a request for indemnification in accordance
with Section 10(a) of this Agreement, and the Company shall have the burden of overcoming that presumption in connection with the making of any
determination contrary to that presumption.

(b) The termination of any Proceeding or of any claim, issue or matter therein, by judgment, order or, settlement does not create a presumption that
Indemnitee did not meet the requisite standard of conduct described herein for indemnification, but the termination of any Proceeding or of any claim, issue
or matter therein, by conviction, upon a plea of nolo contendere or its equivalent, or entry of an order of probation prior to judgment, creates a rebuttable
presumption that Indemnitee did not meet the requisite standard of conduct described herein for indemnification.

(c) The knowledge and/or actions, or failure to act, of any other director, officer, employee or agent of the Company or any other director, trustee,
officer, partner, manager, managing member, fiduciary, employee or agent of any other foreign or domestic corporation, partnership, limited liability
company, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise shall not be imputed to Indemnitee for purposes of determining any other right to
indemnification under this Agreement.
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(d) If Independent Counsel is engaged to make a determination regarding advance of Expenses in accordance with Section 8, there shall be a
rebuttable presumption by Independent Counsel that Indemnitee did not engage in Disabling Conduct if Indemnitee shall be a Disinterested Director, or
such other person who may be entitled to such a rebuttable presumption under Section 17(h) of the 1940 Act and judicial interpretations thereof, or
interpretations thereof by the Securities and Exchange Commission or its Staff.

Section 12. Remedies of Indemnitee.

(a) If (i) a determination is made pursuant to Section 10(b) of this Agreement that Indemnitee is not entitled to indemnification under this Agreement,
(ii) advance of Expenses is not timely made pursuant to Sections 8 or 9 of this Agreement, (iii) no determination of entitlement to indemnification shall
have been made pursuant to Section 10(b) of this Agreement within 45 days (as may be extended pursuant to Section 12(b)) after receipt by the Company
of the request for indemnification, (iv) payment of indemnification is not made pursuant to Sections 7 or 9 of this Agreement within ten days after receipt
by the Company of a written request therefor, or (v) payment of indemnification pursuant to any other section of this Agreement, the charter or Bylaws of
the Company, or other source of indemnification, is not made within ten days after a determination has been made that Indemnitee is entitled to
indemnification, Indemnitee shall be entitled to an adjudication in an appropriate court located in the State of Maryland, or in any other court of competent
jurisdiction, or in an arbitration conducted by a single arbitrator pursuant to the Commercial Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration Association, of
Indemnitee’s entitlement to indemnification or advance of Expenses. Indemnitee shall commence a proceeding seeking an adjudication or an award in
arbitration within 180 days following the date on which Indemnitee first has the right to commence such proceeding pursuant to this Section 12(a);
provided, however, that the foregoing clause shall not apply to a proceeding brought by Indemnitee to enforce Indemnitee’s rights under Section 7 of this
Agreement. Except as set forth herein, the provisions of Maryland law (without regard to its conflicts of laws rules) shall apply to any such arbitration. The
Company shall not oppose Indemnitee’s right to seek any such adjudication or award in arbitration.

(b) If the person or entity making the determination whether Indemnitee is entitled to indemnification shall not have made a determination within 45
days after receipt by an officer of the Company of the request therefor, the requisite determination of entitlement to indemnification shall be deemed to
have been made and Indemnitee shall be entitled to commence a proceeding to enforce Indemnitee’s entitlement to indemnification, absent: (i) a
misstatement by Indemnitee of a material fact, or an omission of a material fact necessary to make Indemnitee’s statement not materially misleading, in
connection with the request for indemnification, or (ii) a prohibition of such indemnification under applicable law. Such 45-day period may be extended for
a reasonable time, not to exceed an additional 15 days, if the person or entity making said determination in good faith requires additional time for the
obtaining or evaluating of documentation and/or information relating thereto. The foregoing provisions of this Section 12(b) shall not apply if the
determination of entitlement to indemnification is to be made: (i) by the stockholders and if within 15 days after receipt by the Company of the request for
such
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determination a majority of the entire Board of Directors resolves to submit such determination to the stockholders for consideration at an annual or special
meeting thereof to be held within 75 days after such receipt and such determination is made at such meeting, or (ii) by Independent Counsel pursuant to
Section 10(b) of this Agreement. Indemnitee shall commence a proceeding seeking an adjudication or an award in arbitration to compel payment pursuant
to this Section 12(b) within 180 days following the date on which Indemnitee first has the right to commence such proceeding pursuant to this
Section 12(b); provided further that failure to commence a proceeding within such 180 day period shall not be deemed a waiver of any right of Indemnitee
hereunder unless it is established in the proceeding that the Company was materially prejudiced thereby.

(c) In any judicial proceeding or arbitration commenced pursuant to this Section 12, Indemnitee shall be presumed to be entitled to indemnification
or advance of Expenses, as the case may be, under this Agreement and the Company shall have the burden of proving that Indemnitee is not entitled to
indemnification or advance of Expenses, as the case may be. If Indemnitee commences a judicial proceeding or arbitration pursuant to this Section 12,
Indemnitee shall not be required to reimburse the Company for any advances pursuant to Section 8 of this Agreement until a final determination is made
with respect to Indemnitee’s entitlement to indemnification (as to which all rights of appeal have been exhausted or lapsed). The Company shall, to the
maximum extent not prohibited by law, be precluded from asserting in any judicial proceeding or arbitration commenced pursuant to this Section 12 that
the procedures and presumptions of this Agreement are not valid, binding and enforceable and shall stipulate in any such court or before any such arbitrator
that the Company is bound by all of the provisions of this Agreement.

(d) If a determination shall have been made pursuant to Section 10(b) of this Agreement that Indemnitee is entitled to indemnification, the Company
shall be bound by such determination in any judicial proceeding or arbitration commenced pursuant to this Section 12, absent a misstatement by Indemnitee
of a material fact, or an omission of a material fact necessary to make Indemnitee’s statement not materially misleading, in connection with the request for
indemnification that was not disclosed in connection with the determination.

(e) In the event that Indemnitee is successful in seeking, pursuant to this Section 12, a judicial adjudication of or an award in arbitration to enforce
Indemnitee’s rights under, or to recover damages for breach of, this Agreement, Indemnitee shall be entitled to recover from the Company, and shall be
indemnified by the Company for, any and all Expenses actually and reasonably incurred by Indemnitee in such judicial adjudication or arbitration. If it shall
be determined in such judicial adjudication or arbitration that Indemnitee is entitled to receive part but not all of the indemnification or advance of
Expenses sought, the Expenses incurred by Indemnitee in connection with such judicial adjudication or arbitration shall be appropriately prorated.

(f) Interest shall be paid by the Company to Indemnitee at the maximum rate allowed to be charged for judgments under the Courts and Judicial
Proceedings Article of the Annotated Code of Maryland for amounts which the Company pays or is obligated to pay for the period (i) commencing with
either the tenth day after the date on which the Company was requested to advance Expenses in accordance with Sections 8 or 9 of this Agreement or the
60th day after the date on which the Company was requested to make the determination of entitlement to indemnification under Section 10(b) of this
Agreement, as applicable, and (ii) ending on the date such payment is made to Indemnitee by the Company.
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Section 13. Defense of the Underlying Proceeding.

(a) Indemnitee shall notify the Company promptly in writing upon being served with any summons, citation, subpoena, complaint, indictment,
request or other document relating to any Proceeding which may result in the right to indemnification or the advance of Expenses hereunder and shall
include with such notice a description of the nature of the Proceeding and a summary of the facts underlying the Proceeding. The failure to give any such
notice shall not disqualify Indemnitee from the right, or otherwise affect in any manner any right of Indemnitee, to indemnification or the advance of
Expenses under this Agreement unless the Company’s ability to defend in such Proceeding or to obtain proceeds under any insurance policy is materially
and adversely prejudiced thereby, and then only to the extent the Company is thereby actually so prejudiced.

(b) Subject to the provisions of the last sentence of this Section 13(b) and of Section 13(c) below, the Company shall have the right to defend
Indemnitee in any Proceeding to which Indemnitee is a party by reason of Indemnitee’s Corporate Status, which may give rise to indemnification
hereunder; provided, however, that the Company shall notify Indemnitee of any such decision to defend within 15 days following receipt of notice of any
such Proceeding under Section 13(a) above. The Company shall not, without the prior written consent of Indemnitee, which shall not be unreasonably
withheld or delayed, consent to the entry of any judgment against Indemnitee or enter into any settlement or compromise which (i) includes an admission
of fault of Indemnitee, (ii) does not include, as an unconditional term thereof, the full release of Indemnitee from all liability in respect of such Proceeding,
which release shall be in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Indemnitee, or (iii) would impose any Expense, judgment, fine, penalty or limitation
on Indemnitee. This Section 13(b) shall not apply to a Proceeding brought by Indemnitee under Section 12 of this Agreement.

(c) Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 13(b) above, if in a Proceeding to which Indemnitee is a party by reason of Indemnitee’s Corporate
Status, (i) Indemnitee reasonably concludes, based upon an opinion of counsel approved by the Company, which approval shall not be unreasonably
withheld or delayed, that Indemnitee may have separate defenses or counterclaims to assert with respect to any issue which may not be consistent with
other defendants in such Proceeding, (ii) Indemnitee reasonably concludes, based upon an opinion of counsel approved by the Company, which approval
shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed, that an actual or apparent conflict of interest or potential conflict of interest exists between Indemnitee and
the Company, (iii) if the Company fails to assume the defense of such Proceeding in a timely manner, or (iv) the proceeding seeks penalties or other relief
against Indemnitee with respect to which the Company could not provide monetary indemnification to Indemnitee (such as injunctive relief or
incarceration) Indemnitee shall be entitled to be represented by separate legal counsel of Indemnitee’s choice, subject to the prior approval of the Company,
which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed, at the expense of the Company. In addition, if the Company fails to comply with any of its
obligations under this Agreement or in the event that the Company or any other person takes any action to declare this Agreement void or unenforceable, or
institutes any Proceeding to deny or to recover from Indemnitee the benefits intended to be provided to Indemnitee hereunder, Indemnitee shall have the
right to retain counsel of Indemnitee’s choice, subject to the prior approval of the Company, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed,
at the expense of the Company (subject to Section 12(d) of this Agreement), to represent Indemnitee in connection with any such matter.
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Section 14. Non-Exclusivity; Survival of Rights; Subrogation.

(a) The rights of indemnification and advance of Expenses as provided by this Agreement shall not be deemed exclusive of any other rights to which
Indemnitee may at any time be entitled under applicable law, the charter or Bylaws of the Company, any agreement or a resolution of the stockholders
entitled to vote generally in the election of directors or of the Board of Directors, or otherwise. Unless consented to in writing by Indemnitee, no
amendment, alteration or repeal of the charter or Bylaws of the Company, this Agreement or of any provision hereof shall limit or restrict any right of
Indemnitee under this Agreement in respect of any action taken or omitted by such Indemnitee in Indemnitee’s Corporate Status prior to such amendment,
alteration or repeal, regardless of whether a claim with respect to such action or inaction is raised prior or subsequent to such amendment, alteration or
repeal. No right or remedy herein conferred is intended to be exclusive of any other right or remedy, and every other right or remedy shall be cumulative
and in addition to every other right or remedy given hereunder or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or otherwise. The assertion of any right or
remedy hereunder, or otherwise, shall not prohibit the concurrent assertion or employment of any other right or remedy.

(b) In the event of any payment under this Agreement, the Company shall be subrogated to the extent of such payment to all of the rights of recovery
of Indemnitee, who shall execute all papers required and take all action necessary to secure such rights, including execution of such documents as are
necessary to enable the Company to bring suit to enforce such rights.

Section 15. Insurance.

(a) The Company will use its reasonable best efforts to acquire directors and officers liability insurance, on terms and conditions deemed appropriate
by the Board of Directors, with the advice of counsel, covering Indemnitee or any claim made against Indemnitee by reason of Indemnitee’s Corporate
Status and covering the Company for any indemnification or advance of Expenses made by the Company to Indemnitee for any claims made against
Indemnitee by reason of Indemnitee’s Corporate Status. In the event of a Change in Control, the Company shall maintain in force any and all directors and
officers liability insurance policies that were maintained by the Company immediately prior to the Change in Control for a period of six years with the
insurance carrier or carriers and through the insurance broker in place at the time of the Change in Control; provided, however, (i) if the carriers will not
offer the same policy and an expiring policy needs to be replaced, a policy substantially comparable in scope and amount shall be obtained and (ii) if any
replacement insurance carrier is necessary to obtain a policy substantially comparable in scope and amount, such insurance carrier shall have an AM Best
rating that is the same or better than the AM Best rating of the existing insurance carrier;
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provided, further, however, in no event shall the Company be required to expend in the aggregate in excess of 300% of the annual premium or premiums
paid by the Company for directors and officers liability insurance in effect on the date of the Change in Control. In the event that 300% of the annual
premium paid by the Company for such existing directors and officers liability insurance is insufficient for such coverage, the Company shall spend up to
that amount to purchase such lesser coverage as may be obtained with such amount.

(b) Without in any way limiting any other obligation under this Agreement, the Company shall indemnify Indemnitee for any payment by Indemnitee
which would otherwise be indemnifiable hereunder arising out of the amount of any deductible or retention and the amount of any excess of the aggregate
of all judgments, penalties, fines, liabilities, settlements and Expenses incurred by Indemnitee in connection with a Proceeding over the coverage of any
insurance referred to in Section 15(a). The purchase, establishment and maintenance of any such insurance shall not in any way limit or affect the rights or
obligations of the Company or Indemnitee under this Agreement except as expressly provided herein, and the execution and delivery of this Agreement by
the Company and Indemnitee shall not in any way limit or affect the rights or obligations of the Company under any such insurance policies. If, at the time
the Company receives notice from any source of a Proceeding to which Indemnitee is a party or a participant (as a witness or otherwise) the Company has
director and officer liability insurance in effect, the Company shall give prompt notice of such Proceeding to the insurers in accordance with the procedures
set forth in the respective policies.

(c) Indemnitee shall cooperate with the Company or any insurance carrier of the Company with respect to any Proceeding.

Section 16. Coordination of Payments. The Company shall not be liable under this Agreement to make any payment of amounts otherwise
indemnifiable or payable or reimbursable as Expenses hereunder if and to the extent that Indemnitee has otherwise actually received such payment under
any insurance policy, contract, agreement or otherwise.

Section 17. Contribution. If the indemnification provided in this Agreement is unavailable in whole or in part and may not be paid to Indemnitee for
any reason, other than for failure to satisfy the standard of conduct set forth in Section 4 or due to the provisions of Section 5, then, in respect to any
Proceeding to which Indemnitee is a party by reason of Indemnitee’s Corporate Status in which the Company is jointly liable with Indemnitee (or would be
if joined in such Proceeding), to the maximum extent permissible under applicable law, the Company, in lieu of indemnifying and holding harmless
Indemnitee, shall pay, in the first instance, the entire amount incurred by Indemnitee, whether for Expenses, judgments, penalties, and/or amounts paid or to
be paid in settlement, in connection with any Proceeding without requiring Indemnitee to contribute to such payment, and the Company hereby waives and
relinquishes any right of contribution it may have at any time against Indemnitee.

Section 18. Reports to Stockholders. To the extent required by the MGCL, the Company shall report in writing to its stockholders the payment of any
amounts for indemnification of, or advance of Expenses to, Indemnitee under this Agreement arising out of a Proceeding by or in the right of the Company
with the notice of the meeting of stockholders of the Company next following the date of the payment of any such indemnification or advance of Expenses
or prior to such meeting.
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Section 19. Duration of Agreement; Binding Effect.

(a) This Agreement shall continue until and terminate on the later of (i) the date that Indemnitee shall have ceased to serve as a director, officer,
employee or agent of the Company or as a director, trustee, officer, partner, manager, managing member, fiduciary, employee or agent of any other foreign
or domestic corporation, real estate investment trust, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise
that such person is or was serving in such capacity at the request of the Company and (ii) the date that Indemnitee is no longer subject to any actual or
possible Proceeding, to which Indemnitee is a party by reason of Indemnitee’s Corporate Status (including any rights of appeal thereto and any Proceeding
commenced by Indemnitee pursuant to Section 12 of this Agreement).

(b) The indemnification and advance of Expenses provided by, or granted pursuant to, this Agreement shall be binding upon and be enforceable by
the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns (including any direct or indirect successor by purchase, merger, consolidation or otherwise to
all or substantially all of the business or assets of the Company), shall continue as to an Indemnitee who has ceased to be a director, officer, employee or
agent of the Company or a director, trustee, officer, partner, manager, managing member, fiduciary, employee or agent of any other foreign or domestic
corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise that such person is or was serving in such
capacity at the request of the Company, and shall inure to the benefit of Indemnitee and Indemnitee’s spouse, assigns, heirs, devisees, executors and
administrators and other legal representatives.

(c) The Company shall require and cause any successor (whether direct or indirect by purchase, merger, consolidation or otherwise) to all,
substantially all or a substantial part, of the business and/or assets of the Company, by written agreement in form and substance satisfactory to Indemnitee,
expressly to assume and agree to perform this Agreement in the same manner and to the same extent that the Company would be required to perform if no
such succession had taken place.

(d) The Company and Indemnitee agree that a monetary remedy for breach of this Agreement, at some later date, may be inadequate, impracticable
and difficult of proof, and further agree that such breach may cause Indemnitee irreparable harm. Accordingly, the parties hereto agree that Indemnitee may
enforce this Agreement by seeking injunctive relief and/or specific performance hereof, without any necessity of showing actual damage or irreparable
harm and that by seeking injunctive relief and/or specific performance, Indemnitee shall not be precluded from seeking or obtaining any other relief to
which Indemnitee may be entitled. Indemnitee shall further be entitled to such specific performance and injunctive relief, including temporary restraining
orders, preliminary injunctions and permanent injunctions, without the necessity of posting bonds or other undertakings in connection therewith. The
Company acknowledges that, in the absence of a waiver, a bond or undertaking may be required of Indemnitee by a court, and the Company hereby waives
any such requirement of such a bond or undertaking.
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Section 20. Severability. If any provision or provisions of this Agreement shall be held to be invalid, void, illegal or otherwise unenforceable for any
reason whatsoever: (a) the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Agreement (including, without limitation, each portion of
any Section, paragraph or sentence of this Agreement containing any such provision held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable that is not itself invalid,
illegal or unenforceable) shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby and shall remain enforceable to the maximum extent permitted by law;
(b) such provision or provisions shall be deemed reformed to the extent necessary to conform to applicable law and to give the maximum effect to the
intent of the parties hereto; and (c) to the maximum extent possible, the provisions of this Agreement (including, without limitation, each portion of any
Section, paragraph or sentence of this Agreement containing any such provision held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, that is not itself invalid, illegal
or unenforceable) shall be construed so as to give effect to the intent manifested thereby.

Section 21. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, (delivery of which may be by facsimile, or via e-mail as a
portable document format (.pdf) or other electronic format), each of which will be deemed to be an original and it will not be necessary in making proof of
this Agreement or the terms of this Agreement to produce or account for more than one such counterpart. One such counterpart signed by the party against
whom enforceability is sought shall be sufficient to evidence the existence of this Agreement.

Section 22. Headings. The headings of the paragraphs of this Agreement are inserted for convenience only and shall not be deemed to constitute part
of this Agreement or to affect the construction thereof.

Section 23. Modification and Waiver. No supplement, modification or amendment of this Agreement shall be binding unless executed in writing by
both of the parties hereto. No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed or shall constitute a waiver of any other provisions hereof
(whether or not similar) nor, unless otherwise expressly stated, shall such waiver constitute a continuing waiver.

Section 24. Notices. All notices, requests, demands and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly
given if (i) delivered by hand and receipted for by the party to whom said notice or other communication shall have been directed, on the day of such
delivery, or (ii) mailed by certified or registered mail with postage prepaid, on the third business day after the date on which it is so mailed:
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(a) If to Indemnitee, to the address set forth on the signature page hereto.

(b) If to the Company, to:

Logan Ridge Finance Corporation
650 Madison Avenue
New York, New York 10022

or to such other address as may have been furnished in writing to Indemnitee by the Company or to the Company by Indemnitee, as the case may be.

Section 25. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed and enforced in accordance with, the laws of the State of Maryland,
without regard to its conflicts of laws rules.

Section 26. No Assignments. Indemnitee may not assign his, her or its rights or delegate his, her or its obligations under this Agreement without the
prior written consent of the oCompany. Any assignment or delegation in violation of this Section 26 shall be null and void.

Section 27. No Third Party Rights. Nothing expressed or referred to in this Agreement will be construed to give any person other than the parties to
this Agreement any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or with respect to this Agreement or any provision of this Agreement. This Agreement
and all of its provisions are for the sole and exclusive benefit of the parties to this Agreement and their successors and permitted assigns.

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Indemnification Agreement as of the day and year first above written.
 

COMPANY:

Logan Ridge Finance Corporation

By:           
Name:
Title:

INDEMNITEE

 
Name:
Address:
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EXHIBIT A

AFFIRMATION AND UNDERTAKING TO REPAY EXPENSES ADVANCED

To: The Board of Directors of Logan Ridge Finance Corporation

Re: Affirmation and Undertaking

Ladies and Gentlemen:

This Affirmation and Undertaking is being provided pursuant to that certain Indemnification Agreement dated the _____ day of ______________,
20____, by and between Logan Ridge Finance Corporation, a Maryland corporation (the “Company”), and the undersigned Indemnitee (the
“Indemnification Agreement”), pursuant to which I am entitled to advance of Expenses in connection with [Description of Proceeding] (the
“Proceeding”).

Terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall have the meanings specified in the Indemnification Agreement.

I am subject to the Proceeding by reason of my Corporate Status or by reason of alleged actions or omissions by me in such capacity. I hereby affirm
my good faith belief that at all times, insofar as I was involved as [a director] [and] [an officer] of the Company, in any of the facts or events giving rise
to the Proceeding, I (1) did not act with bad faith or active or deliberate dishonesty, and did not engage in Disabling Conduct, (2) did not receive any
improper personal benefit in money, property or services and (3) in the case of any criminal proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe that any act or
omission by me was unlawful.

In consideration of the advance of Expenses by the Company for reasonable attorneys’ fees and related Expenses incurred by me in connection with
the Proceeding (the “Advanced Expenses”), I hereby agree that if, in connection with the Proceeding, it is established that (1) an act or omission by me was
material to the matter giving rise to the Proceeding and (a) was committed in bad faith or (b) was the result of active and deliberate dishonesty or Disabling
Conduct or (2) I actually received an improper personal benefit in money, property or services or (3) in the case of any criminal proceeding, I had
reasonable cause to believe that the act or omission was unlawful, then I shall promptly reimburse the portion of the Advanced Expenses relating to the
claims, issues or matters in the Proceeding as to which the foregoing findings have been established.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have executed this Affirmation and Undertaking on this ___ day of ____________________, 20____.
 

Name:                                                          



Exhibit l.1

December 20, 2021

Logan Ridge Finance Corporation
650 Madison Avenue, 23rd Floor
New York, New York 10022

Ladies and Gentlemen:

We have acted as counsel to Logan Ridge Finance Corporation, a Maryland corporation (the “Company”), in connection with the Registration
Statement on Form N-2 (the “Registration Statement”) filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Commission”) under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, relating to (i) shares of common stock of the Company $0.001 par value per share (the “Common Stock”); (ii) shares
of preferred stock of the Company $0.001 par value per share (the “Preferred Stock”); (iii) debt securities, which may be either senior (the “Senior Debt
Securities”) or subordinated (the “Subordinated Debt Securities”) (collectively, the “Debt Securities”); (iv) warrants to purchase Common Stock, Preferred
Stock or Debt Securities (the “Warrants”); and (v) subscription rights to purchase Common Stock, Preferred Stock or Debt Securities (the “Subscription
Rights”). The Common Stock, the Preferred Stock, the Debt Securities, the Warrants, and the Subscription Rights are hereinafter referred to collectively as
the “Securities.” The Securities may be issued and sold or delivered from time to time for an aggregate offering price not to exceed $500,000,000.

The Debt Securities will be issued under an Indenture (the “Indenture”) dated as of June 16, 2014 between the Company and U.S. Bank National
Association, as trustee (the “Trustee”).

The Warrants will be issued pursuant to one or more Warrant Agreements (each, a “Warrant Agreement”) between the Company and a warrant agent
named therein.

The Subscription Rights will be issued pursuant to one or more Subscription Rights Agreements (each, a “Rights Agreement”) between the Company
and a rights agent named therein.

The Indenture, the Warrant Agreements, and the Rights Agreements are hereinafter referred to collectively as the “Securities Agreements.”

We have examined the Registration Statement and the Indenture, which is an exhibit to the Registration Statement. In addition, we have examined,
and have relied as to matters of fact upon, originals, or duplicates or certified or conformed copies, of such records, agreements, documents and other
instruments and such certificates or comparable documents of public officials and of officers and representatives of the Company and have made such other
investigations as we have deemed relevant and necessary in connection with the opinions hereinafter set forth.
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In rendering the opinions set forth below, we have assumed the genuineness of all signatures, the legal capacity of natural persons, the authenticity of
all documents submitted to us as originals, the conformity to original documents of all documents submitted to us as duplicates or certified or conformed
copies, and the authenticity of the originals of such latter documents. We also have assumed that, at the time of execution, authentication, issuance and
delivery of any of the Securities, the applicable Securities Agreement will be the valid and legally binding obligation of each party thereto other than the
Company.

In rendering the opinions set forth below, we have assumed further that, at the time of execution, authentication, issuance and delivery, as applicable,
of each of the applicable Securities Agreements (other than the Indenture) and Securities, (1) the Company will be validly existing and in good standing
under the law of the jurisdiction in which it is organized and such Securities Agreement will have been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the
Company in accordance with its organizational documents and the law of the jurisdiction in which it is organized, (2) the execution, delivery, issuance and
performance, as applicable, by the Company of such Securities Agreement and such Securities will not constitute a breach or violation of its organizational
documents or violate the law of the jurisdiction in which it is organized or any other jurisdiction (except that no such assumption is made with respect to
the law of the State of New York, assuming there shall not have been any change in such laws affecting the validity or enforceability of such Securities
Agreement and such Securities) and (3) the execution, delivery, issuance and performance, as applicable, by the Company of such Securities Agreement
and such Securities (a) will not constitute a breach or default under any agreement or instrument which is binding upon the Company and (b) will comply
with all applicable regulatory requirements.

In rendering the opinions set forth below, we have assumed further that (1) the Company is validly existing and in good standing under the law of the
jurisdiction in which it is organized and has duly authorized, executed and delivered the Indenture in accordance with its organizational documents and the
law of the jurisdiction in which it is organized, (2) the execution, delivery and performance by the Company of the Indenture does not constitute a breach or
violation of its organizational documents or violate the law of the jurisdiction in which it is organized or any other jurisdiction (except that no such
assumption is made with respect to the law of the State of New York) and (3) the execution, delivery and performance by the Company of the Indenture
(a) does not constitute a breach or default under any agreement or instrument which is binding upon the Company and (b) complies with all applicable
regulatory requirements.

Based upon the foregoing, and subject to the qualifications, assumptions and limitations stated herein, we are of the opinion that:

1. With respect to the Debt Securities, assuming (a) the taking of all necessary corporate action by the Board of Directors of the Company or
duly authorized officers of the Company (such Board of Directors or authorized officers being referred to herein as the “Company Authorizing
Party”) to authorize and approve the issuance and terms of any Debt Securities and the terms of the offering thereof so as not to violate any
applicable law or agreement or instrument then binding on the Company, and (b) the due execution,
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authentication, issuance and delivery of such Debt Securities, upon payment therefor in accordance with the applicable definitive underwriting,
purchase or similar agreement approved by the Company Authorizing Party and otherwise in accordance with the provisions of such agreement and
the applicable Indenture, such Debt Securities will constitute valid and legally binding obligations of the Company enforceable against the Company
in accordance with their terms.

2. With respect to the Warrants, assuming (a) the taking of all necessary corporate action by the Board of Directors of the Company to
authorize and approve the issuance and terms of any Warrants and the terms of the offering thereof so as not to violate any applicable law or
agreement or instrument then binding on the Company and (b) the due execution, countersignature, issuance and delivery of such Warrants, upon
payment therefor in accordance with the applicable definitive underwriting, purchase or similar agreement approved by the Board of Directors of the
Company and otherwise in accordance with the provisions of such agreement and the applicable definitive Warrant Agreement, such Warrants will
constitute valid and legally binding obligations of the Company enforceable against the Company in accordance with their terms.

3. With respect to the Subscription Rights, assuming (a) the taking of all necessary corporate action by the Board of Directors of the Company
to authorize and approve the issuance and terms of any Subscription Rights and the terms of the offering thereof so as not to violate any applicable
law or agreement or instrument then binding on the Company and (b) the due execution, countersignature, issuance and delivery of such Subscription
Rights, upon payment therefor in accordance with the applicable definitive underwriting, purchase or similar agreement approved by the Board of
Directors of the Company and otherwise in accordance with the provisions of such agreement and the applicable definitive Subscription Agreement,
such Subscription Rights will constitute valid and legally binding obligations of the Company enforceable against the Company in accordance with
their terms.

Our opinions set forth in paragraphs 1 through 3 above are subject to (i) the effects of bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent conveyance, reorganization,
moratorium and other similar laws relating to or affecting creditors’ rights generally, (ii) general equitable principles (whether considered in a proceeding in
equity or at law) and (iii) an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. In addition, we express no opinion as to the validity, legally binding effect or
enforceability of any provision of the Indenture relating to the separability of provisions of the Indenture.

In connection with the provisions of Section 1.13 of the Indenture whereby the parties submit to the jurisdiction of the courts of any New York state
or federal court sitting in The City of New York, we note the limitations of 28 U.S.C. Sections 1331 and 1332 on subject matter jurisdiction of the federal
courts. In connection with the provisions of Section 1.13 of the Indenture that relate to forum selection (including, without limitation, any waiver of any
objection to venue or any objection that a court is an inconvenient forum), we note that under N.Y.C.P.L.R. Section 510 a New York State court may have
discretion to transfer the place of trial, and under 28 U.S.C. Section 1404(a) a United States District Court has discretion to transfer an action from one
federal court to another.
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In rendering the opinions set forth in paragraphs 1 through 3 above, we have assumed that under the law of any jurisdiction in whose currency (or
whose currency is a component currency of a composite currency in which) any Securities are denominated or payable, if other than in U.S. dollars, (A) no
consent, approval, authorization qualification or order of, or filing or registration with, any governmental agency or body or court of such jurisdiction is
required for the issuance or sale of the Securities by the Company and (B) the issuance or sale of the Securities and compliance with the terms and
provisions thereof will not result in a breach or violation of any of the terms or provisions of any statute, rule, regulation or order of any governmental
agency or body or any court of such jurisdiction.

We note that (i) a New York State statute provides that, with respect to a foreign currency obligation, a New York State court shall render a judgment
or decree in such foreign currency and such judgment or decree shall be converted into currency of the United States at the rate of exchange prevailing on
the date of entry of such judgment or decree and (ii) with respect to a foreign currency obligation, a U.S. federal court sitting in New York State may award
a judgment based in whole or in part in U.S. dollars, provided that we express no opinion as to the rate of exchange that such court would apply.

We do not express any opinion herein concerning any law other than the law of the State of New York.

We hereby consent to the filing of this opinion letter as Exhibit (l)(1) to the Registration Statement and to the use of our name under the caption
“Legal Matters” in the Prospectus included in the Registration Statement.
 

Very truly yours,

/s/ Simpson Thacher & Bartlett LLP

SIMPSON THACHER & BARTLETT LLP



Exhibit l.2

LETTERHEAD OF VENABLE LLP

December 20, 2021

Logan Ridge Finance Corporation
650 Madison Avenue, 23rd Floor
New York, New York 10022
 
 Re: Registration Statement on Form N-2 (File No. 333-260208)

Ladies and Gentlemen:

We have served as Maryland counsel to Logan Ridge Finance Corporation, a Maryland corporation (the “Company”) and a business development
company under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the “1940 Act”), in connection with certain matters of Maryland law arising out of the
registration of the following securities of the Company having an aggregate offering price of up to $500,000,000 (collectively, the “Securities”): (i) shares
of common stock, $0.01 par value per share (the “Common Stock”); (ii) shares of preferred stock, $0.01 par value per share (“Preferred Stock”); (iii)
subscription rights to purchase other Securities (“Subscription Rights”); (iv) debt securities (“Debt Securities”); and (v) warrants (“Warrants”) to purchase
other Securities. The Securities are covered by the above-referenced Registration Statement, and all amendments thereto (the “Registration Statement”),
filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Commission”) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “1933 Act”).

In connection with our representation of the Company, and as a basis for the opinion hereinafter set forth, we have examined originals, or copies
certified or otherwise identified to our satisfaction, of the following documents (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Documents”):

1. The Registration Statement and the form of prospectus included therein, substantially in the form in which it was transmitted to the Commission
under the 1933 Act;

2. The charter of the Company (the “Charter”), certified by the State Department of Assessments and Taxation of Maryland (the “SDAT”);

3. The Bylaws of the Company (the “Bylaws”), certified as of the date hereof by an officer of the Company;

4. A certificate of the SDAT as to the good standing of the Company, dated as of a recent date;

5. Resolutions (the “Resolutions”) adopted by the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) relating to, among other matters, the
authorization of the filing of the Registration Statement and the issuance of the Securities, certified as of the date hereof by an officer of the Company;
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6. A certificate executed by an officer of the Company, dated as of the date hereof; and

7. Such other documents and matters as we have deemed necessary or appropriate to express the opinion set forth below, subject to the assumptions,
limitations and qualifications stated herein.

In expressing the opinion set forth below, we have assumed the following:

1. Each individual executing any of the Documents, whether on behalf of such individual or another person, is legally competent to do so.

2. Each individual executing any of the Documents on behalf of a party (other than the Company) is duly authorized to do so.

3. Each of the parties (other than the Company) executing any of the Documents has duly and validly executed and delivered each of the Documents
to which such party is a signatory, and such party’s obligations set forth therein are legal, valid and binding and are enforceable in accordance with all
stated terms.

4. All Documents submitted to us as originals are authentic. The form and content of all Documents submitted to us as unexecuted drafts do not
differ in any respect relevant to this opinion from the form and content of such Documents as executed and delivered. All Documents submitted to us as
certified or photostatic copies conform to the original documents. All signatures on all such Documents are genuine. All public records reviewed or relied
upon by us or on our behalf are true and complete. All representations, warranties, statements and information contained in the Documents are true and
complete. There has been no oral or written modification of or amendment to any of the Documents, and there has been no waiver of any provision of any
of the Documents, by action or omission of the parties or otherwise.

5. The issuance of, and certain terms of, the Securities to be issued by the Company from time to time will be authorized and approved by the Board,
or a duly authorized committee thereof, in accordance with the Maryland General Corporation Law, the Charter, the Bylaws and the Resolutions (such
approval referred to herein as the “Corporate Proceedings”).

6. Articles Supplementary creating and designating the number of shares and the terms of any class or series of Preferred Stock to be issued by the
Company will be filed with and accepted for record by the SDAT prior to the issuance of such Preferred Stock.
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7. Upon the issuance of any Securities that are Common Stock (“Common Securities”), including Common Securities which may be issued upon
conversion or exercise of any other Securities convertible into or exercisable for Common Securities, the total number of shares of Common Stock issued
and outstanding will not exceed the total number of shares of Common Stock that the Company is then authorized to issue under the Charter.

8. Upon the issuance of any Securities that are Preferred Stock (“Preferred Securities”), including Preferred Securities which may be issued upon
conversion or exercise of any other Securities convertible into or exercisable for Preferred Securities, the total number of shares of Preferred Stock issued
and outstanding, and the total number of issued and outstanding shares of the applicable class or series of Preferred Stock designated pursuant to the
Charter, will not exceed the total number of shares of Preferred Stock or the number of shares of such class or series of Preferred Stock that the Company is
then authorized to issue under the Charter.

Based upon the foregoing, and subject to the assumptions, limitations and qualifications stated herein, it is our opinion that:

1. The Company is a corporation duly incorporated and existing under and by virtue of the laws of the State of Maryland and is in good standing with
the SDAT.

2. Upon the completion of all Corporate Proceedings relating to Common Securities, the issuance of the Common Securities will be duly authorized
and, when and if issued and delivered against payment therefor in accordance with the Registration Statement, the Resolutions and the Corporate
Proceedings, the Common Securities will be validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable.

3. Upon the completion of all Corporate Proceedings relating to Preferred Securities, the issuance of the Preferred Securities will be duly authorized
and, when and if issued and delivered against payment therefor in accordance with the Registration Statement, the Resolutions and the Corporate
Proceedings, the Preferred Securities will be validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable.

4. Upon the completion of all Corporate Proceedings relating to Securities that are Subscription Rights, the issuance of the Subscription Rights will
be duly authorized.

5. Upon the completion of all Corporate Proceedings relating to Securities that are Debt Securities, the issuance of the Debt Securities will be duly
authorized.
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6. Upon the completion of all Corporate Proceedings relating to Securities that are Warrants, the issuance of the Warrants will be duly authorized.

The foregoing opinion is limited to the laws of the State of Maryland and we do not express any opinion herein concerning any federal law or the
laws of any other jurisdiction. We express no opinion as to the applicability or effect of the 1940 Act, or other federal securities laws, or state securities
laws, including the securities laws of the State of Maryland. To the extent that any matter as to which our opinion is expressed herein would be governed by
the laws of any jurisdiction other than the State of Maryland, we do not express any opinion on such matter.

The opinion expressed herein is limited to the matters specifically set forth herein and no other opinion shall be inferred beyond the matters expressly
stated. We assume no obligation to supplement this opinion if any applicable law changes after the date hereof or if we become aware of any fact that might
change the opinion expressed herein after the date hereof.

This opinion is being furnished to you for submission to the Commission as an exhibit to the Registration Statement. We hereby consent to the filing
of this opinion as an exhibit to the Registration Statement and the use of the name of our firm therein. In giving this consent, we do not admit that we are
within the category of persons whose consent is required by Section 7 of the 1933 Act.
 

Very truly yours,

/s/ Venable LLP



Exhibit n.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the reference to our firm under the caption “Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” in Amendment No. 1 to the Registration
Statement (Form N-2 No. 333-260208) and related Prospectus of Logan Ridge Financial Corporation (formerly known as “Capitala Finance Corp.”) for the
registration of common stock, preferred stock, subscription rights, warrants and debt securities and to the incorporation by reference therein of our report
dated March 8, 2021, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Logan Ridge Financial Corporation included in its Annual Report (Form
10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2020, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
 
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Charlotte, North Carolina
December 20, 2021
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SARBANES OXLEY CODE OF BUSINESS CONDUCT AND ETHICS

Introduction

Ethics are important to Portman Ridge Finance Corporation and Logan Ridge Finance Corporation (each, the “Company”) and to its management. The
Company is committed to the highest ethical standards and to conducting its business with the highest level of integrity. This code of business conduct and
ethics (the “Code”) has been adopted by the Company in order to establish applicable policies, guidelines, and procedures that promote ethical practices
and conduct by the Company and all its employees, officers, and directors.

All officers, directors and employees of the Company are responsible for maintaining this level of integrity and for complying with the policies contained
in this Code. If you have a question or concern about what is proper conduct for you or anyone else, please raise these concerns with any member of
management, or follow the procedures outlined in applicable sections of this Code. This code is not a substitute for the BC Partners Compliance Manual
and where there is any area of conflict, the BC Partners Compliance Manual will prevail.

Purpose of the Code

This Code is intended to:
 

 •  help you recognize ethical issues and take the appropriate steps to resolve these issues;
 

 •  deter ethical violations and avoid any abuse of position of trust and responsibility;
 

 •  maintain confidentiality of our business activities;
 

 •  assist you in complying with applicable securities laws;
 

 •  assist you in reporting any unethical or illegal conduct; and
 

 •  reaffirm and promote our commitment to a corporate culture that values honesty and accountability.

Conflicts of Interest

You must avoid any conflict, or the appearance of a conflict, between your personal interests and our interests. A conflict exists when your personal interest
in any way interferes with our interests, or when you take any action or have any interest that may make it difficult for you to perform your job objectively
and effectively. For example, a conflict of interest probably exists if:
 

 •  you cause us to enter into business relationships with you or a member of your family, or invest in companies affiliated with you or a member
of your family;

 

 •  you use any nonpublic information about us, our customers or our other business partners for your personal gain, or the gain of a member of
your family; or

 

 •  you use or communicate confidential information obtained in the course of your work for your or another’s personal benefit.

Corporate Opportunities

Each of us has a duty to advance the legitimate interests of the Company when the opportunity to do so presents itself. Therefore, you may not:
 

 •  take for yourself personally opportunities, including investment opportunities, discovered through the use of your position with us, or through
the use of our property or information;
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 •  use our property, information, or position for your personal gain or the gain of a family member; or
 

 •  compete, or prepare to compete, with us.

All business opportunities that are reasonably within the Company’s portfolio should first be brought to the attention of the Company’s management.

Confidentiality

You must not disclose confidential and/or proprietary information regarding us, our affiliates, our lenders, our clients, or our other business partners, unless
disclosure is authorized for a legitimate business purpose or required by law. Confidential information includes all non-public information that might be
harmful to, or useful to the competitors of, the Company, our affiliates, our lenders, our clients, or our other business partners. Even after you leave the
Company, this obligation continues until the information becomes publicly available.

Fair Dealing

You must endeavor to deal fairly with our customers, suppliers and business partners, or any other companies or individuals with whom we do business or
come into contact with, including fellow employees and our competitors. You must not take unfair advantage of these or other parties by means of:
 

 •  manipulation;
 

 •  concealment;
 

 •  abuse of privileged information;
 

 •  misrepresentation of material facts; or
 

 •  any other unfair-dealing practice.

Protection and Proper Use of Company Assets

Our assets are to be used only for legitimate business purposes. You should protect our assets and ensure that they are used efficiently. Incidental personal
use of telephones, fax machines, copy machines, personal computers and similar equipment is generally allowed if there is no significant added cost to us,
it does not interfere with your work duties, and is not related to an illegal activity or to any outside business.

Compliance with Applicable Laws, Rules and Regulations

Each of us has a duty to comply with all laws, rules and regulations that apply to our business. Highlighted below are some of the key compliance
guidelines that must be followed.
 

 •  Insider trading. It is against the law to buy or sell securities using material information that is not available to the public. Individuals who
give this “inside” information to others may be liable to the same extent as the individuals who trade while in possession of such
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information. You must not trade in our securities, or the securities of our affiliates, our lenders, our clients, or our other business partners
while in the possession of “inside” information. All employees are required to be familiar and comply with BC Partners Insider Trading
Policy and Procedures, available in the BC Partners Compliance Manual.

 

 

•  “Whistleblower” protections. It is against the law to discharge, demote, suspend, threaten, harass, or discriminate in any manner against an
employee who provides information or otherwise assists in investigations or proceedings relating to violations of federal securities laws or
other federal laws prohibiting fraud against shareholders. You must not discriminate in any way against an employee who engages in these
“whistleblower” activities.

 

 •  Investment Company Act requirements. A separate code of ethics has been established to comply with the Investment Company Act of
1940 and is applicable to those persons designated in such code.

 

 
•  Document Retention. You must adhere to appropriate procedures governing the retention and destruction of records consistent with

applicable laws, regulations and our policies. You may not destroy, alter or falsify any document that may be relevant to a threatened or
pending lawsuit or governmental investigation.

Please talk to any member of senior management if you have any questions about how to comply with the above regulations and other laws, rules and
regulations.

In addition, we expect you to comply with all of our policies and procedures that apply to you. We may modify or update our policies and procedures in the
future, and may adopt new policies and procedures from time to time. You are also expected to observe the terms of any confidentiality agreement,
employment agreement or other similar agreement that applies to you.

POLITICAL ACTIVITIES

Employees may participate in the civic affairs of the communities in which they live on their own time and at their own expense. When speaking on public
issues, however, employees should do so only as individual citizens of the community and must be careful not to create the impression that they are acting
for, or representing the views of the Company. Additionally, the Company and its employees are prohibited from making any contribution or giving a gift
to a state or local political candidate, official, party or organization.

Any questions regarding this policy or the application of this policy should be directed to the Chief Compliance Officer or Chief Executive Officer.

Accuracy of Company Records

We require honest and accurate recording and reporting of information in order to make responsible business decisions. This includes such data as quality,
safety, and personnel records, as well as financial records.

All financial books, records and accounts must accurately reflect transactions and events, and conform both to required accounting principles and to our
system of internal controls. No false or artificial entries may be made.
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Retaining Business Communications

The law requires us to maintain certain types of corporate records, usually for specified periods of time. Failure to retain those records for those minimum
periods could subject us to penalties and fines, cause the loss of rights, obstruct justice, place us in contempt of court, or seriously disadvantage us in
litigation.

From time to time we establish retention or destruction policies in order to ensure legal compliance. We expect you to fully comply with any published
records retention or destruction policies, provided that you should note the following exception: If you believe, or we inform you, that our records are
relevant to any litigation or governmental action, or any potential litigation or action, then you must preserve those records until we determine the records
are no longer needed. This exception supersedes any previously or subsequently established destruction policies for those records. If you believe that this
exception may apply, or have any questions regarding the possible applicability of that exception, please contact our Chief Compliance Officer.

Shareholder, Public and Media Relations

We must speak with a unified voice in all dealings with the shareholders, press and other media. As a result, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer will serve as our contact persons for shareholder, public or media seeking information about the Company. Any requests from the public,
a shareholder or the media must be referred to either our Chief Executive Officer or our Chief Financial Officer.

Intellectual Property Information

Information generated in our business is a valuable asset. Protecting this information plays an important role in our growth and ability to compete. Such
information includes business and research plans; objectives and strategies; trade secrets; unpublished financial information; salary and benefits data;
lender and other business partner lists. Employees who have access to our intellectual property information are obligated to safeguard it from unauthorized
access and:
 

 •  not disclose this information to persons outside of the Company;
 

 •  not use this information for personal benefit or the benefit of persons outside of the Company; and
 

 •  not share this information with other employees except on a legitimate “need to know” basis.

Internet and E-Mail Policy

We provide an e-mail system and Internet access to certain of our employees to help them do their work. You may use the e-mail system and the Internet
only as permitted under the Company’s IT Policies and Procedures.
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Reporting Violations and Complaint Handling

You are responsible for compliance with the rules, standards and principles described in this Code. In addition, you should be alert to possible violations of
the Code by the Company’s employees, officers and directors, and you are expected to report a violation promptly. Normally, reports should be made to
one’s immediate supervisor. Under some circumstances, it may be impractical or you may feel uncomfortable raising a matter with your supervisor. In
those instances, you are encouraged to contact our Chief Compliance Officer who will investigate and report the matter to our Chief Executive Officer
and/or Board of Directors, as the circumstance dictates. You will also be expected to cooperate in an investigation of a violation.

Anyone who has a concern about our conduct, the conduct of an officer of the Company or our accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters,
may communicate that concern to the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors by direct communication with our Chief Compliance Officer, by email or
in writing, or by using BC Partners Ethics Hotline. All reported concerns shall be forwarded to the Audit Committee and will be simultaneously addressed
by our Chief Compliance Officer in the same way that other concerns are addressed by us. The status of all outstanding concerns forwarded to the Audit
Committee will be reported on a quarterly basis by our Chief Compliance Officer. The Audit Committee may direct that certain matters be presented to the
full board and may also direct special treatment, including the retention of outside advisors or counsel, for any concern reported to it.

All reports will be investigated and whenever possible, requests for confidentiality shall be honored.And, while anonymous reports will be accepted, please
understand that anonymity may hinder or impede the investigation of a report. All cases of questionable activity or improper actions will be reviewed for
appropriate action, discipline or corrective actions. Whenever possible, we will keep confidential the identity of employees, officers or directors who are
accused of violations, unless or until it has been determined that a violation has occurred.

There will be no reprisal, retaliation or adverse action taken against any employee who, in good faith, reports or assists in the investigation of, a
violation or suspected violation, or who makes an inquiry about the appropriateness of an anticipated or actual course of action.

For reporting concerns about the Company’s conduct, the conduct of an officer of the Company, or about the Company’s accounting, internal
accounting controls or auditing matters, you may use the following means of communication:
 

 •  Report directly to the CCO
 

 •  Call the Hotline: 1-844-668-0632
 

 •  Visit the Hotline Website: bcpartners.ethicspoint.com

Sanctions for Code Violations

All violations of the Code will result in appropriate corrective action, up to and including dismissal. If the violation involves potentially criminal activity,
the individual or individuals in question will be reported, as warranted, to the appropriate authorities.
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Application/Waivers

All of our directors, officers and employees are subject to this Code. Any amendment or waiver of the Code for an executive officer or member of our
Boards of Directors must be made by our Board of Directors and disclosed on a Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within five
business days.

Revisions and Amendments

This Code may be revised, changed or amended at any time by our Board of Directors. Following any material revisions or updates, an updated version of
this Code will be distributed to you, and will supersede the prior version of this Code effective upon distribution. We may ask you to sign an
acknowledgement confirming that you have read and understood the revised version of the Code, and that you agree to comply with the provisions.

Acknowledgement

The Company will require all employees upon hire and at least annually thereafter, to acknowledge understanding of and compliance with this Code of
Ethics. The failure to read and/or complete any acknowledgment in no way relieves an employee of responsibility to comply with the Company’s Code of
Business Conduct and Ethics.
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STATEMENT OF PURPOSE AND APPLICABILITY

Portman Ridge Finance Corporation and Logan Ridge Finance Corporation (each, the “Company”) are regulated as a business development
company under the Investment Company Act of 1940 (the “Act”) and subject to Rule 17j-1 under the Act (“Rule 17j-1”). It is the Company’s policy that no
Affiliated Person shall, in connection the purchase or sale, directly or indirectly, by such Affiliated Person of any Security Held or to be Acquired by the
Company:
 

 (1) To employ any device, scheme or artifice to defraud the Company;
 

 (2) To make any untrue statement of a material fact to the Company or omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the
statements made to the Company, in light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading;

 

 (3) To engage in an act, practice, or course of business that operates or would operate as a fraud or deceit on the Company; or
 

 (4) To engage in any manipulative practice with respect to the Company.

In accordance with the Rule, the Company has adopted this Code of Ethics containing provisions it deems reasonably necessary to prevent
those of its Affiliated Persons who are Access Persons from engaging in any of such prohibited acts.

DEFINITIONS
 

 
A. “Access Person” means any officer, partner, member or Advisory Person of the Company. A board director shall be presumed to be an Access

Person of the Company unless the Designated Officer determines, after consideration of the relevant facts and circumstances, that the director
should not be considered an Access Person hereunder.

 

 B. “Advisory Person of the Company” means:
 

 

i) any director, officer, member or employee of the Company (or of any company in a Control relationship to the Company), who
in connection with his or her regular functions or duties makes, participates in, or obtains information regarding the purchase or
sale of Covered Securities by the Company, or whose functions relate to the making of any recommendation with respect to
such purchases or sales; and

 

 ii) any natural person in a Control relationship to the Company who obtains information concerning recommendations made to the
Company with regard to the purchase or sale of any Covered Security by the Company.

 

 C. “Affiliated Person” of another person means:
 

 i) any person directly or indirectly owning, controlling, or holding with power to vote, 5% or more of the outstanding voting
securities of such other person;

 

 ii) any person 5% or more of whose outstanding voting securities are directly or indirectly owned, controlled, or held with power
to vote, by such other person;

 

 iii) any person directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by, or under common control with, such other person;
 

 iv) any officer, director, partner, copartner, or employee of such other person;
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 v) if such other person is an investment company, any investment adviser thereof or any member of an advisory board thereof; and
 

 vi) if such other person is an unincorporated investment company not having a board of directors, the depositor thereof.
 

 

D. “Beneficial Ownership” means beneficial ownership determined pursuant to Rule 16a–1(a)(2) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the
“1934 Act”). Beneficial ownership includes securities held by members of a person’s immediate family (spouse, children, stepchildren,
grandchildren, parents, stepparents, grandparents, siblings, mother-in-law, father-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, brother-in-law, or
sister-in-law) that share the same household with such person. The definition of “Beneficial Ownership” is complex, and if you have any
questions as to whether you may have Beneficial Ownership with respect to any securities please contact the CCO.

 

 

E. “Control” means the power to exercise a controlling influence over the management or policies of a company, unless such power is solely the
result of an official position with such company. Any person who owns beneficially, either directly or through one or more controlled
companies, more than 25% of the voting securities of a company shall be presumed to control such company. Any person who does not so
own more than 25% of the voting securities of any company shall be presumed not to control such company. A natural person shall be
presumed not to be a controlled person. Any such presumption may be rebutted by evidence in accordance with Section 2(a)(9) of the Act.

 

 F. “Covered Security” means a Security, except that such term does not include:
 
 i) direct obligations of the Government of the United States;
 

 ii) bankers’ acceptances, bank certificates of deposit, commercial paper and high quality short-term debt instruments, including
repurchase agreements; or

 

 iii) shares issued by open-end investment companies registered under the Act
 

 
G. “Designated Officer” means the person designated from time to time by the Company to be its Chief Compliance Officer; provided, that the

Company may from time to time designate another person to act on behalf of the Designated Officer during periods when the Designated
Officer is absent or disabled, and during such periods the term “Designated Officer” shall mean such other officer.

 

 H. “Disinterested Director” means a director of the Company who is not an “interested person” of the Company within the meaning of
Section 2(a)(19) of the Act.

 

 

I. “Federal Securities Laws” means, in addition to the Act, the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, the Securities Act of 1933, the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, Title V of the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act, all rules adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”)
under the foregoing statutes, those provisions of the Bank Secrecy Act that apply to investment companies and investment advisers, and any
rules adopted under such provisions by the SEC or the Department of the Treasury.

 

 J. “Initial Public Offering” means an offering of securities registered under the Securities Act of 1933 (the “1933 Act”), the issuer of which,
immediately before the registration, was not subject to the reporting requirements of Sections 13 or 15(d) of the 1934 Act.

 

 K. “Investment Personnel” means:
 

 
i) any employee of the Company (or of any company in a Control relationship to the Company), who in connection with his or

her regular functions or duties makes or participates in making recommendations regarding the purchase or sale of securities by
the Company; and
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 ii) any natural person who Controls the Company and obtains information concerning recommendations made to the Company
with regard to the purchase or sale of securities by the Company.

 

 L. “Limited Offering” means an offering that is exempt from registration under the 1933 Act pursuant to Section 4(2) or Section 4(6) thereof or
pursuant to Rule 504, Rule 505, or Rule 506 thereunder.

 

 M. “purchase or sale of a Covered Security” includes, among other things, the writing of an option to purchase or sell a Covered Security.
 

 

N. “Security” means any note, stock, treasury stock, security future, bond, debenture, evidence of indebtedness, certificate of interest or
participation in any profit-sharing agreement, collateral-trust certificate, preorganization certificate or subscription, transferable share,
investment contract, voting-trust certificate, certificate of deposit for a security, fractional undivided interest in oil, gas, or other mineral
rights, any put, call, straddle, option, or privilege on any security (including a certificate of deposit) or on any group or index of securities
(including any interest therein or based on the value thereof), or any put, call, straddle, option, or privilege entered into on a national
securities exchange relating to foreign currency, or, in general, any interest or instrument commonly known as a “security”, or any certificate
of interest or participation in, temporary or interim certificate for, receipt for, guarantee of, or warrant or right to subscribe to or purchase, any
of the foregoing.

 

 O. “Security Held or to be Acquired by the Company” means:
 

 i) any Covered Security which, within the most recent 15 days: (A) is or has been held by the Company; or (B) is being or has
been considered by the Company for purchase by the Company; and

 

 ii) any option to purchase or sell, and any security convertible into or exchangeable for, a Covered Security described in clause
(i) above.

 

 P. “Third Party Account” means an account in which a Covered Security is held for the benefit of any individual or entity other than the
Company with respect to which an Access Person exercises investment discretion or provides investment advice.

STANDARDS OF CONDUCT

General Standards.
 

 1) No Access Person shall, in breach of any fiduciary duty he or she owes to the Company and its stockholders:
 

 a) engage, directly or indirectly, in any business investment in a manner detrimental to the Company; or
 

 b) use confidential information gained by reason of his or her employment by or affiliation with the Company in a manner
detrimental to the Company.
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 2) At the time that an Access Person recommends or authorizes the purchase or sale of a Covered Security by the Company, he or she shall
disclose to the Designated Officer:

 

 a) any Beneficial Ownership in such Covered Security that he or she has or proposes to acquire;
 

 b) any interest he or she has or proposes to acquire in any Third Party Account in which such Covered Security is held; and
 

 c) any interest in or relationship with the issuer of such Covered Security that he or she has or proposes to acquire.
 

 3) Each Access Person must conduct his or her personal securities transactions in a manner that is consistent with this Code of Ethics and that
will avoid an abuse of his or her position of trust and responsibility within the Company.

 

 4) No Access Person shall engage in any act, practice, or course of business that is in breach of the fiduciary duty of care, loyalty, honesty and
good faith that he or she owes to the Company.

 

 

5) No Access Person shall, in connection with the purchase or sale, directly or indirectly, of any Security Held or to be Acquired by the
Company, engage in any act, practice or course of business in violation of the Federal Securities Laws. Without limiting the generality of the
foregoing, note that “Insider Trading”, which is the misuse of material non-public information concerning an issuer, relates not only to the
Company but to any company. Reference is made to the Company Insider Trading Policy – Trading of Company Shares for a general
discussion of the issue. To that end, No Access Person shall (a) disclose material non-public information received or developed by the
Company concerning any issuer to any other person; disclose material non-public information otherwise received to any person; and effect
any transaction in any security or commodity on the basis of material non-public information, regardless of whether such information was
received or developed by the Company in connection with its business or otherwise.

Prohibited Transactions.
 

 
1) General Prohibition. Unless an Access Person shall have obtained prior approval from the Designated Officer, no Access Person shall

purchase or sell (or otherwise acquire or dispose of) direct or indirect Beneficial Ownership of any Covered Security if, at the time of such
transaction, such Access Person knows or should have known such Covered Security is a Security Held or to be Acquired by the Company.

If an Access Person becomes aware that the Company is considering the purchase or sale of a Covered Security, the Access Person must
promptly notify the Designated Officer of:

 

 a) any interest that he or she has in any outstanding Covered Security of the same issuer; and
 

 b) any other interest in or relationship with the issuer that he or she has or proposes to acquire.
 

 

2) Insider Trading. No Access Person may buy or sell securities (including but not limited to the Company’s stock) while in possession of
material non-public information (“inside information”). In addition, no Access Person may disclose material non-public information to
outsiders, including family members and others (tipping), who then trade in the securities or the securities the Company or of another
company on the basis of that information.
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Rule 10b5-1 under the 1934 Act may permit pre-planned trading in securities about which an individual or entity possesses inside
information. By documenting a 10b5-1 plan prior to the receipt of inside information, the Company or its Access Persons may be able to
show that trades were not made based on the inside information. A 10b5-1 plan must be established in good faith prior to the receipt of inside
information, must define specific trading parameters that will be followed consistently, and must be implemented by a third party. Neither the
Company nor any Access Person may establish or trade on a 10b5-1 plan without written pre-approval from the CCO.

 

 

3) Gifts. No Access Person may accept any gift, favor, or service from any person with whom he or she transacts business on behalf of the
Company, if to do so would conflict with the Company’s best interests or would impair the ability of such person to be completely
disinterested when required, in the course of business, to make judgments and/or recommendations on behalf of the Company. See the BC
Partners Gift and Entertainment Policy.

 

 
4) Initial Public Offerings and Limited Offerings. Investment Personnel must obtain approval from the Designated Officer before directly or

indirectly acquiring Beneficial Ownership in any Securities in an Initial Public Offering or Limited Offering. If the Designated Officer is the
person whose acquisition requires such approval, he or she may obtain such approval from the President of the Company.

PROCEDURES TO IMPLEMENT CODE OF ETHICS

The following reporting, review and record keeping procedures have been established to assist in the avoidance of a violation of this Code of Ethics
and to assist the Company in preventing, detecting, and imposing sanctions for violations of this Code of Ethics. Questions regarding these procedures
should be directed to the Designated Officer.

Reports to be Filed by Access Persons.
 

 1) Except as noted below in the Exceptions from Reporting Requirements section, each Access Person of the Company must complete, sign and
file with the Designated Officer:

 

 
a) Initial Holdings Report. Not later than 10 days after he or she becomes an Access Person of the Company: an Initial Report of

Covered Security Holdingsshall be provided to the CCO, the information provided must be current as of a date no more than 45
days prior to the date on which he or she becomes an Access Person.

 

 b) Quarterly Transaction Reports. Not later than 30 days after the end of each calendar quarter: a Quarterly Report of Covered
Security Transactions must be submitted to the CCO through the online compliance platform.

 

 

c) Annual Holdings Reports. Not later than 30 days after the end of each fiscal year of the Company: an Annual Report of
Covered Security Holdings, hedge funds and private placement positions must be submitted to the CCO through the online
compliance platform, the information provided must be current as of a date no more than 45 days prior to the date on which the
report is submitted.
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2) Account Statements. Unless otherwise permitted by the Designated Officer, each Access Person (other than Disinterested Directors) must
direct each broker, dealer, or bank at which he or she maintains an account in which securities are or were held for the direct or indirect
benefit of such Access Person, to provide to the Designated Officer duplicate account statements for each such account. Alternatively, copies
of such reports can be presented to the Designated Officer so long as there is a signed certification by the Access Person that such reports are
true, current, complete and inclusive of their Covered Security Holdings and Transactions.

 

 

3) Disclaimer of Beneficial Ownership. Any Access Person may at any time or from time to time deliver to the Designated Officer a statement
that his or her filing of any report hereunder or the delivery on his or her behalf of any duplicate account statement required hereunder shall
not be construed as an admission by such Access Person that he or she has any direct or indirect Beneficial Ownership in the Covered
Security to which such report or such duplicate account statement relates.

 

 

4) Review of Reports. The Designated Officer shall review the reports filed, and account statements delivered, under this Code of Ethics to
determine, if possible, whether any transactions disclosed therein constitute a violation of this Code of Ethics. Before making any
determination that a violation has been committed by any Access Person, the Designated Officer shall afford the Access Person an
opportunity to supply additional explanatory material.

Exceptions From Reporting Requirements.
 

 1) A person need not make a report under the Reports to be Filed by Access Persons Section with respect to a Covered Security held in, or
transactions effected for, any account over which the Access Person has no direct or indirect influence or control.

 

 2) A Disinterested Director who would be required to make a report solely by reason of being a director of the Company need not make:
 

 a) an initial holding report (Initial Holdings Report) or any annual holdings reports (Annual Holdings Report); and
 

 

b) a quarterly transaction report (Quarterly Transaction Reports) unless he or she knew or, in the ordinary course of fulfilling his
or her duties as a director, should have known that during the 15-day period immediately before or after the director’s
transaction in a Covered Security, the Company purchased or sold, or the Company considered purchasing or selling, the
Covered Security.
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3) An Access Person need not make a quarterly transaction report if the report would duplicate information contained in account statements (or

broker trade confirmations) received by the Designated Officer in the time period required, if all of the information required is contained in
the broker trade confirmations or account statements, or in the records of the Company.

 

 
4) An Access Person need not make a quarterly transaction report with respect to transactions effected pursuant to a program (such as a dividend

reinvestment plan) in which periodic purchases (or sales) are made automatically in (or from) investment accounts in accordance with a
predetermined schedule and allocation.

Obligation to Report Violations.

Every Access Person who becomes aware of a violation of this Code of Ethics must report it to the Designated Officer, who shall report it to
appropriate management personnel of the Company. The Designated Officer and the management personnel to whom a violation is reported shall treat the
report confidentially to the extent permitted by law, promptly investigate the matter, and take such disciplinary action as they consider appropriate under
the circumstances. Any form of retaliation against a person who reports a violation is prohibited and constitutes a violation of this Code of Ethics. The
Board of Directors of the Company must be notified, in a timely manner, of remedial action taken with respect to violations of the Code of Ethics. The
Company has established an Ethics Hotline, as detailed in the Company’s Whistleblower Policy.

Company Reports.

No less often than annually, the Company must furnish to the Company’s Board of Directors, and the Board of Directors must consider, a
written report that:
 

 
1) describes any issues arising under this Code of Ethics or the related procedures since the last report to the Board of Directors, including but

not limited to, information about material violations of this Code of Ethics or related procedures and sanctions imposed in response to the
material violations; and

 

 2) certifies that the Company has adopted procedures reasonably necessary to prevent Access Persons from violating this Code of Ethics.

Records.

The Company shall maintain records with respect to this Code of Ethics in the manner and to the extent set forth below, which records may
be maintained digitally under the conditions described in Rule 31a–2(f)(1) under the Act, and shall be available for examination by the SEC or any
representative of the SEC at any time and from time to time for reasonable periodic, special, or other examination:
 

 1) A copy of this Code of Ethics and any other code of ethics of the Company that is, or at any time within the past five years has been, in effect
shall be maintained in an easily accessible place;
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 2) A record of any violation of this Code of Ethics, and of any action taken as a result of such violation shall be preserved in an easily accessible
place for at least five years after the end of the fiscal year in which the violation occurs;

 

 
3) A copy of each report made by an Access Person as required by the Rule or pursuant to this Code of Ethics, including any information

provided in lieu of the reports under paragraph (d)(2)(v) of the Rule, shall be maintained for at least five years after the end of the fiscal year
in which it is made or the information is provided, the first two years in an easily accessible place;

 

 4) A record of all persons within the past five years who are or were required to make reports pursuant to paragraph (d) of the Rule or this Code
of Ethics, or who are or were responsible for reviewing those reports, shall be maintained in an easily accessible place; and

 

 
5) A record of any decision, and the reasons supporting the decision, to approve the acquisition by investment personnel of securities in an

Initial Public Offering or in a Limited Offering shall be maintained for at least five years after the end of the fiscal year in which such
acquisition is approved.

Confidentiality.

All reports, duplicate account statements and other information filed or delivered to the Designated Officer or furnished to any other person
pursuant to this Code of Ethics shall be treated as confidential, but are subject to review as provided herein, by the Company’s advisers, and by
representatives of the SEC.

SANCTIONS

Upon determination that a violation of this Code of Ethics has occurred, the appropriate management personnel of the Company may impose
such sanctions as they deem appropriate, including, among other things, a letter of censure or suspension or termination of the employment of the violator.
Violations of this Code of Ethics and any sanctions imposed with respect thereto shall be reported in a timely manner to the Board of Directors of the
Company.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF RECEIPT AND ANNUAL CERTIFICATION OF COMPLIANCE

Upon becoming an Access Person, annually thereafter, and whenever this Code of Ethics is amended, each Access Person shall sign and
deliver to the Designated Officer an acknowledgement of receipt and certification of compliance with this Code of Ethics and any amendments thereto in
the form attached hereto as Exhibit A.
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EXHIBIT A: ACKNOWLEDGEMENT AND CERTIFICATION

I acknowledge receipt of the Code of Ethics of [Portman Ridge Finance Corporation][Logan Ridge Finance Corporation] dated July 1, 2021,
as amended. I have read and understand the Code of Ethics and agree to be governed by it at all times. Further, if I have been subject to the Code of Ethics
during the preceding year, I certify that I have complied with the requirements of the Code of Ethics and have disclosed or reported all personal securities
transactions required to be disclosed or reported pursuant to the requirements of the Code of Ethics.
 

 
(signature)

 
(please print name)

 
(date)
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